	Word Count:
	08/17/10=27,817
	10/10/10=56,359
	
	
	

	06/28/10=527
	0818/10=28,331
	10/11/10=56,921
	
	
	

	06/29/10=1,053
	08/19/10=28,866
	10/12/10=57,435
	
	
	

	06/30/10=1,581
	08/20/10=29,400
	10/13/10=57,943
	
	
	

	07/01/10=2,104
	08/21/10=30,445
	10/14/10=58,466
	
	
	

	07/02/10= 2,616
	08/23/10=30,994
	10/15/10=59,013
	
	
	

	07/03/10=3,153
	08/24/10=31,507
	10/16/10=59,540
	
	
	

	07/04/10=3,691
	08/25/10=32,047
	10/17/10=60,083
	
	
	

	07/05/10=4,229
	08/27/10=33,086
	10/18/10=60,639
	
	
	

	07/06/10=4,753
	08/28/10=33,645
	10/19/10=61,166
	
	
	

	07/07/10=5,296
	08/29/10=34,166
	10/20/10=61,707
	
	
	

	07/08/10=5,833
	08/30/10=34,697
	10/24/10=62,123
	
	
	

	07/09/10=6,438
	08/31/10=35,246
	
	
	
	

	07/10/10=7,077
	09/01/10=35,754
	
	
	
	

	07/11/10=7.604
	09/02/10=36,267
	
	
	
	

	07/12/10=8,201
	09/04/10=37,304
	
	
	
	

	07/13/10=8,755
	09/05/10=38,343
	
	
	
	

	07/14/10=9,288
	09/07/10=38,877
	
	
	
	

	07/15/10=9,849
	09/08/10=39,424
	
	
	
	

	07/16/10=10,416
	09/09/10=40,000
	
	
	
	

	07/18/10=11,477
	09/10/10=40,486
	
	
	
	

	07/19/10=12,166
	09/11/10=41,519
	
	
	
	

	07/21/10=13,233
	09/13/10=42,043
	
	
	
	

	07/23/10=14,260
	09/14/10=42,568
	
	
	
	

	07/25/10=15,532
	09/15/10=43,174
	
	
	
	

	07/27/10=16,625
	09/16/10=43,725
	
	
	
	

	07/28/10=17,125
	09/17/10=44,251
	
	
	
	

	07/29/10=17,710
	09/18/10=45,315
	
	
	
	

	07/30/10=18,222
	09/20/10=45,840
	
	
	
	

	07/31/10=19,283
	09/21/10=46,371
	
	
	
	

	08/02/10=19,817
	09/22/10=46,888
	
	
	
	

	08/03/10=20,354
	09/23/10=47,419 
	
	
	
	

	08/04/10=20,857
	09/24/10=47,949
	
	
	
	

	08/05/10=21,395
	09/26/10=48,996
	
	
	
	

	08/06/10=21,907
	09/27/10=49,524
	
	
	
	

	08/07/10=22,516
	09/28/10=50,039
	
	
	
	

	08/08/10=23,054
	09/29/10=50,559
	
	
	
	

	08/09/10=23,660
	09/30/10=51,111
	
	
	
	

	08/10/10=24,180
	10/01/10=51,633
	
	
	
	

	08/11/10=24,692
	10/03/10=52,664
	
	
	
	

	08/12/10=25,213
	10/04/10=53,203
	
	
	
	

	08/13/10=25,773
	10/06/10=54,264
	
	
	
	

	08/15/10=26,797
	10/07/10=54,783
	
	
	
	

	08/16/10=27,297
	10/09/10=55,805
	
	
	
	


Night’s End

Prologue

Evil 

He'd known about the caves since childhood. They were one of the many great secrets of his life. He'd quite literally accidentally stumbled upon them. 

When he was nine years old, a very precocious nine years old, if he did say so himself, he'd accompanied his paternal grandfather to his hunting lodge, located on the bluffs high above the Mississippi River.

He'd of course been too young to do any hunting but his grandfather had trusted him enough to give him full run of the place. Usually, his ratty brother accompanied him on these trips to the lodge, but this time, his brother was at home in bed with chicken pox.

The day he'd discovered the caves had been a crisp November day, and his grandfather was out deer hunting with a group of business men. 

He'd decided to take a walk along the bluffs, something his grandfather had warned him against doing but he never listened to anything people told him to do. He'd learned to do what he wanted when he wanted but to hide his activities from others.

He'd been running and jumping among the trees that lined the bluffs, pretending he was Robin Hood in the forest. He thought Robin Hood was a fool, robbing the rich to give to the poor. When he robbed people, he kept his treasures for himself. So far, he'd only stolen trinkets from his brother and sister and money from his mother's purse. He'd never dared go near his father's wallet. Somehow that had an air of transgression he wasn't yet ready to attempt.

As he'd been running, he'd tripped over the exposed root of one of the aspen trees lining the bluffs and had tumbled down the slope leading to the bluffs. To his dismay, he'd slipped over the side and had just barely managed to get a foothold on one of the limestone outcroppings of the bluffs. He'd clung to the side of the bluff, out of breath, sweating in terror at his precarious position. As he clung there, trying to decide what to do, he saw an opening in the side of the bluff a few feet away from where he was.

Slowly and carefully, he'd edged his way along the narrow outcropping. When he reached the opening, he'd tentatively entered it, wondering what he'd find. To his surprise, he saw the glistening sides of a cave that seemed to stretch way back under the bluff. He only went in a few feet because the interior of the cave was pitch black and he didn’t have a flashlight with him. He could see that the floor of the cave was strewn with large, jagged rocks, as if there had been some sort of landslide inside the cave.

He decided to find a way back up to the top of the bluffs and then to come exploring when he could bring the necessary things, a flashlight for one. He went back out on the narrow outcropping and paused a moment to look around to get his bearings. Across the river, on the Illinois side, he could see more bluffs, along with a huge rock quarry, with trucks entering and departing. 

He carefully edged his way along the foothold and was delighted to find that the bluffs formed a steep but easily navigated pathway up to the top. When he reached the top, he stood there triumphantly, overjoyed at his successful ascent but even happier at what he'd discovered. 

Unfortunately, when he returned to his grandfather's hunting lodge, he found that the group had completed their hunting activities and were getting ready to leave. He'd begged his grandfather for the two of them to stay, but his grandfather had pressing business back in the city. 

So his exploration of the newly discovered caves would have to wait until another day. But he'd hugged his secret to himself and knew he'd never reveal the existence of his caves to anyone. 

Meggie

Meggie slammed out of her parents' home, furious at Victoria. As usual, as always, it had only taken moments for them to get into an argument.

When she arrived home, Meggie had found her mother in the sunny sitting room at the back of the Huntleigh estate, drinking coffee and reading the Sunday paper. 

Victoria had demanded to know what Meggie was doing home from the convent. Meggie had fudged with her answer, saying she'd come home because of Kate's hospitalization, because of her concern over her sister-in-law's condition.

Victoria had snorted, saying astutely, "There's no way you could have gotten permission to visit home that quickly. What's wrong? What have you done? Why have they sent you home?"

The barrage of questions and Victoria's accusatory tone had been more than Meggie could tolerate. 

"I haven't done anything, Mother! Why do you always blame me?"

"Because you're always to blame, or so it seems." Meggie thought Victoria's response was rather rote. She didn't think her mother's heart was truly in the argument. 

"All right, Mother, let me fill you in." There was steel in Meggie's voice. She had no desire to tell her long, sad story to her mother but felt she had no choice.

Victoria glared at her daughter, and tossed the newspaper on the coffee table. "All right. What is it?"

Meggie could feel her nerves jangling at her mother's tone. She sat down opposite her mother and folded her hands in her lap. She took a couple of deep breaths in an attempt to calm herself, then proceeded to dump her obsession with priestly abuse squarely in her mother's haute-couture lap.

Meggie talked steadily for half an hour, telling her mother about Nancy and Father James, then about her obsessive Internet research. She concluded with her visit to Mother Superior's office and her subsequent leave of absence, coinciding with Kate's hospitalization.

Victoria had not said a word during Meggie's brain dump. She sat staring at her daughter, stony-faced, as unyielding as always.

At her mother's silence and unresponsiveness, Meggie stood up and began to pace around the sitting room. Finally, she had halted in front of her mother and demanded, "Don't you have anything to say, Mother?"

Victoria stood, looking down at her daughter, who was three inches shorter than the 5 foot 10 inch Victoria. 

"What is there to say, Sister Margaret Mary? Obviously you're suffering the same delusions as the other muckrakers who invent abuse stories as a way of tearing down the Church. And I might add, the same delusions as your father. He's even initiated some ridiculous study committee." With that, Victoria gathered up the Sunday paper and hurried out of the sitting room.

Meggie stood there motionless for a moment, as if she couldn’t believe her mother's departure. Then she made her own departure, rushing through the house and slamming the front door behind her. The loud noise it made as it closed gave her a sense of accomplishment. No way that her mother didn't hear that.

She got into her small rental car, which was parked under the porte-cochere of the mansion's circular front driveway, looking out of place next to her mother's sleek black Mercedes sedan. She drove off without a backward glance. She was now glad she hadn't taken her suitcases in with her. There was no way she was going to stay there. She would be sorry not to see her father but she could see him away from the house. She refused to put herself through the torture of being around her mother.

As she drove toward the highway, she felt the sting of tears in her eyes. No matter how old she got or how wise she thought she was, her mother still retained the ability to hurt her. It's amazing, Meggie thought, how attached human beings are to their mothers, no matter what kind of monster that mother was. 

She wasn't sure where she was going or where she would stay and so decided to drive around for a few minutes to clear her head and calm her jangled nerves.

She went south on the highway and was surprised to see the improvements that had been made since the last time she was home and had driven this way. They'd installed sophisticated traffic management functions, including some slick roundabouts. She grinned, thinking it was just like her to get excited about roundabouts.

Fifteen minutes later, she reached the Mississippi River. She remembered that somewhere around here was a small park on the Missouri side that she had loved as a child. Her father had taken her and Nick there to teach them to fish. She'd never become much of a fisherwoman but had just enjoyed spending time with her father and favorite brother. 

She found the park easily and parked next to a wooded area. She had the park mostly to herself and felt herself relaxing as she sat at a picnic table. 

Something was niggling in the back of her mind about the park and then she remembered that it was adjacent to the hunting lodge her grandfather had owned. The lodge was still in the family but as far as she knew, no one ever used it. She supposed her father had someone who kept an eye on it but she hadn't been there since she was about 10 or 12. 

Her brother Jason had been the one enamored of the hunting lodge. She and Nick, and their father also, hadn't liked it, hadn't liked the idea of killing animals for sport. But it was a different matter altogether for Jason, who had accompanied his grandfather to the lodge whenever possible. That had been fine with Meggie and Nick. Neither of them wanted anything to do with Jason, after all the horrendous things he'd done to them. Meggie nor Nick weren't tattle-tales so their parents were mostly unaware of Jason's activities. 

Meggie had blocked out some of the things she thought he might have done to neighborhood pets and preferred to think they were unfortunate accidents. His treatment of her and Nick had been more difficult to block out. He played cruel tricks on them, stealing their treasures, breaking their favorite toys, blaming all sorts of evil deeds on them that they hadn't had anything to do with.

She looked up into the sky, enjoying the sunlight and the clouds changing shapes. Seldom did she have moments like this of complete inactivity. At the convent and in the classroom, she was constantly in motion, working on this project or that one. And for the most part, that was how she wanted to live her life. But moments of peace and quiet and stillness came infrequently. In fact, it was only during prayer times that she felt any peace in her life.

Aggravating her obsession with the cases of priestly abuse had been the uncertainty about what to do with the rest of her life. From childhood, she had loved the church and had thought she would spend her life as a bride of Christ. But her doubts and worries and concerns were now swirling around in her head, leaving her worried about next steps. Mother Superior knew some of her concerns but not all. She hadn't confided all of her thoughts to anyone but Nick.

She wondered if she would be able to find the hunting lodge if she went into the woods. That would be an interesting way to pass the time, and it might clear her head a bit of the worries she was mulling over. She could concentrate on something else for a change. 

She went back to the rental car and opened the trunk to get into one of her suitcases. She found her walking shoes and took off her loafers and put on walking shoes. The day had warmed up and she took off the jacket she'd worn to the hospital and put it on the back seat of the car. She shoved her handbag under the driver's seat and locked the car, putting the keys in her slacks pocket. Sunglasses on, walking shoes in place, she took off toward what looked like it might be  a path in the dense woods that surrounded the open area of the park.

The path turned out to be fairly overgrown but passable. The deeper she got into the woods, the darker it became. The trees formed a canopy overhead, blocking out the bright afternoon sunshine. She could hear the sounds of birds singing and some kind of insect whir, but those were the only sounds. Even the highway noise was muffled to silence by the thick growth of trees. When she'd walked for about 15 minutes, she stopped to get her bearings, looking down at the barely visible path and wondering if her exploration had been a foolish idea.

Since it was still early in the day, bright and sunny, she decided to walk just a bit further to see if she could find the hunting lodge. She was sure she should have found it by now. But perhaps her distance judgment was off, just like all of her other judgment faculties, and then berated herself mentally for such a sardonic thought.

She couldn't recall another time in her life when she'd felt so unsure of herself. She knew part of the problem was that wanted there to be someone in world who would fix this priest thing. Even the Pope, the one person she'd counted on to solve it, seemed to be floundering. She knew she had a boatload of thinking to do, and probably some tough decisions to make.

Meggie paused in her hike, thinking about her father and how much she longed to confide everything in him. She'd always been a Daddy's girl, even before Jason's near-drowning had turned Victoria into a woman obsessed with one of her children to the extent that she mostly ignored the other two. 

Fortunately, her father had more than made up to her and Nick for Victoria's neglect. As she stood there in the woods, thinking about what could have been but wasn't an unhappy childhood, she thought she heard something. She held her breath and listened again, concentrating on the direction in which she thought she'd heard the sound. Sure enough, somewhere off in the distance she heard the faint sound of music. As she listened, she thought it might be classical, Vivaldi maybe, although she couldn't be sure.

She headed in the direction of the music, sure that she was about to find the hunting lodge. She looked at her watch and was surprised to see that half an hour had passed since she'd started walking. Was it possible that she was going in a circle? Surely she should have come upon the hunting lodge by now.

As she walked, the music grew louder, and indeed it was Vivaldi, one of her favorites. She wasn't a classical music expert by any means. She just enjoyed listening to it. She'd read somewhere the theory that classical music had a positive effect on brain waves. And she thought she could attest to that. Listening to classical music soothed and relaxed her, somehow helping her feel that all was right with her world, even when it wasn't.

Walking toward the Vivaldi, she grinned, remembering how at the convent, Mother Superior was partial to Gregorian chants. The chants played faintly all day and into the evening in the building where the sisters slept and ate but fortunately the chants weren't played in the school buildings. Meggie assumed the students would have objected. As far as she knew, none of the sisters had objected to Mother Superior about the chants. By now, they'd become part of the background of the convent and Meggie figured that like her, most of the sisters paid little or no attention to them.

Meggie could see the woods getting lighter and then she was on the edge of a clearing. She stood there staring ahead of her. She could see the hunting lodge at the far side of the meadow-like clearing. It was much as she'd remembered from her childhood. The lodge was a long, low log building with a cedar shake roof, all weathered to a dark brown. One end of the lodge was taken up with a stone fireplace. She thought she could see a wisp of smoke coming from the chimney but it was difficult to tell for sure because of the bright sunlight. 

To her surprise, the front door of the lodge opened and a figure stepped out onto the wrap-around porch. Meggie eased back into the cover of the woods, slipping behind the trunk of a huge old oak tree. She didn't want whoever was on the porch to spot her.

The figure paced up and down the length of the porch, deliberate, measured steps that seemed to indicate a seriousness of purpose somewhat out of touch with the frivolity of a hunting lodge.

A few minutes later, the figure re-entered the lodge. Meggie decided to wait a bit to see what happened next. After another few minutes, she heard the sound of a car engine. Then a dark green Jaguar convertible appeared at the far end of the lodge, then drove down what looked like a winding gravel road. 

She debated with herself about her presence here and her intentions. She wanted to explore the hunting lodge but hesitated. Then, convincing herself that the lodge belonged to the Angelo family and after all, she was an Angelo, she stepped tentatively from behind the oak. She decided to stay close to the edge of the woods rather than walking across the clearing. It looked to her like the lodge backed up to another part of the woods and she be able to get closer to the house that way.

It took a few more minutes of trudging through the overgrown woods to make her way to the back of the lodge. She realized the Vivaldi had ceased playing after the figure had reentered the lodge, and assumed he or she had turned it off. 

The back of the lodge had a long deck that jutted out from several sliding glass patio doors. The deck was empty of any outdoor furniture, which surprised Meggie. The view into the woods was delightful and tables and chairs and benches would have been appropriate. 

The silence reassured her that the lodge was empty. She walked out of the woods across a small open area and up three steps onto the deck. As she stepped onto the deck, one of the boards creaked loudly, making her jump.

She went over to the first sliding door and shaded her hands against the glass, trying to see inside. But the door was covered with drapes or something. The other two doors were similarly covered. She tried to open the last door but it was firmly locked. She walked back to the second door and found it locked also. Back at the first door, she was surprised when the heavy glass moved ever so slightly at her touch.

Evil
His first girl had been a neighbor in their exclusive residential area, three years older than him. He’d been 14 and she’d been 17. Not pretty, not sexy. Just a girl. He’d watched her out walking her dog, a mean-looking German Shepherd. He hated dogs. He hated all animals.

One evening, he’d seen her walking toward the park adjacent to where they lived. It was mid summer and still light outside, even though it was almost 9 o’clock. He thought it was around the longest day of the year, whenever that was. He’d been reading about Ted Bundy and the man’s story fascinated him. He thought he finally knew what he wanted to be when he grew up.

That night, he’d slipped out of the house, unbeknownst to his family and had stealthily trailed after the girl, careful to stay far enough behind her that she wouldn’t see him. She entered the small park and strolled around the lake that was its centerpiece. It was a fairly large lake and was reportedly extremely deep in parts, so deep, in fact, that in the center of the lake, rumor had it that the bottom hadn’t been located.

He hid behind one of the huge oak trees that dotted the park and watched the girl. She unclasped the leash from her dog and let him run around loose. The dog must have caught his scent as he hid behind the tree because he headed straight for the tree. But the boy was ready for the dog. He’d come prepared. He reached out his knife and cut the dog’s throat with one vicious slash. The dog made a faint whimper before he died. 

The girl came looking for her dog, as he knew she would. He stood motionless, hidden behind the tree.

“Rex? Rex, where are you? Time to go home, boy.” The girl called wandering among the trees, looking for the dog.

As she reached the tree where he stood hidden, she must have caught sight of the dog lying sprawled on the ground. She cried out and ran to kneel beside the motionless dog. “Rex, what is it? What happened?” She must have realized he was dead, for she buried her face in his fur and called out his name.

He walked over to stand behind her. She sensed his presence and turned to look up at him. “Who are you? What are doing you here? Did you do this to my dog?”

He didn’t speak, just stared down at her, his heart racing at what he was about to do.

Evil

After the first girl, he waited years before the next one. He’d finished high school, close to the top of his class. Following graduation, he'd enrolled at Washington University, one of the best schools in St. Louis and a nationally-known university. He was offered a scholarship in engineering, even though his family was wealthy and could easily afford the yearly tuition, which at that time was in excess of $25,000. 

At his father’s request, he’d turned down the scholarship, saying his father wanted it to go to a student whose family couldn’t afford the tuition. That act had gained a positive reputation for him that he’d been careful to continue to cultivate. 

When he was a senior, just days away from graduation, he’d gone to a tavern close to the university, alone, as usual. He was a loner and had only a few acquaintances and no real or close friends. He lived at home and hadn’t joined a fraternity, in contrast to his brother.

The tavern was half full. It was a slow night because final exams were in full swing and most students were buried in textbooks or holed up at the library on campus.

He had a couple of beers and was getting ready to leave when he noticed that a new barmaid had come on duty. She was a pretty little thing, blond and blue-eyed, with a wide smile and a killer body. He settled back on the bar stool, having changed his mind about leaving. But he nursed his beer, not wanting to dull his senses for he had decided, on the spur of the moment, to do. He chatted her up and learned that her name was Missy, short for Melissa, and that she was in her second year at the community college. She was studying hotel management and hoped to get a job with one of the St. Louis hotels. Their conversation was disjointed with constant interruptions from patrons who wanted drinks or refills or just her company.

He could tell that she was interested in him, and he made his interest in her obvious. Toward the end of the evening, he’d casually asked her what she was doing after she got off work, knowing full well what her answer would be. She’d given him a flirtatious smile and had said coyly, “That depends.”

He’d chuckled at that and said he wasn’t going to ask what it depended on. He knew that, although he didn’t say it.

Finally, it was closing time and she got her purse from the back room and came back to where he still sat at the bar, waiting for her. “Ready?” she asked.

He stood up and took her by the arm and they walked out into the summer-like heat of May in St. Louis.

It was late, past 1:30 but he was energized and wide-awake. 

“Where are we going?” she asked, smiling up at him.

“I thought we could go to your place,” he said with an answering smile.

“Okay,” she said. “It’s just a couple of blocks. We can walk or..”

“Yes, let’s walk,” he said, not wanting to have her in his car. He’d parked a block away from the tavern earlier that evening. And knowing that he was on the prowl, he’d worn his glassed and a baseball cap pulled low over his head. He was fairly certain that no one could recognize him or, later, identify him. 

It gave him a great charge to think that he was going to just slip into the night, undetected, after it was over.

He’d told her his name was Ted and every time she used that name, he had to remind himself she was talking to him. He liked the idea of using Bundy’s first name. It seemed so appropriate.

Evil 
Through the years, there had been 13 young women, with Sami Wade being his most recent. He'd had his eye on Sami for two years now, right from when she first started her job at the athletic club. She was blond and cute and had a sparkly personality that attracted admirers, male and female, of all ages and interests. As they'd talked, he'd learned that she was enrolled in the hotel management course at the nearby community college. He got a charge out of that, remembering  that Missy, his second girl, had been enrolled in the same course of study at the same community college. What a small world it was.

But things hadn't proceeded speedily with Sami. She had a longtime boyfriend and seemed immune to his charms. Then, finally, his chance came. 

He'd stopped by the athletic club for a sandwich before heading to one of the casinos on the river. He'd decided to eat at the bar and to see if Sami was working that evening. She'd just come on duty and was working behind the bar because the nighttime bartender was late for work.

She'd been dressed in an extremely short, red silk cocktail dress, with matching high-heeled sandals. Sami was always a knockout but that night she'd looked particularly spectacular. However, her mood was anything but spectacular. 

No matter what he said, he was unable to elicit even the hint of a smile. Then, suddenly, with no warning and seemingly for no reason, Sami burst into tears. He sat back, unsure what to do, unsure of what he had said to done to provoke such a reaction. 

The beautiful young woman quickly got herself under control and apologized to him for her outburst. "I'm so sorry. Please forgive me. It had nothing to do with you. I broke up with my boyfriend this afternoon. I know it was the right thing to do but it broke his heart and I think it's breaking mine."

He breathed a sigh of relief, glad to know he hadn't been the cause of her tears. He'd done his sensitive solicitous thing, being understanding and encouraging her to tell him all about it. 

For a few minutes, she'd shared what had happened but then she was called away by a customer at the other end of the bar and left him hanging in the middle of the story. The next time she came back to his section of the bar, he reached out a hand and said, "Let's go somewhere and talk when you get off work."

She'd looked at him in surprise, then readily agreed. He could tell that she'd liked having someone listen to her and pay attention to her. That had been one of her ex-boyfriend's weak points. Sami said he never listened, and he never paid attention to her. So she delighted to have someone who seemed to be interested in what she had to say.
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Kate Angelo

Early Saturday Evening, October 30, 2010

Kate Angelo turned the Jeep Cherokee into the parking lot of St. Sebastian, the mental facility where she'd worked as a psychological counselor for the past five years. It was early Saturday evening, and the lot was almost deserted, with just the cars of the nursing staff and security guards who worked weekends. Few office workers and even fewer doctors worked weekends at St. Sebastian.

She pulled into a parking space close to the front entrance. She retrieved her purse and laptop from the back seat and headed toward the door. The sky was black with clouds, and she could smell rain in the air. 

As St. Sebastian's intake specialist, Kate was on-call 24/7. She'd received a page earlier and when she'd called in, was told that that a new patient would be arriving around 7 p.m. She said she'd come in to administer the battery of psychological tests that were a routine part of the admissions process. Kate had long suspected that St. Sebastian's unusual selection of mental tests had originally been established by someone working on a dissertation and then forgotten about. And so they remained a part of the unquestioned infrastructure of St. Sebastian. Periodically, Kate requested a formal review of the intake tests but so far no one in authority was paying any attention to her request. 

The castle-like exterior of St. Sebastian was lit with an arrangement of spotlights and recessed lights. According to the informal history of the facility, the lighting scheme had been one of the final embellishments s made by a Midwest beer baron’s descendants before the castle was donated to the Sisters of Immaculata, 30 years ago. The Archdiocese had run the facility as a Catholic orphanage for a decade or so, then had closed it. The building stood vacant for a few years, until the state of Missouri leased it from the Archdiocese for a state-run mental institution. The facility and its surrounding grounds were still owned by the Archdiocese with the state paying a nominal lease amount. However, the state paid the cost of upkeep and general running costs of the facility, which more than made up for the reasonable lease amount.

Kate used her electronically keyed badge to open the heavy glass front door and felt a gust of wind at her back along with a few drops of rain as she entered the hospital. She thought they might be in for quite a storm.

A uniformed guard sat behind the semi-circular desk located in the center of the two-story atrium reception area. He was tapping away at the computer keyboard and barely acknowledged her presence as she walked by. Kate said a cheery "Good evening!" and received a grunt in response. St. Sebastian outsourced its security guards, and you never knew who would be handling the main desk.

As she headed toward her office, she heard a loud clanging noise coming from down one of the hallways. She glanced over at the guard but he was engrossed in whatever he was doing on the computer and seemingly didn't hear the noise.

Then, Harry Smith, the night janitor, appeared in the reception area and gave her a chipper, "Evening, Dr. Angelo. Bad night to be out, aye?" Evidently Harry was the source of the clanging noise. He was pushing a rattling steel utility cart that had seen better days.

“Good evening, Harry. No, it’s not a good night to be out at all.” Kate gave Harry a smile and a wave of her hand and started off down the hallway that led to the intake office. As she neared the office, she heard Harry and his cart clanking down the hall after her, then heard him calling, “Dr. Angelo, Dr. Angelo.” She stopped walking and turned around to see what Harry wanted. 

Overweight and flabby, Harry was a bit out of breath from hurrying after her, and it took a moment for him to get his breath back enough to talk.

“What is it, Harry?” Kate asked. 

Harry took a deep breath and said, “The security guard asked me to tell you he just got a call from Barnes Hospital saying that the new patient you’re expecting is going to be delayed. It’ll be another couple of hours before he gets here.”

Puzzled, Kate said, “I don’t understand why he’s delayed.”

Harry hesitated, confused, then said, “I’m sorry, Dr. Angelo. That’s all the guard told me to tell you.”

Kate shook her head and said, “It’s not your fault, Harry. You’re just the messenger. I won’t shoot you.”

At his uncomprehending look, Kate realized Harry didn’t understand that she was referring to the metaphor of shooting the innocent deliverer of bad news.

“That was just a bad joke, Harry. Please don’t pay any attention to me.” She smiled and then started back down the hall to talk to the security guard. But it turned out he knew nothing more than the simple message Harry had already delivered.

Kate headed once again down the hall to the intake office. Harry was nowhere in sight, although his cart was still sitting outside her office door. Kate dug through her handbag for her office keys and unlocked the office door. Stepping inside the door, she flipped on the overhead lights. The bright office was a welcome contrast to the dimly lit hallway.

The St. Sebastian intake area consisted of three offices: the large outer office where most of the admissions evaluation tests were administered, a smaller office belonging to Kate and an observation room. One wall of the main office had a two-way mirrored wall through which people in the observation room could observe what was going on the main office but couldn’t be seen by those in the main intake room. 

Kate unlocked her office door and turned on the overhead light. She put her handbag in the bottom desk drawer, and set her laptop on the desk. She sat down in the high-backed swivel desk chair, removed the laptop from the carrying case, and turned it on. St. Sebastian had recently installed wireless functionality throughout the facility, making it easy to access the Internet anywhere in the hospital. She logged into her e-mail and found a message from the psychiatric resident at Barnes apologizing for the delay in transferring the patient and explaining that the delay was caused by lost paperwork

"Rats!" Kate swiveled around and looked out the window behind her desk. The rain was now coming down in earnest. 

"Not worth going back to Aspenhof or anywhere else," she thought. She'd received the page to come in to St. Sebastian out at Aspenhof, the gated A-frame community where she and her husband Nick spent most weekends.

She pulled her cell phone out of her jacket pocket and pressed Nick's speed dial number. He answered on the first ring with a cheery, "Yo!"

"Yo, yourself," Kate answered. "Guess what? The patient won't be here for another two hours. It's already past seven. That means I won't get back there till after midnight." Kate gave a soft groan and continued, "What a revoltin' development that is!"

Nick laughed then said, "Want me to come back to the city? I can meet you at home."

"No, I was looking forward to a long, lazy Sunday, walking on the beach, eating something sinfully unhealthy, you know the deal."

Nick laughed again, and said, "Yes, I know the deal, and I also know that your job has always been to keep me amused and sometimes even entertained."

"How am I doing?" Kate asked.

"So far, you're right on target. Do you just want me to stay put out here with the cats, and you'll get back when you get back?"

"Sounds like a plan. Speaking of the cats, how are my babies?"

"At the moment, Tucker, Taylor and I are out on the deck, enjoying the night air before the rain starts."

"You mean it isn't raining out there?" Kate asked.

"No, not yet. But it's on its way. And you know how at the first drop, the cats will be at the door wanting to go inside. What are you going to do while you're waiting for the patient to get there?" Nick asked.

"I guess I could do paper work, or I could just goof off."

"That'll be the day. Well, there's the first drop of rain. I've got to let the cats in. Give me a call when you're on your way back. I'll be up late. I'm going to do some work, even if my procrastinating wife probably won't." He blew a kiss into the phone, then hung up.

Kate sat there grinning, thinking what a great guy her Nick was. She leaned back in the chair, closed her eyes and tried to decide what she wanted to do for the next couple of hours.. 

She thought about working on a paper she was going to submit to the journal of a local psychological organization she was active in but wasn't in the mood. Writing came hard to her.  Nick was a writer by vocation and avocation. For the past five years, he'd worked at the St. Louis Post-Dispatch. For two years now, he'd been a human-interest columnist. His columns had been well-received by readers, so much so that he was in the midst of putting together a collection of the most popular columns, which would be published in the spring by the University of Missouri Press.

Still not knowing what to do with herself for the next two hours, Kate opened her eyes and leaned forward in the swivel chair and decided to check her e-mail again. This time she found a message from Haley, her partner in a counseling practice and one of her best friends since high school. Haley was married to Dave Barton, also one of their friends from high school, Haley and Dave were the parents of a six-month-old baby boy named Todd. 

Haley's e-mail was to ask Kate if she could handle one of Haley's appointments on Monday. Todd had come down with a bad cold and Haley planned to stay home with him on Monday.

Kate typed a quick reply to Haley's message, saying she'd be glad to handle the appointment, as long as it didn't conflict with one of hers. Before sending the e-mail, Kate decided to log on to the mutual calendar she and Haley kept online to check their schedules on Monday. Haley's appointment was at 10 a.m. and Kate was free then. Kate revised her e-mail to say she'd checked their calendars and was available to handle the appointment, then pressed send 

Kate and Haley had a reciprocal arrangement with their counseling clients where they could stand in for one another when necessary. That had been convenient when Haley was on maternity leave and then again, last year for Kate. Kate had been forced to take a month's medical leave of absence from St. Sebastian and her private practice. She'd been undergoing fertility treatments and had had an extremely adverse reaction to the hormone treatments. 

Feeling guilty about her avoidance of the paper she was writing, Kate decided to read through the draft of the paper she was writing. She'd just pulled it up on the laptop when she heard a tap on the door. 

"Yes? Who's there?" she called out, wondering if the patient had arrived after all. 

"It's me, Harry," came the voice on the other side of her office door. 

Wondering what the janitor could want, Kate got up and went over to the door, opening it and stepping out into the main intake office. 

Harry stood there, head down, a huge flashlight in one hand and a smaller flashlight in the other hand.

"What can I do for you, Harry?" Kate asked in a gentle voice. Harry was somewhat mentally challenged and was kind of a mascot at St. Sebastian. He'd been one of the last orphans there when it was an orphanage, and somehow he'd never completely left. The hospital had finally hired him as the night janitor, a job that seemed to suit his limited abilities.

Head still down, Harry mumbled something Kate couldn't understand.

"I'm sorry, Harry. I didn't hear what you said."

"I have a treat for you," Harry said in a louder voice.

"A treat?" Kate said in a puzzled voice. She had no idea what was up with Harry.

"Yeah, I know a wonderful secret, and I decided I want to show it to you. I've never showed it to anyone."

Kate hesitated before answering, not wanting to hurt Harry's feelings. He'd always been nice to her, and she was afraid she was going to disappoint him.

"I'm sorry, Harry, really sorry. But I have lots of work to do. So much work that I can't do anything but work."

"Oh." 

Kate thought she could hear hurt and disappointment in Harry's one word reply.

"We'll do it another time, Harry. Okay?"

For a long moment, Harry didn't respond. Then, head down again, he mumbled, "I guess." 

Slowly he turned away, and started putting the flashlights into his tool belt. Kate watched him walk toward the outer door of the intake office. His shoulders were slumped, and he walked in slow, stumbling steps. The sight of him stabbed a bit at Kate's heart. As Harry opened the office door, Kate sighed, shook her head, hesitated for a moment more, then called out, "Harry, wait."

Hand on the doorknob, Harry lifted his head, then turned around. He didn't say anything, just looked at Kate.

With another sigh, Kate asked, "How long will it take for you to show me your secret?'

"How long?" Harry said the words and seemed to be trying to understand what they meant.

"Yes," Kate answered. Will it take 5 minutes or an hour? A short time or a long time?"

Again, Harry seemed to be thinking through what a short time and a long time meant. Finally he answered, "I guess it would take a medium time. Not short and not long."

Kate grinned at his answer and said, "Well, I guess maybe I can go see your secret." She had acquiesced because she didn't have the heart to hurt this gentle man.

At her answer, Harry smiled what Kate could only call a dazzling smile. He reached into his tool belt and lifted out the smaller of the two flashlights he'd been holding earlier. He stretched out a hand toward Kate with the smaller flashlight in it and said, "Here, take this, I brought it for you. You'll need it for the surprise."

Kate reached out and took the flashlight. Harry again smiled his broad smile at her and turned around, heading toward the door. He opened the door and walked through, waiting out in the hall for Kate to do the same.

Kate reached into her jacket pocket for her office keys and locked the outer door behind her. Harry had already started off down the hall, and Kate hurried to catch up.

"Where are we going?" Kate asked.

"You'll see," Harry answered. "It's such a good surprise."

They walked in silence, and then Kate asked again where they were going. But Harry only responded, "You'll see." Evidently he wasn't going to give her as clue as to what the surprise was and where it was located.

Harry headed toward the back of the building with Kate keeping pace beside him in the dimly lit hallway. At night, the halls of St. Sebastian were lit with low-wattage bulbs, in contrast to the bright fluorescent lights of daytime.

Kate found herself in part of St. Sebastian she wasn't familiar with. It was a maintenance area with a broad door on an exterior wall that she thought was probably the facility's loading dock or shipping and receiving dock. A collection of different-sized ladders hung on hooks on one wall Stored on one sie of the area were a variety of utility carts, similar to the one Harry had been pushing when she saw him earlier. She wondered if he'd left it somewhere or if he'd put it here with the others. 

The door to a freight elevator on one of the interior walls was Harry's destination. He pressed the down button, and Kate asked, "Are we going to the basement?"

"Yes," was Harry's reply. "That's the way we get to the surprise."

Kate was beginning to have doubts about what she'd agreed to do. She reached into her jacket pocket for her cell phone, thinking she could pretend she was receiving an emergency call, only to discover that it wasn't there. She tried to remember where she'd left the phone and decided she must have laid it down on her desk when she ended the call with Nick. After years of being on call, she tried to never go anywhere without her cell phone, and it felt unsettling to be without it.. 

The freight elevator door opened with a creak. Harry held the door open and motioned for Kate to go in. As she entered the elevator, she noticed that the sides, instead of being firm walls, were padded drop cloths so that oversized equipment or furniture would fit inside. Harry pressed the button marked "B" and the door creaked shut and the elevator began a slow descent into the basement. 

"Can you give me a hint about the surprise?" Kate asked.

Harry thought for a moment, then answered. "Well, it's something I discovered when I was a boy, growing up here when St. Sebastian was an orphanage."

Kate felt a twinge at the thought of a little boy spending his childhood in this dark, unhomelike building. For a moment she felt better about accompanying Harry on his quest to show his surprise to her. She knew very little about him but felt that he probably lived a lonely life. 

They reached the basement, and Harry led them out of the elevator and down a darkish hallway toward a door on one side of the hall. He opened the door and reached in to pull the chain of an overhead light bulb. Kate could see that on the other side of the door was a stairway leading down into blackness. 

She stopped just inside the door and said, "Harry, where are we going?"

"We're almost there, I promise. It will be worth it. I'm going to show you something you've never seen before."

Harry turned on his flashlight and pointed it down the stairway. "Careful," he said. "The stairs are a little steep."

Kate turned on her flashlight also and held on tightly to the stair handrail as she followed Harry down the steps. "What is this place?"

"Years ago, this was the old power plant for the original building," Harry answered. "When they installed a new system on the other side of the building, they abandoned this one. Nobody ever comes here anymore. I'm the only one left here who knows about it."

The air smelled damp and faintly musty. St. Sebastian was situated on top of cliffs overlooking the Mississippi River, and Kate assumed the proximity to the river explained the dampness.

Feeling more than a leery about where Harry was taking her, Kate was about to tell him she was going back upstairs, when they reached the bottom of the stairs. Harry pulled open a small door, almost hidden in the corner. He stood holding the door, shining his flashlight into whatever lay beyond the door. 

"Here it is -- at least, it's the beginning of it," Harry said in a soft voice. Kate thought she detected a note of awe in his tone and wondered what that meant. 

Slowly, she walked through the door, shining her flashlight in front of her. She heard the door shut behind her but all she could think about was she saw in front of her. 

Everywhere she shone the flashlight, she saw the most magnificent. She was in the midst of a fairyland of crystal, diamond-like outcroppings. The flashlight beams bounced off what she later learned were stalactites and stalagmites. It was spectacular, and she was speechless.

"Well," said Harry. "What do you think?"

"Harry," she breathed deeply, then continued, "I can't believe this. I had no idea something like this existed underneath St. Sebastian. It's just - just -- beyond belief -- that's all I can say."

"I know," Harry said and Kate thought she could hear a smile in his voice.

"Does anyone else know about this?" Kate asked, as she walked around touching the glistening outcroppings.

"Well, no, not anymore," Harry said hesitantly. He felt bad for not telling Kate the whole truth, that there was someone else who knew. "I discovered the caves when I was a boy in the orphanage. I asked one of the older nuns who'd been there when the orphanage opened, and she told me that the family who'd donated the property to the diocese had known about the caves but it was sort of a secret. She made me swear to God that I'd never tell anyone. And I haven't until now. I just wanted you to know. You've been good to me and this is the only thing I have to give back."

Kate felt a twinge again at what she assumed was the sad loneliness of Harry's life. Could it be that he had no one and nothing other than his regard for her? Surely that couldn't be true.

"Come on, let me show you more. This place is huge. I don't know if I've even seen it all. This has been my special place for all these years. For awhile, after the orphanage closed, I even lived down here."

"What do you mean you lived down here?" Kate asked, not sure she heard Harry correctly.

"Well," Harry replied hesitantly. "when they closed the orphanage, I had just turned 18, which is the age when you have to leave. I didn't have anywhere to go and I didn't know what to do. So I took some stuff down into the caves and made a place for myself. I would come out at night so no one saw me." He paused, then continued. "I didn't have any money so I had to sort of take things so I'd something to eat."

Kate thought how awful it must have been for that 18-year-old boy, on his own, "sort of taking things." 

"I discovered another entrance, way far away, by the cliffs. So if you know the secret, you can get in the caves from outside."

"So what happened?" Kate asked, wondering how he'd managed to get by all these years.

"A while after the orphanage closed, some construction people started coming every day, doing a lot of hammering and stuff. And then the hospital opened. I'd sneak around and watch things, and then I got the idea that I could pretend to be one of the night janitors who worked here. That worked for awhile but then they caught me. But there was this nice guy in charge of the janitors and he decided to try me out with a real job. One thing I knew was that I couldn't live in the caves anymore. They'd catch me for sure and then I'd have nothing. That's when I got a room at a boarding house not too far away."

Kate didn't know what to say. In one way, it was one of the saddest stories she'd ever heard. And yet in another way, it was a story of perseverance and overcoming. Despite all his drawbacks and challenges, Harry had managed to make a life for himself, on his own.

"That's quite a story, Harry. You can be proud of what you've accomplished."

Harry mumbled a thank you that sounded embarrassed, then took off down one of the corridors of the cave and Kate followed behind, marveling at the beauty of the caves. She guessed she'd known such things as beautiful caves like this existed somewhere in the world. But here? Beneath St. Sebastian. That was just too odd to be true.

She noticed that the colors of the cave outcroppings changed as they went from corridor to corridor. She assumed there was some scientific explanation for the color changes, and she made a mental note to do some Internet research on caves. She bet Wikipedia could offer a wealth of information.

As she followed behind Harry, oohing and aahing a bit at the beauty of the caves as she walk, she thought about how impossible it seemed that something so magnificent could be a secret. Missouri had some great caves near St. Louis, Meramec Springs and Onondaga, but nothing like this. She felt burdened by Harry's insistence that she keep his secret. She knew she wouldn't be able to do that. The only person she would tell would be Nick, because they had no secrets from one another. She wouldn't tell anyone else and neither would Nick. But there was a tiny part of her mind that felt guilty about keeping the secret. Surely the administration of St. Sebastian should know about what lay beneath the facility. What if Harry got lost or hurt down there? No one would know to look in the caves for him.

Suddenly, her pager began its shrill beeping. She unclipped it from her belt and read the message: "Patient is here waiting for you. Where are you? George" Who the heck was George, she thought? Then realized that must be the name of the rent-a-guard at the front reception desk.

"Harry! Harry!" Kate called out to Harry who'd disappeared down one of the corridors of the cave while she was reading her pager. In a few moments, he reappeared and walked toward Kate.

"Come on down this way. There are some really special things."

"I'm sorry, Harry, but I have to go back to my office. The patient I was waiting for has shown up."

In the light from his flashlight, Kate could read the disappointment on Harry's face. 

"We can come back another time and you can show me the special things," Kate promised.

Harry stood there, not speaking, not moving. 

"I really have to get back, Harry," Kate said in a gentle voice. 'I know you're disappointed to not be able to show me everything but really, we can come back."

Still Harry stood there. 

"Please, Harry," Kate said.

"Okay," came Harry's response. "Follow me. I wouldn't want you to get lost. It can be confusing down here with all these hallways."

Kate followed behind Harry, shining her flashlight around the walls and into corridors as she went. It was such a spectacular sight. She couldn't wait to tell Nick about it. She wondered if she could convince Harry to show his surprise to Nick also. She'd have to think about the best way to ask that question of Harry. He was not going to be happy if she told Nick about the caves. 

As they were walking down one of the corridors, Kate tripped over something on the ground. She just barely managed to stay on her feet. Harry heard her grunt and turned to see what was wrong.

"Sorry – I tripped over something and almost fell."

Harry walked back to where Kate stood, rubbing her elbow where it had struck the wall. He was surprised to see that it was a shoe, a red high-heeled sandal with sequins and other sparkly things and seemed very out of place here. Kate could see that Harry was upset by what he'd found and asked, 

"What's wrong, Harry?"

"This shouldn't be here. Nothing should be here. I'm the only one who knows about the caves." Harry paused, thinking I'm almost the only one who knows about the caves.

He continued aloud, "How could this get here?" Harry stood there squeezing the shoe in one hand. Then, in a soft voice, he said, "Somebody's been here in my caves." He didn't finish the sentence aloud. To himself, he thought, "and I know who it is."

"I'm sure there must be some explanation," Kate said in a reasonable tone, all the while thinking to herself, 'The only explanation is exactly what Harry said. Somebody had been in the caves."

Harry didn't answer. He just turned around and began walking back the way they'd come. At least Kate assumed it was the way they had come. There had been so many twists and turns that she was well and truly turned around and would have had no idea how to find her way back to the cave's entrance in the St. Sebastian basement.

As Harry walked ahead of her, she saw him put the shoe in a soft leather pouch that was hanging from his tool belt. This was certainly a puzzle, she thought. Who else could have been down here? Who else besides Harry knew about the caves.

It took longer than Kate expected for Harry to get them back to the entrance to St. Sebastian. The caves were chilly and damp, and she wished she'd worn her overcoat. When she'd followed Harry down the hall, she hadn't thought she'd need her outside coat, fully expecting to stay inside the building. 

At first she'd been glad she was wearing her comfortable sneakers but then wished she had shoes with thick, heavy soles. The floor of the cave was strewn with rocks, large and small, and walking was slow-going at times, depending on the rocks. Harry didn't seem to have as much trouble walking on the rocks as she did but she supposed that was because he was wearing heavy, steel-reinforced work boots.

Finally, after what seemed like way too long a time, Harry shone his flashlight on the steel door that led back into the sub sub basement of St. Sebastian.

Ten minutes later, Kate was at the main reception desk. Standing in the open area was a frantic-looking man next to an equally frantic-looking woman. From their clothing, Kate couldn't tell which was the patient and which was the dispatcher accompanying the patient.

She started to speak, when two more people appeared in the lobby, coming from the direction of the men's room. Now Kate could tell which was the patient because of the straitjacket that securely bound his arms to his sides. Guiding him was a large, burly attendant, dressed in wrinkled blue scrubs.

"Dr. Angelo?" the attendant said to her.

"Yes, I'm Dr. Angelo," she answered.

"This is Roy Bennett, the patient who's being admitted to St. Sebastian tonight. I'm Al Winters, one of the orderlies from Barnes. Over there is Mr. Bennett's wife and another orderly from Barnes, Tom Jackson, who's helping me out with the transport."

Kate nodded at each in turn and then said to the guard behind the desk. "Do you have the transport file?"

George nodded and handed several thick and tattered manila file folders, stuffed with papers. Kate reached out and took them, using both hands so that none of the papers fell out. She was beginning to feel leery about this admission. Evidently, it was not your run-of-mill depressed patient who needed meds to perk him up.

She turned back to Al, the orderly who was still hanging on to the patient, Roy Bennett. 

"I'm going to ask all of you to come with me back to the intake office," she said, turning to look at each in the group. For a moment, Kate feared that Al would say 'no way' and head out of there with the other Barnes orderly. Logistically speaking, they'd done their job by delivering the patient into the custody of the St. Sebastian guard and the intake specialist. But Kate was not going to let any of them out of her sight until Roy Bennett was processed and admitted and locked away on the highest security ward. He looked like bad news and she wanted to make sure everyone was safely away from him. It bothered her to have such uncharitable feelings toward a patient, but the man was positively fierce-looking.

When she reached the intake office, she unlocked the outer door, switched on the overhead light and stood aside while the group of four who'd followed her down the hall went inside. As she turned to close the door behind her, she was hit by the tornado-like slam of another human body against her. She fell backwards, out the doorway and landed on her back in the hall.

The patient, Roy Bennett, had evidently escaped the grasp of Al the orderly and had made a break for it, plowing through and past Kate in his escape attempt. Kate saw the two orderlies come through the door, hesitating at her prone figure on the floor, as if trying to set their priorities -- an injured doctor or an escaping patient. To her relief, they took off after the escapee.

She was fine. The important thing was capturing the runaway patient. She sat up, rubbing the back of her head. She thought she could feel the beginnings of a lump. She'd landed fairly hard on the hall floor so she wasn't surprised at the lump. In the back of her mind, she made a mental note to make sure she kept an eye on the lump. She knew the symptoms of concussion and if she had any of those, she'd get herself checked out.

The woman who was Roy Bennett's wife came over to where Kate sat on the floor and kneeled down beside her. 

"Are you all right, doctor?" Mrs. Bennett said. "I'm so sorry for what Roy did. He's terrified of restraints. I told the orderly that the strait jacket would do more harm than good but he wouldn't listen to me. Now look what's happened."

Mrs. Bennett stood up, then reached a hand down to Kate, saying, "Can I help you up?"

Kate smiled inwardly at this woman offering her help to someone 20 or 30 years younger. Kate smiled up at the woman and took her hand. As she stood, she felt her head begin to whirl. She held on tightly to Mrs. Bennett with one hand and braced her other hand on the wall. The spinning of her head was so intense she had to close her eyes to block it out. Eyes closed, holding on for dear life, she took several deep breaths, consciously willing herself to relax. After a few moments, she slowly opened her eyes and was grateful to discover that the spinning and whirling sensations had disappeared. Her head felt a bit wobbly, reminding her a little of those bobble-head dolls people had on the dashboards of their cars.

Mrs. Bennett leaned into Kate's face, asking, "Are you all right? You don't look too good."

"Just a little dizzy spell," Kate said, trying to use her reassuring therapist voice but not sure that it was working.

"I think you should lie down, or at least sit down. Come here in the office and have a seat." Mrs. Bennett gently led Kate into the intake office and directed her to one of the sofas against a wall. 

Gratefully, Kate sunk onto the sofa. She leaned back, putting her head on the back cushions and closed her eyes, again taking several deep breaths.

"Do you need me to call someone, a doctor or 911?" Mrs. Bennett asked.

Kate started to shake her head no but the movement exacerbated her dizziness. She lay down full-length on the sofa, eyes tightly shut, head spinning.

"I'm sorry," she said in a whispery voice. "Can you give me a minute?"

Mrs. Bennett murmured a soft, "Yes." Then she said, "My dear, I'm going to have to leave you alone here for a minute while I go check about Roy. I'm hoping that they've found him and calmed him down. I'll be back. You just lay there and take it easy."

Kate sighed, and tried to take deep, calming breaths. She'd never experienced anything like this and it rather frightened her. She wished she had her cell phone with her, instead of having left on her desk. She would have liked to call Nick and hear his level-headed reassurances. She considered opening her eyes and trying to sit up, and then trying to walk into her office to retrieve her cell phone. But when she opened her eyes, she found that her world was still spinning dangerously out of control, and she shut her eyes again. 

After what seemed like forever, she heard footsteps on the tiled hallway floor. Perhaps they'd managed to find Mr. Bennett. Or perhaps Mrs. Bennett was coming back to see how she was doing. She could hear faint voices outside the office door but was unable to understand what the voices were saying.

Then she heard the door opening and the voices got louder.

"Kate? Kate, are you all right? I heard you took a spill." She recognized the voice of Roger Bellamy, one of several therapists who shared night duty at St. Sebastian.

Kate tried to raise her head but the dizziness was intolerable. "Hi, Roger," she said in soft voice. "I don't quite know what's going on with me, but I'm so dizzy, and the world is spinning around so badly that I can't open my eyes."

She could hear the sound of scraping on the floor and then a creaking noise and deduced that Roger had pulled a chair over close to the sofa and had sat down. 

"Kate, I think we'd better call 911. There's no medical doctor here tonight and by the time we brought someone in you could be in the emergency room getting checked out."

Kate considered Roger's suggestion for a moment and then agreed. "And Roger, could you please get my cell phone off my desk so I can call my husband?"

"Happy to," she heard Roger say. Another creak let her know that he'd stood up and was on his way into her office.

A moment later, approaching footsteps let her know that Roger was back. "Here's you cell phone, Kate. I'm going over here to the desk to use the land line to call 911."

Kate held on to her cell phone like a life line. She ventured the opening of one eye to see the keypad so she could tap in the speed dial code for Nick's cell phone. In the background, she could hear Roger's low voice as he gave the 911 the details about her condition and location.

She put the phone to her ear and waited anxiously as it rang once, twice, three times, then bounced to Nick's voice mail. When the tone sounded, she left a brief message that she was fine but was heading to the nearby St. Stephen's ER to get checked out for a dizzy spell. She ended the message with, "Please call me. I'll have my cell on."

Roger's voice came from across the room saying, "The EMTs will be here shortly. Is your husband coming here or meeting you at the hospital?"

"He didn't pick up on his cell but I left a message. I'm sure I'll hear from him any time now." Kate paused, trying to think what she wanted to say next. The dizziness was slowing down her thinking and it took an extra moment to organize her thoughts. "Roger, do you know if they've found the patient who.. the patient who was supposed to be admitted tonight."

"Yeah, that security guard waylaid them on his way out the front door. There was quite a scuffle and both of them got a little roughed up. Despite the strait jacket, that guy put up quite a fight."

"Tell me about it," Kate said shortly. 

"One of the Barnes' orderlies told me what happened with you. I'm so sorry. I should have been down here but I was with one of the patients who's been refusing to go to bed because he's been having night hallucinations."

"David Kramer?" Kate asked.

"Yep, that's the one. I finally had to have one of the nurses give him a sedative."

Kate heard  footsteps and the rattle of equipment that sounded like it was coming from the hall outside the intake office.

Roger heard the same thing and said, "That sounds like the EMTs. I'll open the door for them."

Kate heard the sound of the door opening and then Roger brought he paramedics into the office and over to the sofa where she lay. He told them her name was Dr. Kate Angelo and that she was on the staff here at St. Sebastian. He then explained that a patent had knocked her down and that she'd hit her head when she'd fallen. When she tried to get up, she'd been overcome with an attack of dizziness.

Kate felt the light touch of a hand on her arm and a warm voice said, "Dr. Angelo, my name is Beth. I'm one of the EMTs here in South County. My partner here is Billy and we're going to take real good care of you. Now we're going to take your blood pressure and listen to your heart. Can you open you eyes?"

"I'm sorry," Kate replied. "I can't open my eyes. The world is spinning so much that it makes me nauseous to open my eyes."

"That's all right," Beth said. Kate could feel the woman putting the blood pressure cuff on her left arm. The cuff tightened almost unbearably and then began to loosen. Beth gave the reading to Billy. "It's 190 over 110," she said. "Dr. Angelo, do you suffer from high blood pressure?"

"No, not at all," Kate said. "It's usually 120 over 70."

"Hmm," was all Beth said. Then she continued with, "Now, I'm going to take your temperature with this ear thermometer. All I have to do is put the tip inside your ear and in a few seconds, the thermometer will beep and I'll have the reading."

Kate felt the cool tip of something in her ear and then shortly thereafter, a faint beep.

Beth said to Billy, "Temp's normal."

"Dr. Angelo," came the voice of the male EMT. "We're going to hook you up to an EKG to make sure there's nothing going on with your heart. Beth is going to put some leads on you chest so she'll be lifting up your shirt and taping them on in a few places."

Kate liked the way they were telling her on a moment by moment basis what they were doing and why they were doing it. It made her feel like she knew what was going on, even though she couldn't open her eyes to see what was happening.

She felt hands putting leads on her chest and then the clicking of something that she assumed was the EKG machine. 

"Hmm.," Kate heard the faint voice but couldn't identify its owner as Beth or Billy. Then Billy said in a low tone, "She's throwing some extra beats there. I'm not sure what that is."

A response in an equally low voice came. "Well, we'd best pack her up and get her to the ER asap." This time Kate identified the voice as Beth's, and she didn't like the idea that they had to get her to the ER asap. 

Then Kate felt a cool hand on her forehead and heard Beth say, "Kate, we're going to get you on a gurney and into the ambulance. We think you need to have some tests that can only be done at the hospital. Is St. Stephen's okay with you?"

"Yes, that's fine. But please, tell me what's wrong with me. I don't understand what's going on."

Beth answered, "We don't understand either. That's why we want to take you to the ER."

The next few minutes were a flurry of activity. Kate felt herself being lifted from the sofa and placed on a firm surface. Someone wrapped a blanket around her and she thought they strapped her in. It was maddening to not be able to open her eyes to see what was going on. She had a tried another time to open her eyes but the dizzy whirling was so severe that she thought her head would explode. 

The gurney began to move and Kate assumed they were wheeling her out of the intake office and down the hall to the main entrance of St. Sebastian. She was clutching her cell phone in her hand, waiting frantically for Nick to call her back. She couldn't understand not hearing from him. He was the most responsible person she'd ever known. He was meticulous about returning voice messages, especially hers.

She was tempted to use a signal they'd set up for emergencies but which neither had ever occasion to use. If she were send a 911 text to Nick, it would frighten him but he'd certainly call her immediately.

The problem was that she couldn't open her eyes to send the text message. She'd barely been able to press the speed dial code for Nick's cell. 

She heard Roger Bellamy's voice nearby, asking, "Kate, do you need me to call Nick?"

"Roger, could you please? I left a voice mail for him but haven't heard back." She slowly gave him Nick's cell phone number, his pager number and the land line number at the A-frame.

"Thanks for doing this, Roger," Kate said. "Please tell Nick I'm okay and he shouldn't panic. But it would be great if he could come to St. Stephen's as soon as possible."

"Will do, kiddo," Roger said. 

She felt a touch on her shoulder and surmised that it came from Roger. She reached up a hand and caught his hand and gave it a squeeze.

"One other favor. Can you please call my Mom, too?" Kate slowly recited her mother's land line number and her cell number. "I owe you, big time, old buddy," she said and gave Roger's hand another squeeze.

"I'll go make the calls now," Roger said. "You take care, and I'll talk to you soon.

With some lifting and bumps, the EMTs got Kate and the gurney in the back of the ambulance. Kate once again tried to open her eyes, wanting to catch a glimpse of the inside of the ambulance. But she had to close her eyes immediately because the swirling world was still there.

2.

Nick Angelo

Early Saturday Evening, October 30, 2010

Nick hung up from the call with Kate and went back to reading the morning paper, even though it was evening. He and Kate had gone into town to do some shopping that morning and one thing led to another, and now was his first opportunity to read the paper. He was sitting out on the back deck of their Aspenhof A-frame, with the outdoor spotlights on providing enough light to read by. Earlier, he'd had

Tayler and Tucker out on the deck with him for company, but had put them back inside when they kept making escape attempts.

Just as he finished reading the sports section, Nick received a call from Paul Washington, one of his colleagues at the Post. Paul was a good friend and also the crime reporter with the most seniority.

"What's up?" Nick said.

"We're not sure yet," came Paul's response. "Remember that missing person's case I covered last week? Well, a body turned up near one of the casinos and speculation is that it's Sami Wade, the cocktail waitress who disappeared. I'm on my way down there now and I thought I'd give you a jingle and see if you want to meet up with me. It's the casino on the river close to your a-frame."

Nick hesitated a moment before answering. "Well, Kate's doing some admissions work at St. Sebastian this evening so it's just me and the cats here." He paused, then said, "Sure, I'll meet you there. How far away are you?"

"About half an hour. How long will it take for you to get there?" Paul asked. 

"About the same," Nick answered. "See you in a few."

He hung up from Paul and punched in Kate's speed dial number. The call went straight to voice mail so he assumed she was with the patient and had turned off her phone. He left a brief message explaining where he was going and asking her to give him a call when she was done with the patient. "Maybe we can meet up somewhere for a late-night snack. Love you." He ended the call and went back into the a-frame to get his laptop for the trip to the casino. Before leaving, he left some kitty treats for Taylor and 

Tucker and promised them he'd be back soon. He bent down to pat the sleekly black Taylor on the back and then reached over to do the same to her cream-and-chocolate-brown Siamese colored brother.

He put on his Cardinals' cap, picked up his laptop from the kitchen table, turned on the outside light and left the a-frame.

Kate had taken his Jeep so he was left with her little Mustang, a car he lusted after but seldom got to drive. He opened the driver's door but as he started to get in, he remembered to move the driver's seat way back so he'd fit behind the wheel because Kate was about eight inches shorter than him. 

Settled inside, he turned on the radio and switched to Sirius satellite radio. Kate had it set to go directly to the classical station and that was fine with him. With the Mustang's bright lights shining through the darkness, Nick maneuvered the winding, hilly, gravel roads of Aspenhof and reached the gate in about eight minutes. He smiled at his good luck because there was someone else there unlocking the gate. As he drove through, he lowered the car window and said thanks then turned onto Highway 47 to head toward the casino. 

Thinking he'd try to call Kate again, he reached into his jacket pocket for his phone and discovered the phone wasn't there. He tried the other jacket pocket, then his jeans pockets but no luck. He must have laid it on the kitchen counter when he was pouring out the cat treats and then forgot to pick it up. 

"Rats!" he said out loud, and then debated whether to go back to get the phone but decided not to. It would take 15 minutes to get back to the a-frame and then another 15 minutes to get back on the highway – he'd just borrow Paul's phone to call Kate when he got to the casino.

As he drove, he thought about the missing girl, Sami Wade. When he'd first heard the news of her disappearance, he'd been shocked. She was one of the cocktail waitresses at the athletic club in downtown St. Louis. The club was just a few blocks away from the loft apartment where he and Kate had lived since their marriage 10 years ago. Once a week or so, he and Kate would meet up in the bar at the club for an after-work drink. Sami Wade had waited on them many times, and Nick remembered her well. The first time she took their order, she introduced herself as Sami, then said, "The same first name as Sami Brady on Days of Our Lives."

Nick and Kate had laughed at that, then confessed to Sami that they were closet fans of the soap opera but asked her to keep it a secret because their addiction was somewhat embarrassing. They'd all had a good laugh about that.

Sami Wade even resembled the infamous Sami Brady, with blond hair and glistening blue eyes. Nick was furious at the thought that someone had snuffed out the bright light that had been Sami. He dreaded seeing her body, finding out what horrible things had been done to her. He knew he'd probably have to write something about Sami and her death for "My View," his thrice weekly column in the Post. His column was an eclectic mix of commentary, human interest stories, life observations, and comic interludes when he made fun of himself and his quirks and foibles.

It took 20 minutes to reach the parking lot of the Starlight Casino, one of the newest casinos in the state. Nick had never been there; he and Kate weren't aficionados of casinos. Both of them had trouble wrapping their minds around the activity of throwing money away. Kate came by her thriftiness naturally, reared by a single mother who watched every penny. Nick had come up with a thrifty approach on his own, despite growing up in a wealthy family, with all the attendant privileges.

Nick saw Paul's little Volkswagen bug parked near the front entrance of the casino, the car's metallic orange color unmistakable. He pulled into an empty space next to the VW, and got out of the Mustang, leaving his laptop on the front seat in plain sight but making sure to lock the car.

He caught sight of Paul standing near the entrance ramp to the casino. He walked over and said a low, "Yo, Paul." 

Paul turned and greeted Nick with a frown and a shake of his head. "It's bad, man, really bad."

The two of them walked a few steps away from the small group near the entrance ramp, a group of uniformed and plainclothes police, paramedics and crime scene techs. Nick also thought he recognized someone from the coroner's office.

Paul started to speak, but stopped to glance around to make sure they were out of earshot of any of the onlookers. Then he said, "I heard the call come in on the scanner so I was one of the first on the scene. It seems like some kids were down here messing around, and one of them said he spied something weird in the water. He and his buddies went over to take a closer look and discovered the body. I'll betcha those kids are going to have nightmares for years to come."

Paul stopped speaking for a moment, then continued. "The body was in bad shape, both from being in the water and from whatever some monster did to her." Paul stopped speaking and started pacing back and forth along the far perimeter of the casino parking lot. Not knowing what else to do, Nick walked with him, letting his friend work of his anger and frustration. 

Finally, Paul stopped and said, "Come on, we'll go talk to some of the cops."

For the next two hours, they interviewed the police on the scene and the woman Nick had recognized from the coroner's office. No one wanted to give them much information, but between the two of them, Nick and Paul managed to gather enough facts and speculation for Paul to write the news article for the next day's Post and for Nick to begin thinking about what he wanted to write in his next column.

When they were ready to wrap it up, Nick remembered that he wanted to borrow Paul's phone to call Kate. The call went again to voice mail and Nick frowned at the phone. Kate should have been finished admitting the patient long ago, It wasn't like her to not pick up. He left another message, then said good-bye to Paul and got into the Mustang. 

Paul came over and stood by the car and handed his phone to Nick." You take this. I don't like the idea of you driving back to Aspenhof with no phone. I'm going to the office before I go home, and I won't need it."

Nick hesitated but then took the phone and said, "Thanks, old buddy. I appreciate it." 

Paul started to walk away, then turned back and said, "I'll e-mail you my notes and a draft of the article in case you want to use any of the information for your column."

"Thanks again," Nick said with a wave and drove out of the parking lot and toward the highway. Just before he reached the highway on-ramp, he called Kate's Mom, Jenny Rigden.

Jenny answered on the first ring in a tentative voice. "Hello?"

"Hi Jens, it's Nick. Do you —

Jenny immediately interrupted with, "Oh my God, Nick, I've been trying and trying to call you. Kate's in the hospital. She had some kind of dizzy spell while she was at St. Sebastian. They took her to St. Stephen's by ambulance. She had one of the counselors at St. Sebastian call me. I'm on my way there now. Where are you?"

Nick said, "It’s a long, dreary story but the bottom line is that I left my phone at the A-frame. Is Kate okay? I had been trying to call her but it went straight to voice mail."

"I haven't talked to her. All her colleague said was that had a major dizzy spell and can't even open her eyes. But that's all I know."

"I was at the Starlight Casino for a story and now I'm getting on the highway to go to St. Stephen's. There's a murder investigation going on at the casino – they found the body of that girl who went missing last week in the river by the casino.

"You mean the girl you and Kate knew from the Athletic Club?" Jenny asked.

"Yeah, Sami Wade. It's tragic. You don't want to know what someone did to her."

"Oh, Nick, that's so sad. Listen, I'm almost at the hospital so I'm going to get off the phone. I'll see you in a few."

Nick hung up and concentrated on his driving. It had started to rain and he turned on the windshield wipers. He found that he was letting the clack-clack noise of the wipers annoy him and then noticed that he was clenching the steering wheel and grinding his teeth. Deliberately, he took a couple of deep breaths, knowing that his anxiety wasn't going to help Kate. He had been shocked when Jenny told him Kate was in the hospital. In the 15 years they'd been together, he couldn't remember Kate being ill. She didn't even get colds..

Nick saw that the speedometer had edged up to 80 and he reluctantly slowed down to 70, still 10 miles over the speed limit but he didn't care. 

In less than 10 minutes, he saw the exit sign announcing St. Stephen's Hospital. With a sigh of relief, he exited the highway, and the lights of the hospital building blazed ahead of him. He parked as close as he could to the ER entrance and hurried inside. He saw Jenny standing by the information desk and he went over to join her. 

"Have you heard anything?" Nick asked.

"Not really, she's still being examined so we have to wait out here. But the nurse said a doctor would be out to talk with us shortly."

Nick nodded and patted Jenny's arm. "It's going to be all right. We just have to know that she's fine."

"I know," Jenny answered, with a tremor in her voice. Nick put his arm around her and led her to a nearby grouping of chairs. They sat down next to each other and smiled at each other.

"We're a fine pair," Jenny said. "We need Kate here with us to keep us in line." They both smiled at that and the brief moment of humor helped calm them both down.

They sat in a companionable silence for half an hour, then Nick started getting antsy. He stood up, stretched and said, "I'm going to go ask about Kate."

Jenny nodded up at him, then stood up and followed Nick as he walked to the information desk. The nurse behind the desk was the same one Jenny had spoken with earlier and she recognized Jenny and said to her, "I'm sorry but I still have no word on your daughter's condition. Let me go back and try to round up a doctor for you to talk to. 

Jenny thanked the nurse and she and Nick stood there waiting while the woman went into the ER facilities.

Jenny patted Nick's arms and said, "Don't let this delay worry you. I don't know how much experience you've had with emergency rooms but this is par for the course. It takes forever to get any information. Just because we haven't heard anything, that doesn't mean bad news."

After about five minutes, the nurse emerged from the ER's double doors, followed by a young doctor who looked like he was barely old enough to have his driver's license, much less his medical license.

The nurse said, "This is Dr. Amato. He can update you on your daughter's condition." The young doctor nodded at Jenny and Nick and reached out to shake each of their hands in turn. He nodded his thanks to the nurse who went back to her seat at the information desk.

Nick introduced himself and Jenny and asked about Kate's condition.

"Let's go sit down over there," Dr. Amato said, gesturing to a nearby group of chairs. The three of them sat down, with Nick on one side of the doctor and Jenny on the other side. 

"Mrs. Angelo is still undergoing tests," Dr. Amato began, and then quickly added, "I'm sorry. I should have told you right away that she's stable and there's nothing life-threatening about her condition  I know you're both worried."

Jenny and Nick agreed and Nick asked, "Do you have any idea what's wrong?"

"It could be any number of things causing the dizziness. I wouldn't want to speculate. We just need to get this series of tests completed and then we'll be closer to being able to make a definitive diagnosis. In the meantime, I'm going to take you back to Mrs. Angelo's room and you can wait there for her to return from radiology."

"Radiology?" said Jenny in a questioning tone.

"Yes," Dr. Amato said. "At the moment, your daughter is having a CT scan done, up in our radiology department." The doctor stood and so did Jenny and Nick. They followed Dr. Amato through the double doors and down a wide corridor to a room at the end of the hallway. The door was open and the bed inside was empty. The doctor left them there and closed the door behind him. 

There were two straight-backed chairs in the room, one on either side of the bed. Nick moved the two chairs next to one another and he and Jenny sat down.

"This is maddening," Jenny said. "I just want to know that my baby girl is okay."

"I know," Nick agreed, patting his mother-in-law's hand.

They sat in silence for several minutes until they heard voices outside the door. 

3.

Kate Angelo

Late Saturday Evening
October 30, 2010
The door slowly opened inward and Nick and Jenny saw a bed being rolled into the room by a nurse and an orderly. Young Dr. Amato followed the bed in the room and stood to one side while the nurse orderly transferred Kate to the bed in the room. 

After Kate was situated, both Jenny and Nick went to her bedside. 

"Sweetheart, are you all right?" Nick asked at the same time that Jenny said, "Baby girl, we've been so worried. How are you?"

Kate turned toward where they stood but didn't open her eyes. "Nick, Mom, I'm so glad you're both here. This has been a horrible experience."

Dr. Amato cleared his throat, then began to speak to Kate. "Mrs. Angelo, we're still not sure about your diagnosis. We have some more tests we want to run but they will have to wait until Monday morning when we're fully staffed."

Kate gave a small sigh and said, "You mean I have to stay here till Monday?" 

"Yes, I'm afraid so. Now, I wonder if you could try to open your eyes for me so I can examine your pupils."

Kate hesitated, then opened her eyes. But she then immediately closed them. "I'm sorry, I just can't. When I open them, the world is swirling around so much and I can't stand it."

"I understand," Dr. Amato said. "Well, I'll be back to check on you in the morning."

The doctor started to leave and Nick said, "I'll walk out with you, doctor."

The two men left the room, and Jenny reached out to hold her daughter's hand. "I'm so worried about, you Katy-did. Tell me what happened,

"It was so weird, Mom. It started with a fairly violent patient. I was supposed to administer the intake tests but we never got that far. The patient was in a straitjacket and despite that, he tried to escape. He rushed past me through the door and knocked me down on his way out. I hit my head on the floor and when I tried to get up, I was so dizzy that I couldn't stand -- and worst of all I couldn't open my eyes.  Roger Bellamy, the co-worker who called you, called 911 and stayed there to help out."

"Did the doctor give you any indication about what's going on?" Jenny asked.

"Not really. He's ordered all kinds of tests. I just came back from a CT scan and evidently they've scheduled more tests for Monday. I wish I didn't have to wait so long."

Just then, Nick returned to the room. He went to the other side of the bed from where Jenny was standing and took Kate's other hand.

"Sweetheart, I'm so worried about you. I tried to get some more information from the doctor but evidently what he told us is all he knows. So we're just going to have to wait until Monday for those tests. Now tell me what happened."

Kate told Nick the same details she'd told Jenny. When she'd finished talking, Nick said, "What a story. I wonder if they caught the patient."

"I don't know. I guess we'll have to wait to find out. Nick, is there any water here? I'm dying of thirst."

"That's something the doctor did tell me. They don't want you eating or drinking anything tonight. They have you on an IV with fluids and he said I can give an ice chip every once in a while, but no drinking water or any food."

Kate gave a small groan, then said, "Sorry. I'm trying to keep a stiff upper lip here. I don't have much experience with being sick so I don't know how to behave."

Nick patted Kate's shoulder, then said, "Excuse me for a minute. I'm going to go call Dad and tell him what's going on."

"Oh, Nick, you don't need to do that. It's the middle of the night. You'll just wake him -- them -- up for no good reason. So please..."

Jenny and Nick both interrupted Kate, Jenny saying, "Nick's dad loves you like you're his very own daughter. He would want to know." and Nick said, "If I don't tell Dad, he'll have a fit. And you don't want that to happen."

Kate gave a giggle at the thought of Parker Angelo throwing a fit. She said, "Nick, your Dad is a major captain of industry. I can't visualize him throwing a fit over his daughter-in-law's dizzy spell."

"Nonetheless," Nick interjected. "I'm going to call Dad. I'll be back in a few minutes." He leaned down and kissed Kate gently on the lips and gave her hand a squeeze, saying, "Love you," as he left the room.

"I wish he wouldn't call Parker," Kate said. "I don't want everyone to make a big deal out of this."

"Sweetie, it may turn out to be nothing or it may turn out to be a big deal. But you have to let the people who love you and care about you know what's going on. That's only fair. Just think how you'd feel if Parker were in the hospital and nobody told you."

"Okay," Kate said. "You're right, I know you're right. Actually, Mom, I think you're always right and you'd think I'd learn not to argue with you."

Once again, Jenny patted her daughter's shoulder. Then she asked, "Do you want me to call Haley and Mallory?" mentioning Kate's two best friends. Haley Barton was Kate's partner in their counseling practice and Mallory Harper was an assistant district attorney in the St. Louis County judicial system.

"Do you think it would be all right to wait until morning? I hate the idea of waking them up out of a sound sleep."

"I think they would be fine with that. I'll wait till 8 or so to call them."

Nick came back in the room and gave Kate another gentle kiss. 

"Did you talk to Parker?" she asked.

"Yeah, and Dad being Dad, he's on his way here as we speak." Nick paused, then continued. "I told him he didn't have to come now, that he could wait until morning but he ignored that and said he was on his way."

Jenny gave a small sigh, then covered it with a yawn.

"Hey, Jenny-girl. do you want to go rest somewhere. I'm sure we can convince someone to find you a vacant bed here." Nick came over and put his arm around Jenny.

"No, I'm fine, Nick. That was just a nervous yawn, not a really tired yawn." Jenny smiled up at her son-in-law. She turned her attention to Kate, asking, "Is there anything I can get for you?"

"Thanks, Mom, but what I want they won't let me have. I want water and food and to get out of here."

Nick chuckled, and said, "Sounds like our girl is on the mend. She's getting demanding."

Kate said in a deceptively soft voice, "And when have I ever been demanding, Mr. Angelo? Just answer that for me."

"I retract my statement, counselor," Nick said.

The three of them were quiet for a few moments, then Kate said, "If only I could open my eyes. That's driving me crazy. I'm missing this whole adventure because I can't open my eyes. I've been carted around by EMTs and transported in an ambulance and poked and prodded in this hospital and I have no idea what any of it looked like. What a downer."

"Well, you'll just have to do it all again," Nick teased.

"God forbid," Kate replied. "I never want to go through anything like this again. And I want it to be over now. I want to go home and get my life back."

There was a faint knock on the door and Nick walked over and opened it a crack. His father stood out in the hall and Nick opened the door all the way, saying, "Come in and join the party, Pop."

Parker Angelo strode into the room and headed directly to where Kate lay on the bed.

"Well, precious, what's going on here? Are you all right?" His deep voice flowed around Kate and she reached a hand toward him.

"I wish I was all right, Parker. But not yet. Thank you so much for coming -- it means a lot to me. But I'm sorry to interrupt your night's sleep and drag you out in the rain."

"Not to worry, Kate. I wouldn't be anywhere else."

Nick came over and laid a hand on his father's shoulder. "I'll go get another chair for us."

Jenny spoke up, saying in a level voice, "Hello, Parker, good to see you." 

Parker turned and held out his hand to her. "Jenny, good to see you also."

Turning away from Parker, Jenny said, "Nick, I'm going to walk out with you and find the ladies room." 

Nick and Jenny left the room, and Parker turned back to his daughter-in-law. "So you can't open your eyes?"

"No, every time I try, the world swirls and whirls and I can't bear it."

"So Nick says the doctor is keeping you through till Monday for more tests."

"Yes, much to my dismay. You can't begin to realize how much I want to go home and go back to normal."

"I know, sweetie, and I want the same thing for you," Parker agreed. They were silent for a moment, then Parker let go of Kate's hand and sat down in the chair closest to Kate;

"So what else is going on in your world, besides that merry-go-round in your head?" Kate giggled at the metaphor and told Parker, "That's a good comparison."

"How's your Mom doing?" Parker asked in a noncommittal voice.

"Mom? She's Mom. She's doing great. Still working -- she'll never retire."

"She was one of the best employees I ever had at Dynatron," Parker said thoughtfully. "I was sorry when she left."

"I never understood that, "Kate said. "She loved working for you. I don't know why she took a different job."

"But it worked out well for her -- she was successful at the public relations firm and now she's successful at her writing."

"Yes, but -- " Kate stopped. "It was a long time ago and she's happy and I should just drop it. She just would never talk to me about it so it's always been one of those mysteries that I want solved."

4.

Jenny Rigden 

Just Before Midnight

October 30, 2010

Jenny left Nick out in the hall looking for an extra chair. She told him not to wait for her, she'd be back in a few minutes. She made a brief, but necessary stop at the rest room, then left the hospital, going out to the park-like area at the front of the ER entrance. There was a well-lit fountain in a rock garden that surrounded by trees and bushes and benches. She took a seat on one of the benches facing the fountain and closed her eyes. 

Despite her best efforts, a tear slid down her cheek and she quickly brushed it away. She'd been a bundle of nerves since receiving the phone call about Kate from Roger Bellamy earlier in the evening. She wished that Nick hadn't called his father. Parker Angelo was the last person she wanted to see, she thought. Then a sob overtook her and more tears came. That was an absolute falsehood. Parker Angelo was the one person in the world she most wanted to see. 

5.

Kate Angelo 

Just Before Midnight

October 30, 2010

Kate lay there in the hospital bed, eyes tightly shut, listening to the soft murmurs of Nick and Parker talking. Father and son were close and were so much alike. They even strongly resembled one another, both tall and erect, with flashing blue eyes and broad smiles. Parker's hair was now gray but once it had been dark blond like Nick's. 

Kate loved her father-in-law. Even before she knew Nick, she had known Parker Angelo as her mother's employer, and she had grown attached to him. It had been a disappointment to her when her mother had left her job at Dynatron Aerospace to take a copy editor position at a local public relations firm. Kate had been a teenager and hadn't liked the idea of the job switch. For her own inner security, she wanted everything to remain status quo. 

Jenny's new job had turned out to be the perfect fit for her. She quickly rose in the ranks at the PR firm, becoming first a writer, then an assistant account manager, all the way up to manager of the firm. Several years ago, Jenny started writing mystery fiction as a hobby. One of the PR firm's clients had a brother who was a literary agent out in California and she put Jenny in touch with her brother. 

Jenny had sold two mysteries in quick succession and then made a life-changing decision. She decided she wanted to write full-time and two years ago had begun to transition herself out of the day-to-day management of the PR firm. One of her proteges at the firm had moved into the manager position, and Jenny now served as a consultant on special projects, spending most of her time now on her writing.

Kate heard the scraping of a chair and then Nick said, "I'm going to go see what happened to Jenny."

Parker said, "Let me go son. You stay here with your beautiful wife."

Kate snickered at that. "At the moment, I'm anything but beautiful. No make-up, hair a mess, and this lovely backless hospital gown -- what could be more becoming?"

6.

Jenny Rigden 

Just After Midnight

October 30, 2010

Jenny, still sitting on the bench in front of the fountain, wiped away the last of her tears and started to get up when she heard a sound behind her. Turning, she saw Parker standing there. She felt her face flush and turned away to hide it.

"Jenny, what are you doing out here? Come back before Kate starts worrying about you. We don't want to upset her."

"Parker," Jenny said as she stood, her tone sharp. "I don't need you to tell me how to behave with my daughter." 

"I'm sorry," Parker began but then broke off as Jenny quickly brushed past him. He stood speechless watching her hurry back through the door to the ER and through the security gate with its metal detector.

He sighed and then went to the bench and sat where Jenny had been just a moment before. He thought he could smell her perfume lingering there but realized how foolish that was. Parker sat there, trying not to think, trying to empty his mind of his ever-present worries. Debating with himself about what to do, he decided to go on home and come back in the morning. He pulled out his cell phone and sent a text to Nick, telling him he was heading home but would be back in the morning.

7.

Nick

Just After Midnight

October 31, 2010
Nick felt his phone vibrating in his jeans pocket and pulled it to read the message. He wasn't surprised to see that Dad was heading home and didn't fault him for leaving. Dad was healthy and energetic but he was in his 60s after all and it was past midnight.

"Dad's heading home," he told Kate and Jenny as he put his phone away. 

"Good," Kate said firmly. "The two of you should go home also. I'll be fine by myself. Maybe I can get some sleep."

"No way," Jenny and Nick said in unison just as the door swung open and two orderlies came in. 

Mrs. Angelo, "one of the orderlies asked.

"Yes, Kate answered. I'm Mrs. Angelo.

"We have orders to move you upstairs to a room," the younger of the two orderlies said. 

Nick said, "We'll move out of your way. What room is my wife going to?"

The older orderly looked down at his clipboard and answered, "We're taking her up to room 613. We use the patient transport elevator but you can go back to the reception area and take the public elevator there."

The younger orderly looked around the room and said, "Are there any of her belongings that we should take with us?"

Jenny said, "Her clothes are there in the closet, along with her handbag. I'll bring her things, you don't need to bother with them."

The orderly said thanks and then the two of them maneuvered the bed out the door and down the hall.

8.

Nick

Sunday morning

October 31, 2010

Nick and Jenny had spent the night in Kate's room, sleeping in bed-like chairs provided by the hospital. When Nick first saw the chairs, he groaned inwardly, thinking he'd never be able to contort his body into a comfortable position. But he didn’t say anything about his concerns to Kate or Jenny.

The only important thing was Kate and getting her back to normalcy. It broke his heart to see his wife lying there, motionless, keeping her eyes tightly shut, afraid to open them.

He and Jenny both woke up around 7 a.m. and Jenny offered to go down to the cafeteria and bring back coffee and rolls. They'd eaten them out in the waiting room while one of the nurse's aids helped Kate with her bath and the bedpan.

Back in Kate's room, Jenny leaned down and kissed her daughter on her forehead and said, "I'm going to run out for a bit to get Tucker and Taylor and take them home to visit with Princess."

"Oh, Mom, I hate for you to make that drive," Kate said. "But it would be wonderful if you would. I've been lying here worrying about my babies. I know they have plenty of food and water but I'd feel better if I knew they were at your house."

"Jenny, why don't you let me go? That's a long way for you to drive, Nick offered.

"Nonsense," came Jenny's quick response. "I want you to stay here, glued to Kate's side. I'll be back in a couple of hours." And with that she was gone.

"That's Mom, for you," Kate said in a gently voice. "She's a wonder – the best guardian angel anyone could hope for." 

For the next couple of hours, Nick and Kate talked every once in awhile, with Kate nodding off a couple of times.

Around lunchtime, they heard a knock on the door, and Nick got up to see who it was. He opened the door and stood back while a woman and man walked in. He shut the door, then went back to stand by Kate's bedside.

"Sweetheart, Mom and Jason have come to visit."

Kate held out a hand and the woman came over and took it. "Victoria, Jason, how kind of you to come."

Victoria leaned down to brush her lips against Kate's cheek. The smell of her expensive perfume wafted past Nick and he automatically stepped back, the perfume not one of his favorites.

"Kate," said Jason. "Sorry to hear about your problem."

"Thank you," Kate said. The words were terse and spoken briskly, an unusual way for Kate to speak.

Nick could hear the tension in his wife's voice, although he thought his mother and twin brother didn't notice the stiffness in her tone. He knew Kate didn't particularly like Victoria and Jason but over the years had successfully managed to conceal her discomfort with them.

Nick himself was not especially fond of his mother and brother. There was a definite dysfunction with the two of them and Nick had long ago stopped being concerned about them or with them and had concentrated his familial love on his father. 

"Parker filled us in about your condition, dear," Victoria said. It seemed to Nick that she added the "dear" as an afterthought. 

"Please, sit down, Mother, Jason." The three of them sat in the chairs at the side of the bed and sat in an uncomfortable silence for a moment.

"Where's your mother, Kate? I was sure she'd be here by your side."

Nick answered for Kate. "Jenny and I spent the night here in Kate's room and Jenny graciously volunteered to go out to the A-frame and rescue our cats and take them to her house. It was a generous offer that I couldn't refuse."

Neither Victoria nor Jason seemed to have a response to that. Nick filled them in on the latest news about Kate's situation and neither of them had much to say.

Another silence filled the room. Nick saw a covert glance between his mother and his twin and knew they were preparing to leave. Deciding to help them along, Nick stood up and said, "Thanks for coming by, Mother, Jason. I'll let you know what happens."

"Or your father will. I understand his plans to spend the rest of the day and into the evening here. He told us not to expect him for dinner."

Nick smiled inwardly, thinking that he could always count on Dad. And also thinking how his family was split right down the middle: Parker, Nick and his sister Meggie on one side of an impassable chasm, with Victoria and Jason firmly planted on the other side.

Victoria and Jason said their good-byes to Kate, and Nick followed them out into the hall. 

"We'll talk," Victoria said, patting Nick on the arm, then taking Jason's arm and walking off down the hall. Nick stood there, watching them go. Although his mother was in her early 60s, she was still a strikingly beautiful woman. Tall, slender and elegantly dressed, she turned heads wherever she went. A long-time blond, she'd finally let her hair go into its natural gray. She wore it in a casual style, and it had ended up being even more stunning than her blondness had been. 

Nick and his brother Jason looked like their father. All were tall, well-built with dark blond hair and blue eyes. Theirs was a rugged handsomeness, and the three of them together was quite a sight. At first, Kate had been spooked by the idea of Nick having an identical twin. She'd been afraid the two of them would try to trick her into thinking Jason was Nick. But Nick quickly reassured her.

"Jason and I aren't close. Actually, we don't get along at all. We barely speak and barely see one another. So you don't have to worry about any joint tricks."

Kate was an only child, and she had envied Nick his twin brother and their older sister Meggie, a Catholic nun who taught at a convent girls' school a few hundred miles from St. Louis. Growing up, Nick and Meggie had been close, despite their four-year age difference. Meggie had adored both of her little brothers until Jason's near-drowning tragedy had changed all their lives.

9.

Parker

Sunday afternoon

October 31, 2010

Parker pulled into the hospital parking lot just after 1 p.m. and was surprised to see how full the lot was on a Sunday afternoon. He drove up and down the aisles hoping for a relatively close spot, but had no such luck. He finally settled for a space at the far side of St. Stephen's, close to the power plant buildings and an array of dumpsters. Before getting out of his Mercedes, he sent a text to Nick, telling him he was just coming in the building. Nick texted back, saying Come ahead – it was just him and Kate for the time being.

Parker swung out of the car and headed into the hospital, ignoring his twinge of disappointment that Jenny wasn't there. But he enjoyed the feeling of relief at hearing that his wife Victoria and son Jason weren't there. For the past 30 years, he's lived a lie of a marriage. He and Victoria had never had a particularly good marriage, and Jason's accident had destroyed whatever good still existed in the marriage.

The Angelos' 36th wedding anniversary had been last month but both of them and the rest of the family had ignored the milestone. He and Victoria went their separate ways and Jason did the same. Quite awhile back, Jason moved from the family's Huntleigh Woods estate out to the family's hunting lodge on the bluffs overlooking the Mississippi, in the vicinity of St. Sebastian's, where Kate worked.

Jason and Victoria were extremely close, abnormally so, Parker had always thought, although he'd never shared that observation with anyone.

Parker lived an alone life but not a lonely one. He was immersed in the family business, Dynatron Aerospace, and devoted time and energy to various charities and organizations that caught his interest. For the most part, he'd sublimated his sex drive except for infrequent experiences with high-priced call girls when he traveled. The one woman he'd loved hadn't been Victoria -- and hadn't been available. His feelings for the woman still haunted him but he usually managed to compartmentalize his emotions.

He made a stop at the hospital gift shop and purchased an autumn bouquet for Kate, and then bought a second one.

Walking out of the gift shop with a bouquet in each arm, he stopped for a moment in front of the huge wall-mounted flat screen TV in the hospital lobby. On the screen was a shot of the Starlight Casino, with uniformed and plainclothes police milling around the boarding ramp. The volume on the TV was turned way down but the closed captioning was on and Parker read the newscaster's words as the trailed across the bottom of the screen.

"The badly beaten body of cocktail waitress Sami Wade was discovered last night in the Mississippi close to the entrance ramp of the infamous Starlight Casino. You'll recall that the state police have repeatedly closed down the Starlight for gambling violations. Ms. Wade was 22 years old and had been employed as a cocktail waitress at the downtown athletic club for a year. Police aren't releasing a cause of death but crime scene spectators told this reporter that Ms. Wade seemed to have been badly beaten. She was dressed in a short, red cocktail dress and wore only one high-heeled red satin sandal."

Parker walked slowly to the elevator, feeling a deep sadness at Sami's death. She'd waited on him many times at the club, and he'd found her personable and charming.

He managed to push the up elevator button despite his arms being filled with flowers. When the doors swooshed open, he got in and then stood there at a loss for a moment. He couldn't remember what floor Kate's room was on, much less the room number. Just as he was about to get out of the elevator to head toward the hospital information desk, he remember that it was room 613, the same number as his cell phone prefix. He jabbed at the 6 and waited impatiently for the door to close. Just as the doors were almost shut, a woman's elegant arm came through the opening, causing the doors to open again.

First one woman, then another entered the elevator and parker recognized them as Haley Barton and Mallory Harper, Kate's two best friends.

"Mr. Angelo! How great to see you," Haley said, reaching out to shake his hand and then realizing both his hands were clutching flowers.

"Here, let me take one of those from you," Haley said, gently removing the bouquet from his left arm. 

"And not to be outdone by this show-off, I'll take the other bouquet," Mallory said, doing just that. 

Parker grinned at the two women and shook his head. "If you weren't Kate's best friends, I'd think you were pushy broads, and I'd and reacquire my flowers."

Both women laughed and Haley asked how he'd been. "It's been ages since we've see you and your lovely wife. What's going on?"

Parker hesitated for just a second, then answered with a smile and a cheery "Not much. What's with you two?''

Haley told Parker she was up to her ears with her two kids but still managed to see patients in her and Kate's counseling practice. Mallory said she was buried in work at the district attorney's office but that she loved the intensity of what she was doing. Parker thought about asking her about the Sami Wade case but decided it probably wasn't appropriate.

On the 6th floor, Parker held the elevator door open while Haley and Mallory and his two bouquets got out. The three went the few steps down the hall to Kate's room. Parker opened the door and gesture the two women to go in.

He stood just inside the room, smiling as Haley and Mallory exclaimed over Kate and her condition. On their way into the room, they'd set the two bouquets on a chest close to the door. Nick walked over to where his Dad stood and murmured, "How about we go get a cup of coffee and let the girls have some time to themselves?"

"Sounds good to me," Parker replied. 

Nick went over to Kate's bed and told her that he and his Dad were going for coffee and asked if she or the girls wanted anything. They all said no, so Nick leaned down and kissed Kate on the forehead, saying, "See you in a few, sweetheart." Then to Haley and Mallory, he said, "Take good care of my girl."

They'd agreed to do just that and said good-bye to Nick and Parker.

 

10.

Jenny

Sunday afternoon

October 31, 2010

Jenny had felt relieved when she left the hospital. Although she was overwhelmingly concerned about Kate, she knew her daughter was in good hands with Nick and the hospital. Her relief was because she wasn't in danger of running into Parker Angelo again, at least for awhile.

She drove out to Aspenhof in record time. Sunday traffic was light and she felt as though she had highway 44 mostly to herself. At the A-frame, she spent half an hour searching for Tucker and Taylor. The cats were not fans of riding in their pet taxis and always hid when they anticipated imminent capture and confinement.

Jenny finally found Taylor, the black cat who reminded her of a panther, under the living room sofa. Tucker was more of a mystery and she began to despair of ever finding His Highness, as Kate referred to the elegant cream and chocolate cat. She finally gave in and texted Nick, asking for a rundown of Tucker's favorite hiding places. A minute later, she received Nick's response and began to search his suggested hideouts. She finally Tucker in a cardboard box upstairs in the loft area, under one of the eaves. The box, with a cutout on one side, had been a hand-me-down from the previous owners of the A-frame, who evidently had had cats also.

Inside the box, curled up on a fluffy blue blanket, lay Tucker, his bright blue eyes gazing up at her, as if to say, "Rats! You found me."

Following Nick's instructions, she'd turned off the water and some of the electric breakers, leaving the one for the refrigerator on. She loaded the two pet taxis into the back seat of her Escape and left Aspenhof for home. 

Jenny now lived in the city, in an apartment a block from Kate and Nick's loft. She and Kate had lived in various places during Kate's childhood -- North County, South County and St. Charles. Kate and Nick liked having her live close by, and Jenny also liked the proximity. She made sure to never take advantage by dropping in on her daughter unannounced, something Jenny considered the height of rudeness.

She turned on the radio, thinking she'd listen to the Sirius satellite radio classical music station but the radio was tuned to KMOX, St. Louis' news and talk station. The top-of-the-hour newscast had just started, and Jenny listened in horror. A young woman had been murdered. Her body had been discovered last evening in the river near the Starlight Casino. And Jenny knew the woman.

Jenny was a member of the downtown athletic club, courtesy of a birthday gift from Kate and Nick, and she often had lunch there. Sami Wade was a cocktail waitress at the club who mainly worked the evening shift but sometimes filled in for one of the lunch waitresses. 

Sami was easy to talk to and Jenny enjoyed the girl's chatter. Jenny had asked Sami if she could use her as the basis for one of the characters in the mystery she working on, and Sami had been thrilled at the idea. And now she was dead. 

The newscaster was describing what Sami was wearing when she was found. "The young woman was dressed in a bright red cocktail dress and had on only one red high-heeled sandal."

Once or twice, Jenny had seen Sami waiting tables in the evening at the club, and Sami had been dressed in a short cocktail dress, looking almost like a guest rather than a waitress. At the time, Jenny had assumed it was part of Sami's cocktail waitress persona to look so fancily dressed. 

The newscaster said the police hadn't yet released a cause of death but bystanders had told reporters that the woman looked as though she had been badly beaten. 

"Poor girl," Jenny murmured out loud. She remembered Sami saying that she still lived at home with her Mom but was saving up to get a place of her own. "Her poor Mom," Jenny said, aloud again. Talking to herself when she was alone was a secret vice she hid from Kate, who would have worried about her Mom's state of mind if she knew about it.

At her apartment, she parked at the back entrance and carried first one pet taxi and then the other inside leaving them next to the elevator. "You two wait right here for me while I park the car." She smiled at her silliness, talking to the cats as if they understood her every word.

Car parked, she went back into the apartment building and pushed the elevator button. When the elevator came, she shoved first one pet taxi and then the other into the elevator. Her apartment was on the top floor, and they rode up in silence. When they reach Jenny's floor and the elevator door opened, she once again repeated the moving of the pet taxis. Her apartment was just around the corner from the elevator, and she soon had both cats safely inside.

She was well aware that her own cat Princess hadn't greeted her at the door, which meant Princess knew there were intruders. Jenny sighed, knowing that much howling, hissing and growling was about to happen. She opened the door to Taylor's pet taxi, and then Tucker's. Both of the cats rushed out and ran down the hall toward the kitchen. 

Jenny followed behind them, and grinned when she saw them each trying to eat out of Princess's food bowl. She put out two more bowls of food and two bowls of water so that there wouldn't have to be any shoving or pushing.

Seeing the cats gobbling up the food reminded Jenny that she hadn't had anything to eat since breakfast, and it was now late afternoon. Rummaging around in the refrigerator, she found some leftover oven-fried chicken from Friday night's dinner. She liked cold fried chicken and ate over the sink, another one of her questionable habits she hid from Kate.

When she'd finished the chicken and washed her hands, she poured a glass of iced tea and went into her office to text Nick to let him know that she and the cats had arrived home safely.

A few minutes later, Nick called on her cell phone.

"Thanks from Kate and me for taking care of our babies. I'm assuming Miss Princess isn't too happy about her unwelcome guests," he joked.

"She went into hiding the minute I put the first pet taxi inside the door. But I'm anticipating a lot of hissing and growling any moment. Tucker and Taylor are enjoying their dinner right now but I'm assuming they'll go track her down for some devilment."

"You know you can lock them in a room, if you want," Nick offered.

"No, it's fine. It's good for Princess's character to have to share."

Nick told her that she'd missed seeing Victoria and Jason. "They didn't stay long," Nick said. "Dad's here now if you want to come back."

Jenny groaned inwardly but said, "I'm going to get something to eat and do a few things. I'll be back later this evening." She wanted to ask to when Parker planned to leave but knew Nick would find that strange.

"Okay, Miss Jenny, we'll see you later this evening. Haley and Mallory came earlier but they just left so you won't get to see them."

Haley Barton and Mallory Harper were Kate's best friends. The girls had known one another since high school and Jenny loved them both as surrogate daughters.

"Nick, I just heard the most horrible thing on the radio..."

Nick interrupted, asking "About Sami Wade?"

"Yes, you know about it?"

"Mmmhmm, that's where I was last night. Paul Washington, one of the reporters I work with at the paper called me about it. and I meant him there at the Starlight."

"Oh Nick, it's so tragic. She was a dear girl." Jenny paused, then asked slowly, "Have you said anything to Kate about it?"

"No," Nick answered, "I didn't want to upset her anymore than she already is. I think this dizziness thing has put her on an emotional roller coaster, and I want to try to keep her on as even a keel as possible."

Jenny said she'd see him soon and hung up. 

Unspoken between them but silently understood had been Kate's recent emotional upheaval brought on by her reaction to fertility treatments. Two years ago, Kate had suffered a late-term miscarriage and had then been unable to conceive. Her OB-Gyn, Dr. Marta Tillman had counseled patience, urging Kate to give nature a chance. Kate followed her advice for over a year, and then decided to go try hormone treatments. 

At first, Kate reacted physically, breaking out in hives, having night sweats, eating everything in sight. Then she'd begun to react emotionally. She experienced mood swings and irritability. The final blow had been the rage she felt, a direct result of the hormones assaulting her brain. That had been it for Kate for fertility treatments. Her body's reaction had frightened her and she went to Marta asking for help in stopping the drugs. Marta put her on a reduction regimen and within two weeks she'd stopped the drugs and a month later, her body was free of the last traces of the hormones.

After the ordeal had ended, she'd told Nick what a prince he'd been, the soul of level-headed patience and understanding. He'd confessed that it had been a struggle, particularly dealing with the raging Kate. It was so far from her regular personality that he was at a loss as to what to do.

When Kate finally reached the end of her rope and was ready to get off the drugs, he'd accompanied her to her appointment with Dr. Tillman, The doctor had told them it might get worse before it got better, once she started weaning Kate off the hormones. 

And for two days, it had gotten worse. Kate had taken a medical leave during the treatments and at the end, Nick took some vacation time to be with her while her body suffered the withdrawal of the massive doses of hormones.  

Kate was now, finally, back to her old chipper, cheery self, on top of the world, grinning her way through life. Neither Nick nor Jenny wanted to rock her boat any more than this episode of dizziness had done.

10.

Jenny

Sunday afternoon

October 31, 2010
Jenny sighed and pushed away the memories of Kate's struggle. Time to concentrate on getting ready to head back to the hospital, she thought.

All of a sudden, she remembered what day it was – Halloween. She'd bought bags and bags of Halloween candy for the few kids who lived here in the loft district. She hastily made a sign for the front door of her apartment that read:

Hello, Trick-or-Treaters:

Sorry to have missed seeing you this year but a medical emergency has taken me away. I've left my treats for you with my next-door neighbor in 2E.

Have fun!

Miss Jenny

She scotch-taped the sign to the front door, then went next door to see Callie Cunningham. Callie was in her 40s, a school teacher in the St Louis public schools and Jenny loved her to death.

Callie opened the door almost before Jenny had a chance to knock. She exclaimed, "Oh, Jenny, you startled me. I thought you were my first Trick-or-Treater."

Jenny laughed and said, "Not quite, but actually, almost. I have a major favor to ask of you. I'm not going to be able to be here to hand out candy, and I wondered if you would do it for me when you do yours."

Callie looked at her quizzically and asked, "What's going on? Are you all right?"

"Yes, I'm fine," Jenny answered. "It's my daughter Kate. She had an attack of dizziness, and she's out at St. Stephen's while they try to figure out what's wrong."

Callie said, "Can you come in for a minute and tell me about it."

"Sure," Jenny said, following Callie into her apartment. The two women lived in apartments with an identical layout but the interiors couldn't have looked more different. Jenny's apartment was bright and sunny, decorated in yellow and beige, with orange accents. 

Callie's decorating had gone in a completely opposite direction. Her apartment was dark and cozy, with deep, dark browns with red accents. Jenny always felt she'd gone into a cave when she entered Callie's apartment. Jenny enjoyed the comparison and the differences, liking the fact that each person's individual tastes were reflected in their surroundings. And in their clothes. Jenny dressed the way her apartment looked: bright, lightweight clothes that seemed to exude cheerfulness. 

Callie, on the other hand, wore dark, heavy clothes, and seemed to carry a certain seriousness with her – which Jenny often thought, exactly described Callie's demeanor.

When Jenny finished telling her about Kate's dizzy spell, Callie shook her head in sympathy, and said, "I had something similar happen to me a few years ago. "I'm fine now, all back to normal, relatively speaking." Both women laughed at that. 

"But it did take me a couple of months to completely get over the aftereffects." Callie paused and Jenny asked, "What kind of aftereffects?"

"Well, the main one was my fear of driving. I was so scared that I have another dizzy spell while I was driving. It took me almost a month to get over that. I arranged to ride to school with one of the other teachers so I wouldn't have to drive."

11.

Victoria Angelo

Sunday afternoon

October 31, 2010
Jason dropped Victoria off at the front of the Angelo mansion in Huntleigh Woods. After visting Kate at St. Stephen's, they'd gone to the Angelo's country club for brunch.

Victoria had tried to convince Jason to come in for coffee but he'd been in a hurry to get somewhere.

Inside the house, Victoria laid her handbag on the long mahogany table in the entry foyer and looked at her reflection in the mirror over the table. She turned her head first one way and then another, looking for more imperfections in her face.

She'd always been a beautiful woman and had enjoyed the attention and adulation her beauty brought her. As she'd entered her 50s, her looks had begun to fade, as a part of the natural aging process. Not content to look her age, Victoria had begun the long trek through plastic surgery. So far her doctors had managed to stave off the worst, and at age 60, Victoria prided herself on being able to pass for 45 or 50.

Also not content to let her body sink into middle age, she kept up a demanding workout routine, visiting her trainer at the country club daily. Those efforts had paid off handsomely. She was the same size and weight as she'd been on her wedding day 36 years ago.

Mrs. Mannion, their housekeeper came into the foyer and started at the sight of her employer. 

"Why, Mrs. Angelo, I didn't hear you come in. Is there anything I can do for you, ma'am?"

"No, thank you, Mrs. Mannion, at least not right now. I'm going to take a nap and then a walk in the garden before dinner. If anyone calls, please take a message. I won't want to be wakened."

Mrs. Mannion nodded her head, said, "Yes, ma'am," and left.

Victoria walked up the circular staircase that led to the second floor. Her suite of rooms was at one end of the long hallway, and Parker's suite was at the other end. 

In her bedroom, she quickly undressed and put on a lightweight robe. She left her clothes on a chair for Mrs. Mannion to take care of, either to hang back up in her dressing room closet or send out to the dry cleaners.

She pulled the heavy drapes across the floor to ceiling windows, darkening the room. She lay down on her back, closed her eyes, and went through a mental relaxation exercise. Just as she was drifting off to sleep, the phone on her bedside table rang. Angry at the interruption, she sat up and grabbed the receiver, and spat a peremptory, "Yes?" into the mouthpiece.

The subdued voice of Mrs. Mannion came over the line. "I'm so sorry, ma'am but your son says it's an emergency and insisted I put his call through."

"All right," Victoria said grudgingly. The housekeeper hung up and Victoria heard a male voice say, "Mother?" she hesitated before responding, unsure whether she was talking to Nick or Jason, and that confusion maddened her.

Finally, she answered with "Yes, what is it? I'm trying to take my afternoon nap and I was just about to fall asleep when the wretched phone rang."

She heard a dry chuckle on the other end of the line and knew which son it was.

“What is it, dear?” Victoria said in a soft voice. 

“Something’s imperative has come up,” Jason said, in an equally soft voice. “I’m going to have to cancel our plans for tomorrow evening. I have to go out of town.”

“Oh, Jason, I was looking forward to having you as my escort to the theater tomorrow night. The play has received rave reviews. Are you sure you can’t postpone your trip? I’ll be so disappointed.”

She could hear Jason sigh, and then he said, “No, Mother, I can’t postpone my trip. It’s critical. I’ll call you when I return.”

Before she could ask where he would be, Jason had hung up. Victoria sat there on the side of the bed still holding the phone, now sounding the dial tone. She placed the phone back in the cradle and lay back down, all hope for a nap gone. She let her disappointment take over. She’d even bought a new outfit for tomorrow evening. She so enjoyed spending time with Jason. He was charming and an interesting conversationalist. And he was such a handsome young man, it made her proud to show her son off to friends and acquaintances. They were invited to a theater after party at one of the neighbor’s homes here in Huntleigh Woods. She considered canceling her plans for the evening. She disliked going to events alone. Perhaps she could persuade Parker – she grimaced at herself, thinking what a foolish thought that was. She and Parker spent little time together. A meal here and there, Sunday morning mass – that was about the extent of their relationship.

She sighed as her thoughts turned in the direction of her marriage. She really didn’t mind that it wasn’t really a marriage any more. She preferred the company of her son to that of her husband and both men were well aware of her preference. 

She and Parker had had a marriage in name only since Jason nearly drowned more than 30 years ago. One sunny summer Sunday when the twins were toddlers, Parker had been watching them in the swimming pool. The boys were roughhousing and Parker interrupted his reading of the Sunday newspaper to tell them to stop or they’d have to go in the house. 

Parker had told her later than he’d just gone back to reading the newspaper, when he heard Nicky calling “Daddy, Daddy.”

He dropped the paper, got up from the chaise lounge and rushed over to the side of the pool. Nicky was frantically paddling in the deep end of the pool. “Jason’s gone, Jason’s gone.” The boy was sobbing.

Parker jumped into the pool and dove to the bottom of the deep end. Jason lay on the bottom, not moving. Parker grabbed him, surfaced and put the boy on the side of the pool. 

He began to do CPR. In between breaths, he shouted at Nicky, “Tell Mommy to call 911. Nicky, go inside the house, find Mommy and tell her to call 911.”

Nicky had scrambled out of the pool and ran into the house. Moments later, Victoria appeared, phone in hand, Nicky following behind.

She was sobbing as she talked to the 911 operator.

Five minutes later, the EMTs arrived and took over CPR efforts from Parker. After what seemed an eternity, Jason coughed, then vomited water. The EMTs put an oxygen mask on the little boy and then moved him to the ambulance. Victoria accompanied Jason in the ambulance.

Parker took Nicky inside to put him in the care of the housekeeper, then drove to the hospital.

Jason had gone into a coma that lasted for almost a week. Victoria refused to leave his bedside. She also refused to talk to Parker, blaming him for Jason’s near death.

Jason spent another two weeks in the hospital. When he came home, Victoria moved into a separate suite from Parker’s, setting up a sleeping area for Jason in the dressing room next to the master bedroom. This began her decades long obsession with Jason. Her concentration on the boy had distorted his development. The attention he received from Victoria resulted in a relentless self-centeredness. 

Jason was convinced that the world revolved around him, and Victoria did nothing to dissuade him of that conviction. Because of her obsession with Jason, Victoria spent little time with Nick and even less with Parker. She never forgave him for what happened to Jason, and their marriage became one in name only after that. Things had evolved to the point where they were now civil to one another but that was the extent of the relationship between them. They kept up appearances and participated in family holiday dinners and events, and social engagements that were part of their position in society and Parker’s position as a business leader in St. Louis.

Both Parker and Victoria were devoted Catholics and their faith negated any thought of divorce. Parker managed to sublimate much of his sexual energy into his business. There were times when he used the services of high-priced, top-notch, discreet call girls, but those encounters were infrequent. Victoria had never much cared for sex and the closing down of the intimate side of the marriage was a relief to her.

Through the years, Parker had annoyed Victoria with his efforts to pry Jason away from her. He continually told his wife that she was doing emotional damage to the boy. But Victoria had ignored his warnings, to the point of spending even more time with the boy.

After a while, Victoria noticed that Parker stopped bothering her about Jason. He seemed to spend more and more time with Meggie and Nick but not much with Jason. It was as though he had conceded responsibility and connection to his son to Victoria. And so they became a family split down the middle. Meggie, two years older than the twins, had clung to her father and her brother Nick, not understanding why her mother mostly ignored her. 

From the outside, the Angelos appeared to be one of those picture-perfect families who had it all: the money, prestige, the position in society, good looks, charm, intelligence. But anyone looking beneath the surface would see what a façade that was.

Meggie had suffered from her mother's neglect but the fun-loving Nick had sailed through life on a note of good cheer. His mother's abandonment seemed to affect him not in the least. Parker had often speculated about how Nick had managed to escape serious emotional damage. He was on the fence when it came to the nurture vs. nature discussion.

To Parker's surprise, when it came time for Meggie to enter high school, she asked if she could go to a convent school on the outskirts of St. Louis County. She had become more and more convinced that she had a calling from God to become a nun. Victoria had been overwhelming happy about her daughter's vocation. 

Parker, despite his strong religious convictions, was appalled at Meggie's choice and had tried to persuade her to postpone her decision. He felt that Meggie was suffering from her mother's neglect, and he viewed her choice as a way to win approval from Victoria. He'd been so opposed to Meggie becoming a nun that he'd insisted she see a counselor. At first, Meggie had refused but eventually had capitulated and had gone through several sessions with a therapist recommended to Parker by their family physician.

The bottom line was that the counselor said Meggie was a mature, intelligent 18-year-old woman who had made a knowledgeable life choice. Parker had no option but to accept Meggie's decision. Through the years, he'd come to terms with his daughter's life. She had become a science teacher who taught 4th graders at the convent school she'd attended as a teenager. She was also an active environmentalist and was always chiding her father for Dynatron Aerospace's non-environment-friendly business practices. Parker had finally succumbed to the guilt she made him feel and found himself urging his managers to implement "greener" processes.

Meggie's order allowed her to make two visits home each year and those times meant the world to Parker and Nick. Victoria had reverted to her previous mode of mostly ignoring Meggie.

11.

Harry

Sunday afternoon

October 31, 2010
Just before his dinner break, Harry checked with the security guard in the main lobby once more for the latest news on Dr. Angelo. 

Earlier, when he came in for his afternoon shift, he’d heard from the guard about her being attacked by a patient and then going to the hospital in an ambulance the night before. The guard told Harry that one of the other doctors, Roger Bellamy, was keeping everyone up-to-date on Kate’s condition. 

Thanking the guard for the information, Harry took the freight elevator back down to the basement of St. Sebastian. In the staff break room, he took out the brown paper sack from the refrigerator, with the dinner he'd fixed for himself at home, then went down the hall to the utility room he used as his office. He'd scavenged an old beat-up metal desk, a wobbly desk chair on wheels, a bookcase with only one shelf remaining, and his prized possession, an old radio that still worked, which he' found in the dumpster. He was amazed at the things folks threw away, especially here at St. Sebastian.

Harry unwrapped his sandwich, took a bite and began to chew. He was upset about Dr. Angelo. She was one of the nicest people at St. Sebastian, and he liked her. She treated him well and didn't talk down to him like most folks did. He thought she had a good heart, and he didn't want anything bad to happen to her.

He was pretty sure she'd liked his caves. He knew it had been a surprise for her, probably a big one. Hardly anybody knew the caves existed. As far as he knew, the only people who knew were him and Dr. Angelo and that other person, that man that Harry avoided. 

The ladies' shoe that Harry found in the caves last night bothered him, and he didn't know what to do about it. Why would a red ladies' shoe be doing there in the cave? It didn't make any sense to Harry. Until he'd heard about Dr. Angelo, he'd been thinking about talking to her about it.

Sometimes he found it hard to understand what was going on around him. So that made him try to stay out of everyone's way. He'd lived so much of his life alone, and he'd always had trouble knowing how to talk to people. He found it easy to talk to Dr. Angelo, and he supposed that was why he liked her and why he felt comfortable and safe around her.

He didn't want to tell anyone but her about the shoe. Because if he did, he'd have to tell them about the caves and there was no way he was going to do that. The caves were his, and he was going to keep them that way. Although, he thought, that man thought they were his, too. This bothered Harry. Thinking about the man bothered Harry. He'd caught glimpses of the man down in the caves, but at such a distance that he couldn't tell what the man was doing. Harry was afraid of being discovered and kept his distance from the man. 

The idea of one shoe scared Harry. It couldn't be a good thing, to have only one shoe. That gave Harry an idea. Maybe if he went back to the place in the cave where he found the shoe, he could find the other one and stop worrying about it. If he found two shoes, that had to mean everything was okay. Feeling better now that he had a plan, he finished his sandwich. In the lunch bag was an apple that he'd save till later in the evening. He put the apple in the middle drawer of his desk, along with the red high-heeled shoe.

Later that night, when his shift was over, Harry went back to the utility closet, sat down behind his rickety desk and ate his apple. Then he took the red shoe from the drawer and put it back in the leather pouch hanging from his tool belt. He left room, turning out the overhead light and shutting and locking the door.

In the hallway, he looked around to make sure no one else was around. The basement was usually deserted this time of night but he wanted to be careful. He didn't want anyone to see him going through the door that led down the stairs to the cave's hidden entrance. 

Convinced he was alone, Harry went through the entrance door behind him. After shutting the door behind him, he took the powerful flashlight from his tool belt and switched it on. The sweep of the beam shone brightly on the glistening walls of the cave.

He made his way slowly through the labyrinthine tunnel-like halls of the cave, taking care not to stumble on the rocks that littered the floor. Finally, he came to the spot where he found the red shoe last night. He shone the flashlight back and forth, trying to find the second shoe. But there was no shoe. 

He ventured further along the corridor, farther than he usually went in this section of the cave. This was the place where he'd first spotted the man a couple of months ago. The man had been far off in the distance, in what seemed to be a brightly lit section of the cave. Harry had pressed himself close to the wall of the cave, peering around the corner, trying to see what the man was doing. But it was too far away. All Harry could see was the man. Sometimes it looked like he was waving his arms. Sometimes he was just standing there not moving at all.

After the first time he saw the man, Harry had clipped a new addition to his tool belt: a small pair of binoculars that he'd bought at a nearby dollar store. He'd seen the man one other time since then. The binoculars had given him a look at the man's face. He was sort of youngish and had medium colored hair. It looked like he was dressed in those scrub things that doctors wore. The scrubs were blue and seemed to be dirty or stained. 

After that second time, Harry decided he definitely didn't like the looks of the man. He wasn't going to look for the man anymore. He would stay away from this part of the cave. And that's how it had been for awhile.

But now Harry felt he had to go farther down this corridor to try to find the second shoe. He switched off the bright flashlight and hung it back on his tool belt. From the other side of the belt, he took a penlight and switched it on, shining the tiny beam downwards toward the floor of the cave. He only needed a small light to find his way among the rocks strewn on the floor. So many rocks surprised him. The other halls of the cave didn't have rocks like this. He wondered if there had been some kind of rock slide.

He stayed close to the left wall of the cave's hallway, wanting to make sure that if the man was where he'd seen him before, he wouldn't be able to see Harry.

So far, the tunnel was dark, no brightly lit area lay ahead. He walked a few more feet, then stopped. He thought he'd heard something. He stood very still and held his breath. He heard the sound again, a faint clink. “The man,” Harry thought. “It has to be that man.”

11.

Kate

Sunday afternoon

October 31, 2010
Kate lay in the hospital bed, eyes still closed, listening to Nick and his father talk. She smiled inwardly, thinking, they always have so much to say to each other. 

Once again, she tried to open her eyes, and once again had to quickly shut them. The whirling world was still there whenever she opened her eyes. She couldn't wait until tomorrow when they would be able to another round of tests on her and hopefully come up with a definitive diagnosis. 

She thought how for once in her life her extremely good health was a detriment. She wasn't used to being out-of-commission. It had never happened to her and she wasn't adjusting well to her incapacity. 

She heard footsteps coming toward her, and then Nick was saying, "Sweetheart, I'm going to walk Dad out. I'll be back in a moment."

Kate smiled and said, "Why don't you walk him all the way out to his car? You probably need to stretch your legs. Then you could stop in the hospital cafeteria and have something to eat. I'm worried that you're not taking care of yourself."

"Ah, Katie, always thinking of someone else," Parker said. "You're a darling."

"Well, actually," Kate teased, "I thought I might take a little nap."

Nick chuckled and said, "Whatever you say, sweetie. I'll do what you say. Can I bring anything back for you?"

"No, thanks. I'm fine."

Nick leaned down and kissed her, then Parker took her hand and squeezed it.

"I'll be back tomorrow to see my favorite daughter-in-law."

Kate laughed and responded, "Don’t you mean your only daughter-in-law?"

Nick and Parker left, laughing as they went. 

Kate lay there, trying to fall asleep but no such luck. She hadn't had much sleep the night before and she was exhausted. But she was so tense and anxious that it was impossible for her to fall asleep.

As she lay there, she realized this was the first time she'd been alone since she suffered the dizzy spell. She took a deep breath, then another one. It seemed to help the tension. She felt around on the side of the bed, looking for the nurse call button. She wasn't going to call the nurse. She wanted to turn on the television. She wasn't used to not knowing what was going on the in the world. She and Nick were news junkies, watching daily newscasts around dinner time and at bed time.

She found the nurse call button and ran her fingers over the various options. She took a chance on one and pushed it. To her delight, the TV came on to one of the local channels. There was some kind of game show on and she couldn’t' figure out how to change the channel. So she'd just suffer along with the game show.

A few minutes later, there was a top-of-the hour news update, with the newscaster saying, "Stay tuned for the latest details on the Starlight Casino murder."

12.

Meggie

Sunday afternoon

October 31, 2010
Meggie sat on the park bench next to the hospital parking lot where the cab had let her out. She’d been there for several minutes, trying to gather up enough energy to go in and visit Kate. She loved her sister-in-law dearly and had been worrying about her since Nick's late night phone call telling her about Kate's hospitalization. But Meggie’s current emotional state was less than ideal for visiting someone in the hospital, and she wanted to do what she could to rein in the anger that had been her constant companion for months now.

Coincidentally, Meggie had been planning to come home for an extended visit in the next few days. She had applied for and received a special dispensation from the Mother Superior to take a leave of absence from the convent and from her teaching duties.

Meggie had been going through a crisis of the soul over the past year and had finally reached the point where she needed to do something about her mental agitation. A year ago, the priest who served the convent school where Meggie taught fourth grade had been quietly removed from the school and sent to a facility for priests who had been accused of sexual molestation.

Although the school administration had tried to keep a tight lid on what had happened, the grapevine was alive and well. Meggie had been aghast at the accusations. The priest, an older man named Father James, had seemingly been a kind and gentle man the students liked and related well to. To have him accused of molesting one of the young girls in his spiritual care was unbelievable to her.

Over the years, Meggie had managed to ignore or not believe the press reports of sexual abuse by priests. She told herself that it must be false reports by malevolent children or exaggerations or misunderstandings. She loved her church and she loved her faith and was unable to accept its imperfections. But when Meggie protested Father James' banishment and spoke up about his innocence, Mother Superior had felt compelled to finally sit her down and give her the facts and basically read her the riot act.

Meggie had been astounded at the woman's vehemence and anger. And Mother Superior's anger had triggered a similar rage in Meggie, especially when she learned that she knew and had taught the girl molested by Father James. Little Nancy had been a delight to have in class. She had a learning disability and needed more time and attention than some of the other students. But Meggie was glad to give Nancy what she needed. The girl was loving and sweet and always had a ready smile on her lips.

Nancy's parents had removed her from the school without giving the girl the opportunity to say good-bye to anyone. Mother Superior said they had been understandably enraged at what happened to their daughter and had already filed a multi-million dollar abuse suit against the diocese.

Meggie tried to reach some level of acceptance but had been unable to do so. In fact, she let her anger and resentment fester and build until it began to consume her life. She started surfing the Internet for stories of priestly abuse. In her mind, she was building a case against all priests, and then extrapolating that into a condemnation of her church. 

She finally reached a breaking point and just barely managed to restrain herself from exploding in front of her students. One of the girls had once again complained about the new priest, Father Tim, and said she wanted Father James back. Unable to answer responsibly, Meggie had abruptly left the room, dismissing the class as she went.

Later, sitting alone in her small, spare room, sobbing into her pillow, she was self-aware enough to realize how giving vent to her rage would have upset the girls.

The next morning, she’d made an appointment to speak with Mother Superior, after classes were over and before evening mass. Meggie was nervous and tense all day. She wasn’t sure what she was going to say to Mother Superior. She liked and respected the head of the convent and knew she could trust the older woman’s judgment. At 4 p.m. Meggie showed up at Mother Superior’s office on the first floor of the school, next to the main entrance of the building. The sister who served as school secretary was sitting in the reception area, typing on the computer. Meggie smiled to herself, thinking how very modern and up-to-date they were. The sisterhood had certainly come a long way. Very few of the sisters wore habits nowadays. Mother Superior was one of only a handful at the convent school who wore the black floor-length dress and white wimple that covered her head. 

Meggie had worn traditional nun’s garb her first few years at the convent. Then as dress standards relaxed, she along with most of the other sisters, traded the black nun’s habit for simple skirts and blouses. Nowadays, they were mostly wearing slacks and blouses, which were particularly comfortable and convenient for elementary teachers. 

As Meggie waited in the reception area, Mother Superior had opened the door of her office and beckoned Meggie inside. 

Rather than sitting down behind her massive oak desk as she usually did, Mother Superior took one of two chairs around a small round table in front of a bank of windows overlooking the grounds of the school. 

“Sit, my dear,” Mother Superior said and Meggie took a seat opposite the woman.

“Now, Sister Margaret Mary,” Mother Superior said, using Meggie’s full convent name, “ I know there’s something going on with you. Why don’t you tell me about it?”

At the warm, caring tone, Meggie burst into tears. Mother Superior was somewhat taken aback. She stood up and went over to her desk to get a box of tissues. She brought them back to the table and before sitting down, she placed her arm around Meggie’s shoulders and gave the young woman a gentle squeeze.

“All right, my dear. Tell me what’s going on so I can help you with it.”

Meggie sniffed and took a tissue to blow her nurse and then another one to wipe her eyes.

Finally, she took a deep breath, and gave Mother Superior a small, embarrassed smile. “I’m so sorry about that,” she said.

“Nonsense, Sister. There’s nothing wrong with a few tears here and there. But now it’s time to tell me what the problem is.” The last sentence was said with firmness.

Meggie hesitated, trying to remember her memorized speech but it escaped her. She began to talk, haltingly, stumbling over her words.

“It’s about Father James, well, no, more than Father James, but that’s what started it all. What happened with him started me worrying about the young girls and what’s going on with priests, and now I can’t stop thinking about. I may be obsessed with the whole abuse thing. Actually, I’m sure I’m obsessed, and I can’t stop searching for things on the Internet when I’m supposed to be doing classroom work. It’s just out of control, and I’m so upset about the whole thing and I don’t know what to do. Yesterday in class, I almost lost it when one of the girls complained because she doesn’t like Father Tim. She wanted Father James back.”

Mother Superior was silent, looking into Meggie’s eyes, as if encouraging her to continue.

“I think I want to leave the sisterhood,” Meggie finally blurted out. 

“Hmmm,” was Mother Superior’s non-committal response.

Meggie lowered her head and took a deep breath. Head still down, she spoke softly but precisely. “The whole abuse situation has caused me to doubt the priesthood, doubt the church and I’ve even begun to question the existence of a God who would allow such things to happen.” Meggie paused, then let out another sob. She grabbed a tissue and covered her mouth with it, as if to try to stifle more sobs from erupting.

Mother Superior waited a few moments, then said, “I can certainly understand how you’re feeling, my child. I don’t think it’s an exaggeration to say that all of the sisters here are dismayed at what happened with Father James and with the other instances of abuse in the church.” She stopped, then drew herself up and said, “However, I don’t know that any of the other sisters are reacting quite so strongly as you are. And I’m certainly sorry that you’ve let this go on as long as you have without coming to talk with me. I think I could have helped you had you come to me sooner. Now, I’m afraid you’ve done serious damage to your faith.”

Meggie shuddered and said, “Yes, Mother Superior, I know. I thought often of coming to speak to you but I was afraid. I was afraid you would pat me on the head and tell me to be on my way. And I would not have been able to bear that.”

“Sister Margaret Mary, I certainly would not have patronized you that way. I’m sorry that you thought I might.”

Meggie looked up at the woman and said softly, “I’m so sorry, Mother Superior. My reaction unfortunately was based on my experiences with my own mother. It was unfair of me to ever judge you by the example she provided me.”

Mother Superior had nodded slowly. She was well aware of the challenges of Meggie’s childhood and young adulthood. There had been a point when Meggie was not going to be allowed to take her vows because of her dysfunctional childhood. Mother Superior had arranged, with Meggie’s father’s full approval and cooperation, for Meggie to see a counselor several times a week for several years. The combination of the counseling and her father’s love had helped Meggie overcome her emotional problems and become a nun.

Mother Superior had done the paper work for a month-long leave of absence for Meggie and had even arranged for a rental car to be delivered to the convent for her use. 

Now, Meggie sat here at the hospital, trying to get up the courage to go see Kate. She felt like a failure. For so many years, she'd wanted to devote her life to God and instead here she was, copping out on her commitment. Hopefully, Nick would be there with Kate. She wanted to talk with him about her worries and fears. She trusted her brother almost more than anyone in the world, besides her father. Parker came first, then Nick, then Kate. When Kate joined the family, Meggie felt as though she'd finally gotten the sister she'd always wanted.

Meggie stood up, brushed at imaginary specks on her black skirt, and headed toward the main entrance of St. Stephen's. She heard a shout behind her and whirled around to see Nick barreling toward her, arms open. He grabbed her and swung her around, making her slightly dizzy. 

"Sister Meggie-girl, I wasn't expecting you so soon. It's great to see you. And my Katie-did will be so happy you're here."

Meggie unwrapped herself from Nick's embrace and stood back to take a look at him.

"Well, you're just as gorgeous as ever. Like everyone always said, you and Jase were too pretty to be boys." The mention of Jason wiped the smiles off Meggie's and Nick's faces. 

Meggie frowned and groaned and said, "Sorry." There was an unspoken pact among Parker, Meggie and Nick to keep Jason out of their conversations. They'd long ago given up on him and tried to sidestep any mention of Nick's twin whenever possible.

"So how did you get here so fast, Sis?" Nick asked.

Meggie hesitated, then said, "Nick, come sit over here on this bench with me. I want to tell you something before we go up and see Kate."

Nick frowned in response and said, "Is something wrong, Meggie?"

Not answering, Meggie walked over and sat down on the bench where she'd been sitting a few minutes earlier. She motioned to Nick to join her and he did, still with the frown on his face.

Slowly, Meggie told Nick of her concerns about the abuse accusations and her eventual obsession with the subject. Nick's frown deepened as he listened to his sister. Finally, Meggie wrapped up her story with, "That's why I'm here so soon. I was already scheduled to come home when you called me about Kate. I decided to tell you about my leave of absence when I got here rather than trying to explain over the phone."

Nick reached over and put his arm around Meggie, pulling her in close. "I'm so sorry about all of this, Sis. I wish you'd told me about it. Maybe I could have helped, but maybe not. Maybe this is something we each have to go through on our own."

"What do you mean by that?" Meggie asked.

"Well, Dad and I have had some long talks about the abuse cases. We both loathe the whole thing, as you do. Dad has volunteered to be on a committee here in St. Louis that's part of a national effort to come up with recommendations for what we as Catholic lay persons can do to help alleviate the situation. And I've done a couple of columns about it, trying to keep my religious beliefs out of it, and trying to present a reasoned and reasonable view."

"Could you give me copies of those columns? I don't get to see the newspaper at the convent, and I would like to know what you wrote."

Nick said yes, of course, he'd give her copies of the columns. He took out his PDA and made a note for himself.

Meggie chuckled and said, "Aren't you a little young for 'old-timers' disease' to have to make notes to yourself like that?"

'Very funny, my dear older sister. I'm just being conscientious about following up on your request." Then Nick snorted, and said, "Actually, if I don't write things down, half the time I forgot them."

Meggie reached out and squeezed her brother's hand and said, "Me, too!"

They sat for a moment in a companionable silence, then Meggie said, "Let's go see that beautiful bride of yours!"

On the way up to Kate's hospital room, Nick gave Meggie more details of what had happened to Kate and what her current condition was.

Outside Kate's hospital room, Meggie stopped walking and asked Nick, "So she still can't open her eyes?"

"Nope. At least not that I know of. I've been away for about an hour now, talking with Dad and then with you."

Nick tapped lightly on the door. Hearing Kate's faint "Come in," he pushed open the door and stood aside to let Meggie enter.

"Hi, there," came Meggie's cheery greeting.

"Meggie, is that you? Is that really you?" Eyes still tightly shut, Kate stretched out her arms and waited for Meggie's embrace. The two women hugged one another for a long moment, then Meggie stepped back for a better look at her sister-in-law.

"You look great, as always," Meggie told Kate. "Are you sure you're not faking here?"

"Absolutely not!" came Kate's firm reply. "This hasn't been any fun. I want to get out of here as soon as I can."

"Speaking of that," Nick said. "What time tomorrow are you having those tests?"

"They said it would be early -- 6 or 7 a.m. So please don't plan on being here."

"I'll already be here. I'm planning to spend the night again to night. I'm not that easy to get rid of. You should know that already after all these years."

"Oh, Nick, you don't have to stay. You and Mom must have been so uncomfortable in those chairs last night."

"Not at all," Nick fibbed, crossing his fingers in front of Meggie's eyes, then motioning her to be quiet when she started to laugh.

"Okay, what's going on you two? No fair taking advantage of me in my current sightless condition."

"Sorry, sweetheart, that was rude of me. "I crossed my fingers because I was sort of lying about the chairs not being uncomfortable. So my honest sister started to laugh to rat me out."

Kate laughed, then, and said, "No more trickery, you two. Understand?" 

In unison, Nick and Meggie said, "Yes, ma'am," and then the three of them laughed.

"Speaking of chairs, Sis, have a seat," Nick said, gesturing to one of the overstuffed things the hospital called sleeping chairs.

Meggie sat down and Nick sat in the chair next to her.

Nick reached over and took the nurse call button and turned off the TV. 

"Oh, Nick," Kate protested. "I wanted to hear the newscast. Evidently, there was a murder at the Starlight Casino. Do you know anything about it?"

Nick hesitated, trying to decide what to tell Kate. Finally, he sighed and figured he'd better tell her the whole story.

"Sweetie, it's really bad news. I found out last night before I got word about you. I didn't want to upset you but it's all over the news now so you're bound hear about it."

"Nick. just tell me what it is. You're scaring me."

Nick reached out and took Kate's hand. "It's Sami Wade, the cocktail waitress from the athletic club, the one who disappeared last week. They found her body in the river near the entrance to the Starlight Casino. Paul called me last night at the A-frame and had me meet him there. That's where I was when I got the call about you."

"Oh, Nicky, that's awful. Sami was such a sweet girl, and so bright. I know she would've made something special of her life."

Kate sniffled and Meggie handed her a tissue.

After wiping her eyes and blowing her nose, Kate asked, "What happened?

"Well, all the police know right now is that she was severely beaten. The assumption is that that's the cause of death but the autopsy isn't scheduled until this evening. Paul's staying on top of things, and he promised to text me with details as they become available."

Paul turned to Meggie and said, "We knew Sami Wade from the athletic club downtown. She'd been a cocktail waitress there for a couple of years. Sometimes she waited on the lunch crowd, and we'd see her then. She was this delightful, sparkly person. Always there with a smile and a funny comment. She was a beauty also. I think she was a wannabe actress. She mentioned something about an auditions once. She had a great singing voice also. She filled in for the singer at the club a couple of times. We only heard her sing one time but her voice reminded me of a white Lena Horne, if that makes any sense. Her voice had this smoky, sultry sound that could ease its way into your heart."

"Wow, Nicky," Meggie said, using Kate's nickname for Nick. "That's quite a description you just gave me. I have a feeling that I'm going to see some of those words in one of your upcoming columns."

Nick laughed and gave Meggie a playful punch on the arm. "Maybe," he said in a sing-song voice. 'I wouldn't want to waste such pearls of prose."

"Ha!" Meggie snorted. 

Nick turned his attention back to Kate. "Sorry, Katie. We didn't mean to be so flip. And we certainly aren’t being disrespectful to Sami."

"I know that," Kate responded in a soft voice. "I'm just shell-shocked about this. I can't believe that anyone would hurt that dear, sweet girl, much less murder her. It's just beyond me."

"Me, too," Nick agreed. "When we heard about Sami's disappearance last week, I hoped that she'd just gone off somewhere, but no such luck. You know, if you'll both excuse me for a moment, I think I'll go outside and call Paul. Maybe he's heard more about what's going on with the investigation."

Nick leaned down and kissed his wife, then patted Meggie on the shoulder. After he'd closed the door quietly behind him, Kate and Meggie sighed in unison, then burst into laughter.

Kate said, "Yes, isn't he wonderful?"

"That's for sure," Meggie agreed. 

They chatted for a moment about inconsequentials, then Meggie got serious and said, "Kate, there's something I want to tell you.

Kate said, "Sure, sweetie, what is it?"

Meggie told Kate the same story she'd shared earlier with Nick, adding more details about her emotions, something she'd not focused on during her recitation to Nick. But Kate was as emotional as she, and Meggie felt comfortable sharing her horror and rage with her sister-in-law.

When Meggie was finished, neither woman spoke for a few moments. Then Meggie said, "So, what do you think?"

"I'm pretty sure you know what I think. I agree with you. I've had the same reactions and emotions that you did. I didn't go the obsessive route but I told Parker if he needed any help with that committee he's on, to just let me know and I'm there."

There was a faint tap on the door, and Kate called out a soft "Come in." The door opened and Kate's mother Jenny came in. She took a step back in surprise when she saw Meggie. "Sister, what a surprise and what a pleasant one, at that."

Meggie walked over and shook Jenny's hand, saying, "Mrs. Rigden, how wonderful to see you again. How are you?"

"I'm fine my dear. And please call me Jenny. When I hear Mrs. Rigden, I always think someone's talking about my mother-in-law, may she rest in peace.

Meggie and Kate chuckled at that. Jenny walked over to Kate's bed and leaned down to kiss her daughter on the forehead.

"Mom, you didn't have to come back. I'm fine," Kate said.

"Well, I wouldn't have been fine, at home alone worrying about you. Where else would I be but by baby's side."

"Thank you, Mom, that means a lot to me."

"Where's that handsome son-in-law of min?" Jenny asked.

Kate hesitated, then answered, "He went to call Paul Washington, one of the Post reporters he works with," Kate paused, then continued slowly, "Have you heard about the murder?"

"You mean Sami Wade, that sweet young girl who works at the club?"

"Yes, that's what Nick is asking Paul about. Nick was there last night, at the Starlight. He saw –" Kate broke off, then said, "You know."

"Yes, dear, we don't have to talk about it. I don't want you getting upset."

"That's all right," Kate said softly, "although there's not much to say. I hope Nick comes back to tell us that they've found the person who did this."

"Me, too," Jenny agreed. She sat down in the chair next to where Meggie was sitting and turned to face the nun.

"Now, tell me how you've been, Sister. It's been forever since I've seen you."

Meggie smiled at the older woman and said, "I'm fine, the school is fine. I love teaching the fourth-graders. They're still young enough to be impressed by the wonders of science. I'm afraid as the kids get older, some of them lose their capacity for amazement, which is really a shame."

"I agree," Jenny said. "But the good thing is that someday, many of them will regain that capacity. I still find myself amazed at our wonderful planet on a daily basis."

"Me, too," Kate chimed in, mimicking her mother's earlier words. 

The three of them laughed at that.

Jenny reached into the large carryall bag she'd brought with her and pulled out yarn and a crochet hook.

Meggie looked at the yarn and asked, "What are you making?" 

"I'm crocheting scarves and mittens for a children's home in downtown St. Louis. I usually do my crocheting in front of the television to alleviate my guilt over watching TV. But I thought it would be good to do some crocheting while I'm visiting my Kate, sort of multi-tasking, if you know what I mean." 

The door opened and Nick came in, followed by his father. Parker stopped short when he saw his daughter sitting next to Kate's bed.

"Meggie, I didn't know you were here. How long have you been here?"

Meggie got up and went over to where her father stood. She reached out her arms and gave him a hug. "I just got here a few minutes ago. I was going to call you after my visit with Kate."

"It's so good to see you. Does your mother…" Parker stopped and shook his head. "Of course, your mother doesn't know you're here."

"I was going to call her too, Daddy," Meggie said, reverting to her childhood name for her father.

Kate spoke up. "Meggie, why don't you take Parker down to the coffee shop and buy him some sinfully decadent coffee concoction. I'm sure you two have a lot to catch up on."

"Sounds like a good idea," Meggie said. "Jenny? Nick? Either of you want to come along." 

Nick and Jenny both said they'd stay there with Kate and for Meggie and Parker to take their time and have a good visit.

After Meggie and Parker left, Nick came over and sat beside his mother-in-law.

"So what's the word from Paul?" Kate asked.

"The police still have no leads. Paul says the preliminary autopsy results say that Sami was beaten to death, and seemingly over a period of time, like a week, rather than all at once."

Both Jenny and Kate expressed their dismay at that news, and Nick, "I'm sorry to have told you that. I could have kept it to myself."

"Nonsense," Jenny replied. "Kate and I are tough."

"That you are, Jenny dear," Nick answered, "that you are."

13.

Harry

Sunday evening

October 31, 2010

Harry clipped the penlight back to his tool belt and replaced it with his more powerful flashlight and shone it around the tunnel of the cave. He knew he’d heard a noise down here, a clinking noise. It had to be that man. Unless there was some kind of animal here. He’s never seen any animals in the caves but there could be some.

Harry stood there motionless, not sure what to do next. He hadn’t found the other red shoe so that wasn’t good. He’d hoped to find the second shoe so he wouldn’t have to worry about something having happened to the owner.

He decided his search for the shoe was hopeless. He started to turn around and head back to St. Sebastian, when he felt a movement of air behind him. He swung the flashlight around and it hit something with a faint thud. Then something slammed against the back of his head and that was the last thing he knew for awhile.

When Harry regained consciousness, he was unable to move his arms and legs. There was a dim light coming from somewhere, and he could see that he was bound up in that silver tape they called duct tape. He used to think people were saying duck tape and that made no sense to him. He found out that it was duct tape but that made no sense either.

His head throbbed and he was having trouble focusing his eyes. Things seemed blurry and the only thing he could tell was that he was lying on the floor of one of the open areas in the caves. In the silence of he could hear the pounding of his heart as he realized the danger he was in.  

Harry lay there motionless for a long while, trying to catch his breath, more scared than he’d ever been in his life. After what seemed like hours, he heard the scraping sound of footsteps on the floor of the cave. 

Then, a large figure was looming over him. In the dim light, Harry could see that there was something covering the figure’s head, like a hat pulled down over the face, with holes for the eyes, nose and mouth. 

Harry thought the figure was wearing those stained and dirty blue scrub-like things he’d seen that man wearing. He wished it wasn’t true but the figure had to be the man.

The man had something in his left hand that he shoved into Harry’s face. “What’s this?” the voice of the man growled.

Harry jerked his head away from the man and the object he was shoving in his face. Then he recognized the object as the red shoe he’d found in the cave. The man must have found it in the pouch on his tool belt while he was unconscious. If possible, Harry was more scared than before.

To his horror, he realized that he was wetting his pants, something he couldn’t remember ever doing. He felt the quick sting of embarrassed tears and shook his head back and forth to clear his eyes. This was bad, this was really bad. 

When Harry didn’t answer, the man slapped him across the face, and yelled, “Answer me! Where did you get this shoe?”

Harry whimpered, then began to hiccup. Again, the man slapped him. The hiccups stopped but now Harry began to sob in pain and fear.

Between sobs, Harry finally mumbled an answer. “I found it in the tunnel.”

“Who are you and what are you doing in my caves?”

Harry hesitated, then answer slowly, “My name is Harry Smith. I’m the night janitor at St. Sebastian’s.”

The man grunted, then said, “I asked you what you’re doing in my caves.”

With a show of bravado, Harry took a deep breath and said, “These aren’t your caves. They’re mine. I’ve been coming here since I was a little boy living at the Sisters of Immaculata Orphanage.”

The man was quiet for a few moments, then he abruptly reached down and grabbed Harry’s hair and yanked him up off the ground. Harry screamed in pain and the man chuckled, letting Harry’s body fall back to the ground. “Did that hurt? I’m so sorry.” Then he pulled at Harry’s hair even harder and Harry screamed again.

The man let go of Harry and snarled the question, “Did you tell anyone about the shoe?” 

Harry didn’t answer, and the man grabbed his hair again. Harry screamed in pain but still didn’t answer. 

The man leaned into Harry’s face and said, “You’re going to answer my question sooner or later. You can do it now and spare yourself a lot of pain.”

Still Harry was silent. He squeezed his eyes tightly shut and said to himself over and over again, “I won’t tell about Dr. Angelo. I won’t tell about Dr. Angelo.”

There was a long silence, and Harry slowly opened his eyes and saw that the man was no longer standing over him. Harry turned his head one way and then the other and couldn’t see the man. Maybe he was gone. Maybe he had given up. But he’d left Harry here all taped up. What was he going to do?

Then he heard footsteps and the man was back again. He heard a low chuckle, then the man said, “I’ll ask again nicely whether you told anyone about finding the shoe. You’ll be sorry if you don’t answer back just as nicely. If you don’t answer, I’m going to take one of your fingernails off.”

Harry gasped at the words. He felt the man’s hand on his right hand, lifting first one finger, then the other. Despite himself, Harry began to whimper, then felt himself wetting his pants again.

“Wetting your pants, just like a little baby,” the man sneered. “Answer my question or you’re going to have more reason to wet your pants.”

Harry sobbed out an answer, “I didn’t tell anyone about the shoe.”

The man grabbed Harry’s hair again and said, “I don’t believe you.”

Harry felt something tug at his hand and then a searing pain throbbed through his forefinger, then he was unconscious.

When he regained consciousness, his hand was throbbing. The pain was almost unbearable and Harry wanted to scream out his agony. He could feel the tears running down his cheeks and felt a sob rising in his throat. 

He opened his eyes and to his horror saw the man standing over him, dark hood or hat still in place.

"You want more of that or are you ready to tell me the truth?" the man said in a soft voice.

"I am telling the truth. I didn't tell anyone about the shoe."

"And why don't I believe you," came the man's immediate response. "Because I have a built-in lie detector and all the bells and whistles and alarms are going off."

Harry felt the man lift his other hand and pull at the fingers one by one. He grabbed Harry's thumb and bent it backwards till Harry screamed out in pain. 

"I think I'll remove the nail of your opposable thumb. That should make life difficult enough for you."

"No, please, don’t," Harry begged. I'm telling the truth. I promise I didn’t tell anyone about the shoe. It was just that Dr. Angelo was with me and she –" Harry stopped speaking, horrified at what he'd just revealed.

The man said slowly, "Dr. Angelo? Dr. Kate Angelo?"

"No, no, not Dr. Angelo. Nobody was there. Nobody saw anything." Harry was sobbing uncontrollably now, great hiccupping sobs that he couldn't stop. The man reached down and slapped Harry repeatedly across the face until Harry passed out. 

In a rage, the man stomped off down one of the tunnels leading away from St Sebastian, yelling toward Harry, "I'll be back to take care of you!"

It took longer this time for Harry to regain consciousness. His head was pounding and his face felt raw from the man's repeated slaps. Thankfully, he'd lost much of the feeling in the finger that lost the fingernail.

He was surprised to still be alive. He had been sure the man would kill him. Harry started to cry again as he remembered how he'd accidentally blurted out Dr. Angelo's name.

He tried to move his arms but they were firmly taped to his side with the duct tape. He tried to think how he could get himself loose but at first nothing came to mind. He had a pocket knife, an old beat-up Swiss Army knife in his tool belt but didn't know how he would be able to get at it with his arms taped to his side. 

He painfully lifted his body and agonizingly rolled to one side. He was lying on sharp rocks and he thought if he could grab one of the sharp rocks with his good hand, he might be able to tear at the duct tape. But each time he tried to grab a rock, his good hand was shaking so badly, it slipped from his grasp. His other hand, the one where the man tore off the fingernail, was numb, and he tried to not move it.

He took a deep breath and tried to calm himself down. He took another deep breath, then tried again to grab a rock. This time he was able to keep it in his hand but when he tried to saw it against the duct tape, he realized that it didn't have a sharp enough edge to do any good. So he let the rock fall from his hand and scrabbled around looking for a rock with a sharp edge. Two more times he picked up a rock thinking it was sharp enough but the rocks turned out to be as useless as the first one. Then he hit pay dirt. He found a rock with a sharp outer edge, so sharp, in fact, that he cut his finger on it and could feel himself bleeding. He ignored the cut and the pain and went to work on the duct tape that was binding his arm to his side.

It was slow going and at first, Harry didn't think he was making any progress at all. He kept trying to move his arm, to see if the tape was any looser but nothing happened. He kept sawing and sawing and after what seemed like forever, he thought he was able to move his arm more than before. This was enough encouragement to keep him at it. Minutes passed and Harry kept sawing frantically. He was so scared that the man would come back and finish him off. He had to get out of here so he could warn Dr. Angelo about the man. He couldn't let any thing happen to her. 

The rock kept slipping out of his hand because of the blood. Each time, he carefully picked up the rock and began sawing away at the duct tape. He kept taking deep breaths, trying to calm himself down. He knew if he got too frantic, he wouldn't be able to hold onto the rock. Finally, he felt the duct tape begin to slowly give way. For a few more minutes he sawed at the tape. Then, one more time he tried to move his arm and was jubilant when the tape gave way and he was able to rip it the rest of the way. 

He started to cry, then berated himself for his weakness, saying, "I have to warn Dr. Angelo, I have to warn Dr. Angelo."

With his arm finally free, he fumbled around at his tool belt, overjoyed that the man hadn't removed it or the tools. The knife was in a back pocket and Harry awkwardly reached around to free it from the belt. He had trouble opening the snap of the pouch that held the knife. His hand was slick with blood and he was afraid he'd never be able to get the snap open. Finally, he managed to pry open the pouch. He reached inside and closed his fingers around the knife, thinking he'd never felt anything so good in his life.

He dropped the knife several times before he was able to open it to the knife blade. He managed to sit up, the reached down and started to saw at the duct tape holding his feet together. He stopped abruptly when he thought he heard a sound off down one of the tunnels. The man might be coming back. That thought put terror in his heart. He lay there trembling, trying to hear if there was another sound. But he didn't hear anything. He began again to saw at the tape at his ankles. The knife blade was dull and it took longer than he thought it should. Finally, he got through the tape. 

His hands were shaking as he put the knife back in his tool belt and staggered to his feet. His legs and back ached and he was having difficulty standing up straight. He wondered how long he had been there on the floor. Then he shook his head and thought, "It doesn't matter how long I was there. What matters is me getting out of here."

He got out the flashlight and shone the beam down the tunnel. He thought he knew a shortcut back to St. Sebastian but as he headed down the tunnel, he heard a scratching noise. Thinking it might be the man returning, he quickly turned off the flashlight and pressed his body against the wall of the cave. He held his breath, listening for another sound. And then he heard a roaring shout and knew that the man had returned and discovered that his prisoner had escaped.

Harry shivered and tried to hold his breath. He thought he might be far enough away that the man wouldn't hear him but he couldn't be sure. Carefully, he took one step forward and then another. He didn't dare turn on the flashlight for fear the man would see the beam. The tunnel was pitch black, and Harry pressed against the wall, feeling his way along. He was careful as he put down each foot so that he didn't trip over the rocks littering the floor of the cave's tunnel. 

As he edged along the wall, he felt a faint stirring of air and thought he might be at one of the connecting tunnels. He wasn't sure if it was the one that led to St. Sebastian but decided to risk taking it. He eased himself around the corner, still pressed against the wall. This tunnel felt stuffier than the other one and Harry began to get concerned that he'd taken the wrong way. 

He paused to listen for any sounds. He thought he could hear a faint scratching noise somewhere in back of him but couldn't tell if it was the man or some rat or something.

Taking a deep breath, he decided to turn back to the other tunnel. He eased himself along the wall and found the tunnel he'd been in a few minutes ago. Before heading down it, hopefully toward St. Sebastian, he paused again to listen for sounds of the man. Off in the distance, he heard the scratching sound again. It scared him enough that he decided to change his plans. He had a hiding place down here in the caves that he was sure the man wouldn't be able to find.

Harry had wanted to get out of the caves as quickly as he could so he could warn Dr. Angelo about the man. He didn't want anything to happen to Dr. Angelo because she saw him pick up the red shoe.

He huddled there in the cave trying to think what to do. He decided he'd better go to his hiding place and think about it. He didn't want to take any chances that the man would find him. But he couldn’t take too long in warning Dr. Angelo. He wondered how he could get in touch with her. He didn’t have a car and didn't know how to drive anyway so he couldn't go see her. And he didn't know where she lived. Or she might still be in the hospital.

Years and years ago, when he turned 18, Harry had made a hiding place for himself in the caves. His 18th birthday had closely coincided with the closing of the Sisters of Immaculata orphanage where Harry had spent most of his childhood. For the year between the time the orphanage closed and the state took over the facility for the St. Sebastian mental hospital, Harry had scrounged and scrabbled around the neighborhood for food or for odd jobs. It had been a hard life and sometimes he got pretty hungry but Harry didn't know what else to do. He didn't have any job training and he'd just barely graduated from high school.

When the state took over the facility, Harry had periodically and carefully surfaced into the building from the caves. He hung around the basement of the building, hiding and staying out of sight, watching workers as they came and went. The weeks went by, and one night after midnight, he'd been discovered by Jake, an older man who worked there as a janitor. At first, the man had intended to turn Harry over to the authorities. But his kind heart stopped him and he'd eventually listened sympathetically to the story of the boy's life.  

Finally, the man had helped Harry get a birth certificate and a Social Security card. Then he taught Harry the rudiments of janitorial work and helped him get a job at St. Sebastian. Harry had continued to live in his hiding place in the caves, unbeknownst to anyone, telling Jake that he had a lean-to in the woods that surrounded St. Sebastian.

Jake had died last year, at the age of 80. He'd retired 10 years before that but he and Harry had stayed in touch. Jake lived in a small apartment a few blocks from St. Sebastian. A couple times a week, Harry would walk over to Jake's and they'd sit around and talk or walk down to the corner convenience store for an ice cream, one of Harry's favorite things.  When Jake died, Harry thought he'd never get over it. The old man was the only friend he'd ever had. Mostly other folks at St. Sebastian were good to him but nobody was special like Jake had been. 

Harry thought Dr. Angelo was almost as nice as Jake. He knew she'd never be a friend to him like Jake had been but he appreciated her friendliness to him. And he certainly didn't want anything bad t happen to her because of him and the red shoe.  

His hiding place was close to his secret entrance to the cave. In one of the tunnels, there was a narrow opening that was almost invisible unless you knew where it was and were specifically looking for it. Harry slid through the opening and turned on his flashlight. He walked the length of a tunnel that led to his safe place. He seldom visited it anymore, liking the little storage room office he'd created for himself. Years ago, Jake had helped rent a room in a boarding house near to Jake's apartment, and that's still where Harry lived. The boarding house was owned by an older woman and Harry felt comfortable there. His wages from St. Sebastian were small but were enough to cover the cost of his room and his meals. 

He sat huddled on an old daybed in his hiding place. He'd wrapped an old piece of fabric around the finger with the missing nail. He couldn't wrap his mind around the cruelty of someone who could rip off another human being's fingernail. Over the years, he'd come across mean people but never anything like this. 

Harry thought he'd hide out here for awhile to give the man time to search and give up when he couldn't find him. Once he thought it was safe, he'd go back into St. Sebastian and try to figure out to get in touch with Dr. Angelo to warn her. It made his head hurt to try to think about how to do this. He wasn't very good on the phone, and he didn't know how he was going to find out her number. He thought maybe he'd close his eyes for a few minutes to see if that would help his head. He drifted off to sleep but awoke with a start awhile later, frightened out of sleep by a nightmare. In the dream, the man had found him and was ripping off his other fingernails.

He felt the sweat pouring down his face and reached up his good hand to wipe it off. His head didn’t' feel any better so the sleep hadn't helped. In fact, he thought maybe the nightmare had made his head hurt more. 

He got up from the daybed and picked up his flashlight to go scrounging around the hide-out looking for one of the bottles of water he'd left there. He drank the water down in one long gulp. There were some packets of crackers there also, and he ate a couple of those. Finally, he decided it was time to leave the safety of his hide-out and get back into St. Sebastian.

When he reached the tunnel outside his hide-out, he turned off the flashlight and listened carefully for any sounds. But there was only silence and the sound of his own breathing.

He went through the secret entrance and up the stairs back into St. Sebastian’s basement. He had no idea what time of day or night it was. Awhile back he glanced down at the pocket watch that hung from his tool belt and saw that the glass face was shattered and the watch had stopped.

He went into his utility closet office and closed the door behind him. He had to figure out how to contact Dr. Angelo but still stay out of sight so no one saw his injured hand. He was also afraid the man would find him. Because he had no idea who the man was or what he looked like, he could run into him anywhere and not know it.

Harry sat down behind his battered desk trying to think what he should do. He turned on the radio to see what time it was. To his shock, it was 7 a.m. Monday morning. He’d been down in the caves more hours than he’d thought.

If it was 7 a.m., that meant that Dr. Bellamy would either be in his office already or would be arriving soon. Out in the hall was a telephone hooked to the hospital’s internal phone system. He didn’t know Dr. Bellamy’s extension and he didn’t have a staff phone book. But he could dial O and either get the hospital operator or the security guard in the main lobby. One of them would be able to call Dr. Bellamy’s office for him. 

He hesitated before going out into the hall to make the call. What would he tell Dr. .Bellamy? He couldn’t tell the man about the red shoe. He could ask the doctor for Dr. Angelo’s phone number but she might still be in the hospital. He knew she carried a cell phone so maybe he could get that number. But would the doctor give Harry any of Dr. Angelo’s numbers? Harry was not good when it came to telephones and phone calls. He seldom called anyone and when he did, it made him nervous and tense.

But this was important. He had to let Dr. Angelo know about the man. He had to let her know that he’d accidentally told the man she’d seen Harry pick up the red shoe. Finally gathering up his courage, Harry left the utility closet, closing but not locking the door behind him. He planned to come back in once he’d talked to Dr. Bellamy, to try to figure out what to do with whatever information he was able to get the doctor to give to him.

Out in the hall, he lifted the receiver of the old-fashioned wall phone, once bright red but now faded to a dull maroon. He listened for a dial tone, then pressed the O key. 

The phone rang once, twice, three times, then he heard a man’s gruff voice say “St. Sebastian.” 

Harry thought it must be the security guard who answered the phone. he tried to speak but nothing came out.

“Hello?” the guard said. “Is anybody there?”

Harry cleared his throat but still nothing came out.

“Okay, if you’re not gonna say anything, I’m hanging up.”

“Wait!” Harry managed to spit out the words. “Dr. Bellamy. I need to talk to Dr. Bellamy.”

“Well, why didn’t you say so? Hold on. I’ll ring his office. He just came in a few minutes ago. Who is this? It sounds like Harry? Is this Harry?”

“Yeah, it’s Harry.”

Okay, Harry. Hold on and I’ll call Dr. Bellamy’s office.”

14.

Kate

Monday morning

November 1, 2010

Kate had been waiting for an hour now for the transport people to take her down for her next round of tests. Last night the nurse had told her someone would be there at 7 a.m. and here it was almost 8 and still no sign of anyone. She heard the breakfast carts out in the hall and could smell bacon and coffee. But no breakfast for her, the nurse had said. She could have something to eat once all the tests were completed. 

Nick and her Mom had gone down to the cafeteria a few minutes ago and had told her they’d find the waiting room outside where she was getting her tests done and would be waiting for her.

Tentatively, she opened one eye to see if the world had stopped whirling and to her immense relief, it had. She opened the other eye and had never been so glad to see something so prosaic as a hospital room that wasn’t swirling around. She wished Nick or her Mom were there so she could share her good news with them. Maybe she’d call Nick. He’d put her cell phone on the rolling tray that was next to the bed. 

She slowly raised herself up on one elbow, wary about moving her head, afraid the dizzy whirling would start again. But so far so good. No dizziness, no whirling, no nausea, and no headache. 

She reached for her phone and saw there was a voice mail waiting for her. Last night before putting her phone on the table next to her, Nick had cleared all the previous voice messages from the phone’s memory so this must be a new one. 

She pressed the button that took her to voice mail and listened in growing puzzlement and then worry at the message. A man’s phone said hesitantly, “Dr. Angelo, I’m sorry to bother you and I hope you’re doing all right. I heard about what happened and I’m so sorry about it. Oh, you don’t know who this is. This is Harry, Harry Smith from St. Sebastian. You know, the night janitor, the one who showed you the caves.” The word caves was whispered.

“Dr. Bellamy gave me your number. He said it would be okay to leave you a message. I told him I had something I had to tell you, and he was fine with giving me your number. I hope that’s okay. Anyway, what I have to tell you is really bad. I don’t want to scare you but you have to be careful ‘cause somebody may try to hurt you.” 

Kate gasped at that part of the message, then listened tensely as Harry continued. "You know how you saw me pick up that red shoe in the cave? Well, there's this bad man who knows about the caves. He found me there tonight and somehow he made me tell him about the shoe. I didn't mean to do it but I said your name. I'm sorry and now I'm worried that the man is going to hurt you. So I wanted to warn you and tell you to be careful. I don't know who –" The message ended there, having reached the time limit for voice mails.

Kate clutched the cell phone tightly in her hand, trying to think what to do. She decided to call Nick and tell him everything about the caves and Harry's disturbing voice mail about the red shoe. But when she pressed the speed dial for Nick's cell phone, she received the double beep that meant her battery had died. She looked over at the bedside table, looking for a land line telephone but couldn't find one. She assumed that because of the proliferation of cell phones, hospitals no longer installed land lines in patients' rooms.

She used the nurse call button to summon help. But before the nurse arrived, two young men wearing Transport emblems on their scrubs came into her room. One of the young men was carrying a clipboard and he read off her name and a number and asked if he could compare the number with her hospital wrist band. 

Kate said, "Yes, certainly," and the young man compared the two numbers. 

He said, "Yep, that's you. Ready for a little ride?"

"Well," Kate said hesitantly, "actually I'd wanted to make a phone call but I guess it can wait."

"Okay, we'll just get things organized and then we'll be on our way downstairs," the young man with the clipboard said.

The other young man, the one without the clip board, put up the sides of Kate's hospital bed. He put the nurse call button on the bedside table and moved the portable IV stand into position. Then he began to move the IV stand while the other man shoved the bed into the door way. Slowly they made their way down the hall to the oversized elevator used to transport patients between floors.  They had to wait several minutes for the elevator to arrive. Kate clenched her hands together, wishing that Nick was here so she could turn her concerns over to him.

The elevator finally arrived and the two men shoved Kate's hospital bed and the IV stand into the car. Fortunately, there was no one else in the elevator because it was a tight squeeze.

The elevator slowly descended to the basement of St. Stephen's. When the door opened, Kate felt a rush of cold air and pulled the thermal blanket up around her neck. The men pushed her bed and IV stand out into the hall, then stood there for a moment while the man with the clipboard looked down at the orders to figure which way to go down the hall.

"The lab we want is to the left," he said to the other man, and the two of them turned Kate's bed in that direction. The air was cold and damp and Kate was glad she had the blanket. She had her eyes closed even though the dizzying swirling of the world had pretty much subsided. She felt the bed stop with a jerk and her eyes flew open to see what was going on. 

She heard a voice say, "Is this the Angelo patient?" There was a slight hesitation before another voice answered, "Um, yeah, Angelo is the name on the transport papers."

All three of the men were standing in such a way that Kate couldn't see their faces. She tried to turn around to look but got tangled up in the IV cord and decided to leave well enough alone.

"Well, thank heavens, I found the patient. I've been waiting here. I'll take over now. There have been some changes in the tests the docs want done."

Again, there was a hesitation before one of the transport men replied. "Well, okay, I guess. Can you just sign this transfer form here."

Kate could hear some shuffling of papers and then one of the transport men said, "Well, we'll go on back then."

There was a long silence except for the sound of receding footsteps. Again, Kate tried to see who this third man was but she couldn't see anything. Then suddenly there was a sweet smelling, dampish cloth pressed again her nose and mouth. She tried to scream but only a low growl came out of her mouth. She waved her arms and knocked the IV stand over. She tried to kick her legs but began to feel a listlessness steal over her. Frantically she flailed out her arms and thought she'd connected with her assailant when she heard a loud "Ooff" sound from somewhere behind her head. Still the man was able to keep the cloth pressed tightly against her nose and mouth. Kate tried to hold her breath so that she wouldn't succumb to whatever drug the cloth contained but after a minute she was forced to breathe and gasp for air and pull the drug fumes into her lungs. Slowly, the fight left her and she swooned back into unconsciousness. 

The man pushed the bed toward the end of the basement hallway, toward the hospital's loading dock. It was deserted and he was easily able to put the bed onto the lift and lower it to ground level. Next to the loading dock was a large paneled van. He opened the back doors of the van, then turned to rip the IV from her arm. He lifted Kate's limp body from the hospital bed and shoved her onto the floor of the van. He went around to the driver's side of the van, got in and drove off. The whole transaction had taken less than two minutes. As he drove out of the loading area of the hospital, he saw a man in what looked like janitor's uniform standing in the open bay of the loading dock, pointing down at the abandoned hospital bed with one arm and waving the other arm at the departing van. He seemed to be yelling something after the van.

15.

Nick

Monday morning

November 1, 2010

Nick and Jenny carried their breakfast trays over to a corner booth in the hospital cafeteria. They had each ordered an omelet: Western style for Nick and mushroom for Jenny.

"I feel guilty eating this," Jenny said after swallowing her first bite. "Just think of poor Katie, not being able to eat or drink anything. She must be starving."

"I know," Nick agreed, buttering a biscuit, then taking a bite. "We'll have to make it p to her. She'll make sure we do, actually."

"Nick, how worried about Kate are you?" Jenny's voice was soft as she spoke the words to her son-in-law.

Nick didn't answer right away but reached over and took Jenny's hand. "I'm worried," he finally said, "but the doctor has been straightforward with us, saying he thinks it's a simple case of positional vertigo but that he wanted to do this series of tests to rule out anything more serious."

Jenny nodded and resumed eating her omelet. "I think the hardest part for me is having anything wrong with Kate. She's been so healthy all her life, and I guess that spoiled me."

"I know what you mean," Nick agreed. "In all the years I've known her, Kate's never been sick. I can't even remember her having a cold."

"She prides herself on her good health but in a quiet way. It's so hard to see her lying in that bed." Jenny shook her head as if to shake off the thought, then finished her omelet.

The two of them talked for a few more minutes, then rode the elevator upstairs to Kate's hospital room.

Inside the room, they were disappointed to see that Kate hadn't returned yet. But Nick was glad to see that his Dad was there, sitting in one of the chairs, reading the morning paper.

"Dad, good to see you. I see that Kate's not back from those tests yet." 

Parker laid the newspaper down on his lap and looked toward his son and Jenny, smiling and saying hello. Jenny murmured a hello to Parker, then quietly excused herself and left the room.

Nick watched her leave and thought how she never seemed to stay around when his Dad was there. He filed that thought away for another time.

"We just had breakfast. Have you eaten? Can I get something for you?" Nick asked.

"Thanks, son. I ate at home. But maybe we can go get a cup of coffee. There's one of those fancy coffee kiosks in the main lobby."

"Sure, Dad. Let's just wait for Jenny to come back so she knows where we are – and so she can come along if she wants."

Parker turned back to the newspaper and said in a soft voice, "I doubt that she'll want to come with us."

Nick looked quizzically at his father, and asked, "Why would you say that? Why wouldn't Jenny come with us?"

"Oh, don't pay any attention to me," Parker answered, head still buried in the newspaper.

Nick walked over to the window, thinking about what his father had said and retrieving the thought he'd filed away for future reference about Jenny always leaving when his Dad was around. There was a mystery there, something he didn't understand. He'd always thought Parker and Jenny were friends. Years ago, Jenny had worked for Parker as his private secretary, and Nick thought they'd parted on good terms, but maybe not. He'd have to ask Kate about it.

He wondered why Kate's tests were taking so long. He debated about whether to go ask one of the nurses at the reception desk for this floor and decided he'd do that when he and his Dad went for coffee. 

Parker stood up, laying the newspaper on the chair and stretched. "Why don't you leave Jenny a note telling her we went down that yuppy kiosk for coffee?"

Nick laughed at his father's description of the coffee bar. He pulled a note pad and a pen out of his pocket and scribbled a quick note telling Jenny where they'd gone. He looked around for an appropriate place to put it and decided to put it on the door to Kate's room.

Mission accomplished," he announced to parker as they shut the door behind them and walked down the hall.

"I want to stop at then nurses' station and ask when they expect Kate back upstairs," Nick said. They had reached the desk by then and stood there waiting for someone to help them. Three nurses sat behind the counter and all three of them were currently on the phone. In a minute or so, the nurse closest to where Nick stood, a young blond who was hugely pregnant, hung up the phone and looked up at him with a cheery smile, saying, "Can I help you, sir?"

Nick explained who he was and what room his wife was in and asked if she could find out how long Kate's tests would take. She nodded, then got and went over to where the rack of patient charts stood. She thumbed through the charts once, then twice. She turned to where the other two nurses were sitting and asked if they knew where Mrs. Angelo's chart was. One of the nurses, an older woman, nodded and said, "A doctor took it awhile ago."

"What doctor?" the pregnant nurse demanded. The older nurse shook her head and said, "I have no idea. He had on a surgical mask. He came up to the desk, barked out a request for the Angelo chart, grabbed it out of my hand and took off down the stairs."

"How odd," the pregnant nurse said.

"I know," the older nurse said. "I was going to run after him to get him to sign the check-out roster but we had an emergency and I couldn't."

The pregnant nurse turned back to Nick and said, "Well, it's mystery about where your wife's chart went. I'll work on retrieving the chart. But in the meantime, let me call down to the testing lab and see how much longer your wife's tests will take."

Nick and Parker stood there waiting while the nurse called the lab. They listened in puzzlement as the nurse explained who she was asking about. She said the name several times, gave the names of the tests Kate was having administered. She finally hung up, slowly shaking her head.

"I have no idea what's going on here," the nurse said slowly. "The lab says a doctor called and cancelled the tests. The lab tech said Mrs. Angelo isn't there."

Nick looked at the nurse and said, "Not there? What does that mean?"

"It means the lab says she never showed up there, even though I saw her leave the floor with the transport staff. This makes no sense." The nurse stood up, and said firmly, "Mr. Angelo, I'm concerned about your wife. I'm calling Security."

Nick nodded, his heart pounding. "Yes, please."

Parker put his hand on Nick's arm and said, "Things will be all right, son. This must be one of those mix-ups that just happens sometimes."

"I sure hope so, Dad," Nick answered in a strangled voice.

They stood there at the reception desk, not talking, while the nurse called the hospital's Security department.

"What are you two doing?" 

Nick whirled around at the voice, thinking it was Kate, but it was Jenny. He'd never really noticed how much alike their voices sounded.

Nick reached out a hand to Jenny and drew her in close. "Now, don’t worry but there seems to be one of those mix-ups about Kate and her tests." Nick explained what was going on and Jenny frowned and said, "I don’t understand how this could have happened." 

"We'll figure this out, "Nick promised in a reassuring voice. 

The pregnant nurse hung up the phone and turned to Nick. "Mr. Angelo, the head of our Security department is on his way upstairs to meet with you and your family. His name is Dick Jamison and he asked me to ask you to return to Mrs. Angelo's room and wait for him there."

Nick nodded and thanked the nurse, then turned and headed back to Kate's room, followed closely by Jenny, with Parker bringing up the rear.

When Nick reached Kate's door, he removed the note he'd left for Jenny, crumpled it into a ball and shoved it in his pocket. Jenny saw his actions and reached out to pat him on the arm. "It will be all right, Nick. Please don't be upset."

Nick opened the door and stood back to let Jenny and his father precede him into the room. He said to Jenny as she walked past him, "It has to be all right, you know. Kate is my life."

"And mine, too," said Jenny in return, "mine, too."

Inside Kate's room, Jenny sat down in one of the chairs next to the empty area where Kate's hospital bed had been, clutching her handbag tightly in both hands. Nick and Parker stood in the middle of the room, as if staying on their feet might help. Jenny looked up at Nick and said, "This makes no sense. How could a patient get lost in a well-run hospital like this?"

Parker spoke for the first time since Jenny had joined them at the reception desk. "I suppose things like this happen but I agree that the situation makes no sense."

"Especially the part about the doctor making off with Kate's chart?"

"What's that?" Jenny asked.

Nick explained to her what they'd learned before she joined them at the reception desk.

"Nick, I don't like the sound of that, "Jenny said with a note of deep concern in her voice. "Why would a doctor disappear with Kate's medical chart. That's not the way hospitals work."

"I agree," Parker said, speaking directly to Jenny. He turned to Nick and said, "Son, we need to do something about this right now. Where is that Security guy? He should have been here by now."

As if on cue, the door opened and a tall, muscular man stood in the doorway for a moment, filling the opening. He looked around the room, then came into the room, closing the door behind him. 

"Good morning," he said to the three of them, his deep voice filling the room. "I'm Dick Jamison, head of Security for the St. Stephen's Hospital."

Nick reached out a hand to the man, saying, "I'm Nick Angelo. It's my wife, Kate Angelo, who's missing. This is Kate's mother, Jenny Rigden, and my father, Parker Angelo."

Dick Jamison nodded at Jenny, then turned to Parker and said, "Parker Angelo of Dynatron?"

Parker said yes, reaching out to shake the man's hand. "Pleased to meet you Mr. Angelo. I believe you know my father? Walter Jamison of Jamison Security?"

"Yes, of course," Parker answered. "They handle security for the firm. I know your father quite well." Parker stopped, about to say something else but evidently thinking better of it."

Dick Jamison chuckled, saying, "I know what you're thinking. Why don't I work for my father's firm? Well, it's one of those independent things."

Parker chuckled in return, saying, "I'm well aware of independent things." He nodded in Nick's direction. 

Jamison nodded in acknowledgement, then turned to Nick. "I stopped at the nurse's station on my way here, and they filled me in on what happened with your wife -- the fact that she's not down in the lab and that an unknown doctor removed her chart. I've put out an alert to the security guards throughout the hospital. I've also sent an emergency page through our system to all hospital staff about a missing patient. Don't worry -- we'll hear something shortly and your wife will be safely back in this room."

"That's good to hear, Mr. Jamison," Jenny said, speaking for the first time since the man entered the room. "I'm so worried about my daughter." She stood up and came over to stand beside Nick. He put a comforting arm around her shoulders, and she leaned into her son-in-law, as if trying to draw strength from him.

Jamison's cell phone rang and he pulled it out of his jacket pocket. "Jamison," he said into the phone. He listened for a moment, then turned to Nick and said, "Excuse me for a moment," and left the room.

Nick said, "Dad, do you think we need to call the police or should we wait to see what Jamison and his people do?"

"Let's see what he has to say when he comes back in the room. If he doesn't have news for us, I'll insist that he contact the police immediately."

A minute later, Dick Jamison returned to the room, cell phone in hand, but with a seriously worried look on his face. 

He spoke to Nick, saying, "Two of my security guards followed up with the patient transport service and talked to the two employees assigned to take your wife downstairs. The told us that a doctor wearing a surgical mask intercepted them outside the testing lab and told them that the doctor's orders had changed, and he would take care of your wife. He signed off on her transport papers and told the two transport employees that they could go back to the office, which they did. The description they gave of the doctor matches the description the nurse gave of the doctor who took Mrs. Angelo's chart."

"Oh, no," the words came involuntarily from Jenny. Nick still had his arm around her and he gave her a squeeze and said, "There, there. It's going to be all right." But the dismal expression on his face didn't agree with his optimistic words.

"Mr. Angelo, I've called the county police. They're sending out a team of detectives who should be here shortly."

"Thank you," Nick and Parker said in unison.

Nick suspected that the Angelo name had something to do with the quick action on the part of the police but he didn't mind. To find Kate, he'd willingly use all the pull and influence his father could muster. He shot a glance over at Parker and thought that his father was probably thinking the same thing.

Jamison said, "I'm going to see if the conference room down the hall is available for us to use. I'll be back in a minute."

Jenny started to cry but tried unsuccessfully to stop her tears. Nick patted her shoulder and looked over at his father for help. Parker gave a slight shrug, then came over to stand next to Jenny and Nick.

"Jenny?" Parker's voice was soft, his tone gentle. 

Jenny sniffed, wiped her eyes with the tissue clutched in her hand and said, "Yes, Parker?"

He reached out a hand and placed it lightly on her arm. "Trust us, Jenny. We will find Kate. She means the world to all of us, and I will do whatever it takes to get her back safely."

His words brought on a fresh bout of tears from Jenny, who buried her face in her hands and sobbed. Both Nick and Parker stood helpless for a moment then they both began to pat her on the back to try to comfort her. Finally, her sobs lessened, then stopped. Jenny sniffed once, then again, and finally went over to the bedside table to grab a generous handful of tissues. She blew her nose once and then once again. She wiped her eyes, looked at Nick, then at Parker, then back at Nick.

"Thank you both. I appreciate your help and --" another sob came from Jenny but she took a deep breath to prevent any further sobs. "It's time for me to buck up and be the strong mother Kate needs me to be." Jenny's voice was firm and determined. 

Jamison stuck his head in the door and said, "The conference room is available -- if you'll just follow me?"

Jenny quickly walked over to the chair where she'd been sitting and picked up her handbag and the carryall she'd brought with her, then joined the men out in the hall. She was surprised to see the hallway lined with carts holding lunch trays for the patients. She glanced down at her watch and saw it was almost noon. She'd thought it was a lot earlier. That meant Kate had been missing for almost four hours -- or more.

Dick Jamison led them down the hall, past the bank of elevators, then through a series of swinging doors. Jenny wondered if they were ever going to reach the conference room. She was glad she'd worn her comfortable walking shoes instead of heels. At last, Jamison halted outside a set of double doors. A group of men stood around the entrance, two in uniform, the rest in suits or jackets and ties.

Jamison opened the double doors and led the way inside. He asked Jenny, Nick and Parker to sit at the head of the table and directed the men to the other seats. One of them, a white-haired man in his fifties came over to where Jamison stood and extended his hand.

"I'm Tom Travis, chief of detectives here in the county."

Jamison shook his hand and said, "Dick Jamison, head of security here at St. Stephens."

Travis gave Jamison a questioning look, and Jamison nodded, saying, "Yes, I'm related to that Jamison. Walter Jamison, owner of Jamison Security is my dad."

"Hmm," was Travis's only response. 

Jamison went over to where Jenny, Nick and Parker were seated and asked for everyone's attention. He introduced Jenny, Nick and Parker to Tom Travis and the other men in the room, and then asked Travis to introduce his men.

When the introductions were complete, Jamison invited everyone still standing to take a seat. He quickly gave them the few facts they had.  Most of the men had pads of paper in hand and were taking notes. Jamison went over the timeline of the disappearance of Dr. Angelo, as he called Kate – how she went down for tests and hadn't been seen since. He gave them the description they had of the mysterious man dressed as a doctor, in scrubs and a surgical mask and cap. "He's tall, over six feet, broad shoulders, dark hair we think, although his head was covered with a surgical cap. Clean-shaven, no facial hair. One of the transport guys noticed that the guy was wearing an expensive silver watch on his right wrist. None of the people who heard him speak heard any kind of accent and said there was nothing distinctive about his voice.

Tom Travis turned to Nick and asked, "Mr. Angelo, do you know of any reason why someone would kidnap your wife? Does she have any enemies? Any problems with patients? I understand she's a therapist at St. Sebastian Mental Hospital."

Nick thought for a moment, then shook his head. "Not that I know of. Of course, she can't tell me about her work or her patients because of patient confidentiality. But I would have known if she was upset or worried about something, and she wasn't."

Chief Travis turned to Jenny's mother and asked, "Mrs. Rigden, do you know of any problems your daughter might have been having with patients or even friends? Anything at all?"

Jenny shook her head slowly, saying, "No, there's nothing that I know of. But I have to agree with Nick. She wouldn't have told me anything about her patients, no matter what."

Travis nodded, then asked, "Does anyone have a picture of Dr. Angelo that we could use? We need to distribute her photo throughout the St. Louis area."

Jenny said she had one in her handbag, and began to dig through its contents. She found a small photo in a silver frame and handed it to Chief Travis. 

He took it from her and said, "We’ll take good care of it. We'll scan it into our system, enlarge it and get the original back to you as soon as possible."

Jenny nodded her head and snapped her handbag shut.

Travis stood up and said, "Jamison, I need to talk to you out in the hall." Jamison followed Travis out of the room. Jenny turned to Nick and asked, "What's that all about?"

Nick shook his head slowly, saying, "I have no idea. Whatever it is, they didn't want us to hear it."

The other detectives were whispering to one another and Nick tried to eavesdrop but the whispers weren't loud enough.

Five minutes later, Travis and Jamison re-entered the room and came over to stand by Nick and his father and mother-in-law.

"Mr. Angelo, we'd like to request that you stay here at the hospital for a few hours or a day while we investigate your wife's disappearance. We're going to set up this conference room as a command center. Mr. Jamison has arranged for a room for you to stay in for the duration."

Nick looked over at Jenny and his father, a question in his eyes. They both nodded and Nick turned back to Travis and Jamison.

"I'd like my mother-in-law and father to stay also. Is that possible?" 

Travis looked to Jamison for an answer. Jamison nodded and answered, "Certainly. We can arrange for two additional rooms."

"Just one," Nick said. "My Dad and I can share."

Jamison and Travis nodded at the three of them, and then Jamison said to Travis, "I'll get the computer equipment you wanted brought up here."

"Good," Travis said. "I'm sending some of my men back to headquarters to get the other things we need. I think we should be all set up in an hour or an hour and a half."

He turned back to Nick, and said, "Do the three of you need to go home to get some things?"

Nick said, "No, we've been spending the night so we have some things with us. I can get us whatever we need from the gift shop downstairs." He paused, "Unless there's something you need, Jenny?"

"No, I'm fine, dear. And like you said, whatever we need we can get from downstairs. I just don’t think I could bear to leave here without Kate." Nick squeezed her hand, and she smiled up at him.

16.

Harry

Monday afternoon

November 1, 2010

After getting Dr. Angelo's office and cell phone numbers from Dr. Bellamy, Harry had gone upstairs to the main lobby of St. Sebastian. In an alcove next to the entrance were two public telephones. Harry had several quarters in his pocket and thought that would be enough to make the phone calls. The first phone he tried was not working and he lost two of his quarters. He went to the other phone and put the quarters in and was happy to hear a dial tone. He first called her home phone and then her cell phone, leaving the same message for Dr. Angelo on both phones' voice mail. He hoped she got the message and was being careful to stay out of the way of the bad man. 

Mission complete, Harry had gone back down to the basement to his utility room office. He wasn't sure what to do next. He didn't know if it was safe for him to stay at St. Sebastian. Maybe he should head back to his hiding place. Sitting behind his desk, he turned on the little radio to see what time it was. A local newscast had just started, and Harry was shocked to hear the newscaster say Dr. Angelo's name. Harry concentrated on the newscast, listening closely to the man's words.

"This just in from a confidential source at St. Louis County Police Headquarters. Dr. Kate Angelo, a local therapist at St. Sebastian Mental Hospital in South County has disappeared from St. Stephen Hospital, also located in South County."

The newscaster paused in his announcement to clear his throat, then continued. 

"Dr. Angelo was taken to St. Stephen Hospital Saturday night after an altercation with a St. Sebastian patient. Dr. Angelo was under observation and was supposed to be undergoing a battery of tests when she disappeared early this morning.

"County police and hospital security have set up a command post at St. Stephen. We'll keep you updated. One interesting side note about Dr. Kate Angelo concerns her family connections. Dr. Angelo is married to Nick Angelo, well-known and well-read columnist for the Post-Dispatch. Nick Angelo is the son of Dynatron CEO Parker Angelo. Dr. Angelo's mother is one of St. Louis' well-known mystery fiction writers, Jenny Rigden. Quite a family background for our missing Dr, Angelo.

"And now for the local weather forecast."

Harry reached out a trembling hand, his good, unbandaged hand, to turn off the radio. His hand was slick with sweat and he had trouble turning the knob to the office position. He just wanted to stop the newscaster's voice so he could think.

The bad man had found Dr. Angelo and taken her. What should he do? He thought about going upstairs to the lobby pay phones and calling the police but then hesitated. This was his fault. He was the one who accidentally told the bad man about Dr. Angelo seeing the red shoe. He was the one who would have to do something about this.

Harry stood up and started toward the door to the utility closet but then halted. He would do something about Dr. Angelo's disappearance but to do so he would need some special stuff. He thought about what he would need, then went back to the battered desk to retrieve a few things. In the bottom desk drawer, way at the back, was a locked metal box that he'd gotten at the nearby Goodwill store. Inside was a special thing that had belonged to his friend Jake. When Jake died, his landlord had given all this belongings to Harry. Jake didn't have a will or anything because he didn't have much but he'd asked his landlord to make sure that Harry Smith got his stuff.

Harry had hauled some of the things back to his rooming house but had brought most of it back to his office in St. Sebastian. He'd been shocked at one of the items that belonged to Jake and that was the one in the locked metal box. 

Harry had made a special trip to Goodwill looking for a way to lock something up. He'd thought about getting a file cabinet but decided that was too big. He'd been happy to find the metal box that had a padlock with a set of keys. He decided that would work perfectly. 

Now, Harry set the metal in the middle of the desk. He went over to make sure the door was locked. Hardly anyone ever came in here but he didn't want to take any chances. 

Satisfied that he wa safe from prying eyes, he went back to the desk. He lifted the key ring he kept on his tool belt and found the small brass key that opened the box's padlock. He noticed that his hands were shaking, causing him to fumble with the lock. He took a deep breath, and then a second one. It seemed to help the trembling of his hands. 

Once again he put the key in the padlock and turned it. The lock opened and Harry removed it from the hasp and set in on the desk beside the metal box. He opened the lid and reached in to lift out a lumpily wrapped package. He unwrapped the old tee shirt that he'd used and put one of the items that lay inside down on the desk, next to the metal box. It was a highly polished 22 caliber pistol. Then he removed the other thing, a box of Winchester 22 caliber bullets. Jake had kept the gun and the bullets under his mattress and Harry had found them when he was removing the sheets and blankets from the bed.

Harry had never loaded the gun but decided to give it a try. If he was going to help Dr. Angelo, he would do whatever it took.

He picked up the pistol and turned it over and over in his hands, looking for whatever was used to hold the bullets. He'd had cap guns and toy pistols when he was a boy and he knew that real guns had something that opened up and into which you put bullets.

He twisted a ridged part of the gun and it opened in his hands. He saw slots where the bullets would go. He put the gun down on the desk and opened the box of bullets. Carefully he lifted one bullet and slowly slid it into the first slot. He proceeded to do the same with five more bullets. He closed the ridged section and it made a loud clicking sound.

He put the gun in the leather pouch hanging on his toolbelt, the same pouch that had held the red shoe that started all this. Turning out the light in the utility closet and locking the door behind him, he quickly went down the stairs that led to the entrance to the caves. That was where he would find the man. And hopefully that was where he would find Dr. Angelo.

17.

Nick

Monday afternoon

November 1, 2010

Nick and Jenny were seated in the conference room, not talking, just sitting there frightened for Kate. Jenny turned to Nick and said, "Do you have Kate's purse and cellphone?"

Nick shook his head and said, "No, there still somewhere in her hospital room. Thank you for thinking of that. I'll go get them."

"I'll come with you, sweetie, if you don’t mind the company. It's driving me crazy just sitting here with nothing to do."

"Glad to have you, Miss Jenny. Let's go." 

Nick turned to his Dad with a questioning look, saying, "Dad, you wanna come with?"

"Thanks, son, but no. I have to call your mother and give her an update and I also have to check in with the office. I'll just stay here."

Nick and Jenny rode the elevator down to the floor where Kate's room was and walked down the long hallway.

"It feels good to stretch my legs," Jenny said. "I get antsy if I sit around too long."

"Me, too," Nick agreed. 

Inside the hospital room, Jenny located Kate's handbag on the top shelf of one of the closets. Nick found her cell phone on the bedside table. He tried to turn it on but got just a dead screen.

"The battery must have died," he said.

"That's not like Kate," Jenny said. "She's super conscientious about keeping her phone charged because the hospital might call her." She began to fumble around in her carryall. After a moment, she said, "Here it is! I was certain it would be here."

She drew out a charging cable and handed it to Nick. 

He shook his head and said, "You have everything and anything in that bag of yours." But there was no smile on his face, like there would normally be. He was worried to death about his wife and Jenny shared his fear for Kate.

Nick found a wall outlet and plugged one end of the charger in and inserted the other end in Kate's cell phone.

Wordlessly, they both took seats on the chairs pulled up next to Kate's bed. Nick held the phone in his hand, watching as the phone indicated its charge status. They sat there silently, absorbed in their deep concern for Kate.

Finally, Nick unplugged the charger from the phone and then from the wall outlet and handed it back to Jenny.

"I'm going to check her call log and voice mail and see if there's anything unusual there."

Jenny nodded and watched as Nick manipulated the phone. It was one of the newer touch screen models and Jenny was amazed at how fast Nick's finger flew around the screen. She'd been considering a new, higher-tech phone but wondered whether she'd be able to learn how to use it. Kate had helped her set up her current phone so maybe Katie could do that for her again. She drew in a breath at the thought that Kate might not ever be able to do anything for her again.

"What is it?" Nick asked.

"Nothing. I'm just panicked about our girl." Jenny answered.

"I know. I'm barely holding it together."

Nick held Kate's cell phone up to his ear, saying, "There's a voice mail on here from this morning. I'll put it on speaker so you can hear it, too."

Nick pressed a couple of keys and then a man's voice sounded from the phone. The words had a tentative, scared tone, and Nick and Jenny stared at one another as they listened. 

When the words "red shoe" came out of the phone, Jenny groaned, "Oh, my God. A red shoe. Isn’t that what Sami Wade had on when they found her body?"

"Yes, it was." Nick pressed a key on the phone so they could listen again to the message. When they'd heard it through the second time, Nick stood and said, "Come on, we have to get this upstairs right now to the police."

Jenny stood also and they hurried out of the room. Jenny asked, "What was that about caves? Do you know anything about caves?"

By then, they'd reached the bank of elevators and Nick was punching the up button repeatedly as if his repetition would speed the elevator to this floor.

At first, Nick didn't answer, then he said slowly, " For years, I've heard rumors about caves  but never anything concrete. We're in an area that's conducive to caves and tunnels. It's all the limestone and the two major rivers." He paused for a moment, then continued. "You know when my brother and I were growing up, he bragged once that he'd found some wonderful caves but he'd never tell me where they were. In fact, later he denied he'd ever said anything about caves. You know how he and I are not close so that might have just been a lie on his part. He lied a lot then, and I guess he probably still does."

"He never gave a hint of where the caves were located?" Jenny asked.

"No, not that I can remember. But I'm thinking if this Harry Smith from St. Sebastian is talking about caves, they might be located somewhere around the mental hospital." Nick stopped talking, to punch the elevator's up button once again.

"Where is that damn elevator?" Nick growled, just as one ding sounded, signaling that the up elevator had finally arrived.

When Nick and Jenny walked into the conference room, it was to a noisy, confusing assemblage of men and equipment, quite different from the silent,. almost empty room they'd left a few minutes ago.

Nick looked around at the various men, looking for the St. Stephen security chief Dick Jamison or Tom Travis, the chief of detectives. He finally spotted them in an alcove of the room, deep in conversation. Nick and Jenny joined the two men, and Nick said briskly, "Sorry to interrupt, gentlemen, but we've discovered something important on my wife's cell phone."

Jamison and Travis turned their attention to the phone Nick held in his hand. "What is it, Mr. Angelo?" Travis asked. 

"There's a voice mail on it from this morning. It's from someone named Harry Smith at St Sebastian. He's talking about some caves. But the most worrisome thing is that he mentions a red shoe."

Travis stared at Nick, saying slowly, "Did you say a red shoe?"

"Yes," Nick answered. "A red shoe, like the one found on Sami Wade's body."

"Let's hear this message," Travis said, his words almost a demand." 

Nick once again manipulated the cell phone and put the voice mail message on speaker.

“Dr. Angelo, I’m sorry to bother you and I hope you’re doing all right. I heard about what happened and I’m so sorry about it. Oh, you don’t know who this is. This is Harry, Harry Smith from St. Sebastian. You know, the night janitor, the one who showed you the caves.

“Dr. Bellamy gave me your number. He said it would be okay to leave you a message. I told him I had something I had to tell you, and he was fine with giving me your number. I hope that’s okay. Anyway, what I have to tell you is really bad. I don’t want to scare you but you have to be careful ‘cause somebody may try to hurt you. 

"You know how you saw me pick up that red shoe in the cave? Well, there's this bad man who knows about the caves. He found me there tonight and somehow he made me tell him about, the shoe. I didn't mean to do it but I said your name. I'm sorry and now I'm worried that the man is going to hurt you. So I wanted to warn you and tell you to be careful. I don't know who –" 

The message ended there. "Play it again," Travis said, this time very clearly a demand.

Nick did as he was instructed and played the message again. The four of them listened intently.

As the message ended, Travis reached out a hand toward Nick and the cell phone and said, "May I take that?" It sounded like a question but it was clearly a demand.

Nick hesitated a moment but then handed Kate's cell phone to the detective.

"Thank you," Travis said. "We’ll see that you get it back. Is there a password or a code on it?"

"No," Nick answered, "there isn't."

Travis walked over to one of the long tables where a couple of young men in casual clothes sat in front of an array of computers and other equipment Nick couldn't identify. Travis handed the phone to one of the men and gave him instructions. Then Travis walked back to where Nick, Jenny and Jamison stood.

"My men are going to trace the origin of the call. It will take just a moment." Travis had just finished speaking when one of the young men called out to him, "Captain Travis, e have it."

Once again Travis left group to join the two young men. Travis listened carefully to their report, nodding his head once and then again. 

Jamison, Nick and Jenny stood silently at the other side of the room, waiting for the detective's return, their eyes on him and his two men.

Travis joined them again, a satisfied look on his face. The call came from a pay phone at St. Sebastian. We're heading out there right now."

Nick turned to Jenny and said, "I'm going out there with them. I want you to go find my father and tell him I would very much appreciate it if he would look after you." 

Jenny started to protest but was interrupted by Parker's deep voice. "I'm right here son, and of course I'll watch after Jenny. You go do what you have to do."

Travis cleared his throat and said, "Mr. Angelo," and got the immediate attention of both the older and the younger "Mr. Angelo."

"Yes?" they both said in unison. 

"Uh, Mr. Nick Angelo," Travis said. "I'm sorry, sir, but you can't accompany us out to St. Sebastian. It's not appropriate for a civilian."

"But I'm not a civilian," Nick responded. "I'm a reporter for the Post-Dispatch." He quickly removed his press credentials form his wallet and put them up close to Travis's face. Travis involuntarily took a half step back, then straightened and took the credentials from Nick's outstretched hand."

"Hmmm," Travis said, and Nick thought he detected the briefest of smiles flash across the detective's face. "Well, Mr. Angelo, your press credentials seem in order. Actually, if you like, you can ride with us out there. No need to take so many vehicles."

Nick felt a sense of relief. He had to be doing something. It would have driven him up the wall if Travis had made him stay behind here at the command post.

Nick reached over and gave Jenny a hug and then gave one to Parker. "I'll let you know as soon as we know anything.

"Thank you, son, we appreciate it. And don’t worry a bout Jenny. I'll take good care of her."

Travis went over and talked to several of his men, including some uniformed officers. They all walked out together and Travis motioned to Nick to follow them.

Jamison shook his head a bit ruefully and said to Jenny and Parker. "I'd sure like to be going with them."

"Me, too," Parker and Jenny said in unison.

Evil

He kept to the speed limit as headed toward the hunting lodge. His cargo was safely sedated and trussed up in the back of the van. 

His plans had gone off without a hitch. It had all worked perfectly. Once he had Kate in the back of the panel van he'd stolen from one of the downtown St. Louis parking garages, he'd taped her mouth with duct tape, then duct taped her arms and legs to the gurney.

He'd left his Jaguar in the same downtown parking garage. He'd retrieve it when he'd finished with Kate.

He smiled as he remembered her shocked face when he'd removed his surgical mask, glasses and the cap covering his head. She'd recognized him and he thought she must be horror-struck. That was a good moment. He'd taken a hypodermic needle from a jacket pocket and shoved it into Kate's thigh. The sedative was fact-acting and in moments Kate's eyes closed and her breathing slowed. She would be out for awhile, long enough for him to easily carry her down into the caves. Once he had her there, the fun would really  begin.

He'd hated this woman from the moment he met her as his brother's 16-year-old girlfriend. He knew she'd taken the same instant dislike to him as he had to her.

Fortunately, he'd had to see very little of her. He spent most of his time away at school or on trips with his mother. Theirs was a broken family, just the way he preferred it, 

He'd wondered about the instant mutual antipathy between him and Kate. He thought she may have intuitively recognized the evil in him.

Over the years, he'd seen Kate at the few family occasions he'd attended, always at the insistence of his mother.  He and Victoria had a sick, symbiotic mother-son relationship that suited him. She had a strange hold over him that he didn't try to understand, he just accepted it. And for his part, he was a master manipulator of his mother.

He ignored his father, sister and twin brother, seeing them only when Victoria forced him. And he knew they avoided him in much the same way and for the same reasons he avoided them.

Each time he'd seen Kate, it had reinforced his hatred of her and his resolution that one day, when he was well and truly ready, she would be one of his victims. And now that time had come. Because of Sami Wade and Harry Smith and the caves, Kate had to die. She could possibly connect the caves and the hunting lodge to Sami's death and the hunting lodge would connect him. Perhaps the time for Kate's death had come sooner than he'd anticipated and for a more specific reason than he'd thought he'd have. 

But so be it. And he was certainly looking forward to killing her, after the necessary preliminaries, of course. Her shock and horror at his identity had been the first glimpse of the pleasure that lay ahead for him. 

He planned to torture her with what he had planned for his twin brother. He surmised that she might fear the thought of Nick's death more so than her own. That kind of love and devotion was beyond his understanding. As far as he could remember, he'd never had any feelings for another human being. His only concern was himself.  He was pleased with himself and with his life. 

He turned on the van's radio and scanned the stations, looking for the classical music he loved. He and Victoria had season tickets to the Symphony, box seats of course, in the optimal acoustic location in Powell Hall.

Then he remembered that St. Louis' one classical music station had been sold to a group that played only Christian music. He banged a fist on the dashboard, in frustration over  things over which he had no control.

He could imagine the hue and cry that must have arisen over Kate's abduction. He wished he could have been a fly on the wall to observe Nick's despair. That would have given him great pleasure. He supposed his hatred of his brother was the strongest emotional attachment or detachment that he had. Nick was the golden boy, the perfect one, the one everyone loved and admired. 

Hurting Nick by killing Kate would be almost as satisfying as eventually killing Nick. He exited the highway and turned onto the back road that led to the hunting lodge. Eventually he reached the private road that was on the lodge's property. Once upon a time, it had been a rutted gravel road but he had it paved with asphalt.

He grinned as he thought how his family had no idea all the improvements he'd made at the hunting lodge. He thought they'd probably all forgotten it even existed. He'd been the only one who'd liked the place, who'd spent time there with his grandfather.

One of him improvements had been the installation of a radio-activated security gate. As he approached the gate, he pulled the remote opener from his jacket pocket and pointed it at the gate. The gate slid smoothly open and he drove the van through, then used the remote to close the gate behind him. 

He kept the remote in his hand as he drove up to the lodge's garage, another one of his improvements. The same remote opened the garage door. He drove inside and shut the door behind him. 

Fifteen minutes later, he had Kate securely ensconced in his work area in the caves. She was still unconscious and he tried to decide if he should wait until she regained consciousness to remove the duct tape over her mouth. That would certainly be painful. The he thought that pain might bring her around so he ripped off the tape. 

And it had the desired effect. Kate's eyes flew open and she uttered a low moan. He smiled as he saw the fear that filled her eyes.

"Jason?" He heard his name on her lips and slapped her across the face. 

"You will never again say my name. Do you understand?"

There was no response from Kate, and he once again slapped her.

Kate nodded, and mumbled, "I understand." 

Jason stared at her and wondered exactly what it was she understood.


18.
Meggie
Monday morning November 1,2010
Inside the hunting lodge, Meggie thought she heard the sound of an engine. She stood behind the drapes of the sliding glass door, watching as the white panel van drove up to the hunting lodge and pulled into the garage.
She stood there in shock, having recognized the driver of the van as her brother Jason.
"Oh, my God," she thought to herself. "What is he up to?" Frantically, she looked around the great room of the hunting lodge, looking for a hiding place. Off to one side of the room was a door that looked like it might lead to a closet. She tiptoed across the hardwood floors, praying that none of the boards would creak under her footsteps. She reached the door and carefully turned the knob. The door led not to a closet but to a large walk-in pantry. She went through the door and closed it almost all the way shut behind her. She left it open just a crack, just enough to be able to see through it across the great room.
She heard the door open and peered out to see Jason emerging from what must be the door that led to tht garage. Over his shoulder, he carried a bundle or something that at first she couldn't identify. Then she almost gasped out loud when she realized he had a body slung over his shoulder. She gaped in horror as she realized that it was her sister-in-law, Nick's wife Kate.
Jason walked out of the great room and into what Meggie surmised was the kitchen. She heard a door open and then footsteps that sounded as though they were going down a flight of steps - the basement, she thought.
She stood there in the pantry, trying to breathe slowly and not make a sound. What on earth was Jason doing with Kate? And why was she seemingly unconscious?
Meggie was terrified and tried to calm her racing thoughts to figure out what to do. She didn't have a eel] phone - Mother Superior didn't permit them. The rental car had a phone built into it so she supposed that was her best bet to call for help, if the lodge didn't have a phone or if should couldn't get to it or find it. She hesitated to emerge from the pantry, fearful that Jason may have come up from the basement. But she hadn't heard any sounds indicating that he was back upstairs.
Slowly, she pushed open the door an inch, then a few more inches. She listened, focusing on the direction Jason had headed but there was no sound to be heard. Emboldened now, she pushed the door halfway open and started to emerge when the door was wrenched out of her grasp and Jason stood there glaring at her, towering over her.
"What the hell are you doing here, Sister Meggie?" He reached out and grabbed her upper arm, dragging her out of the pantry.
She stumbled as he yanked at her and fell to her knees. Jason lifted his foot and kicked her over all the way.

She lay there, looking up at her brother, heart and head pounding. She could feel an ache in her chest where his foot had landed.
"I asked you what you're doing here." Jason's voice was harsh and demanding.
Meggie rose to a half-sitting, half-kneeling position and tried to answer. "I - " she stopped, coughed, then started again. "I wa in the park next to the woods that surround the lodge, and I thought I'd explore."
"Oh, you thought you would explore, did you? So what led you to break in here?"
Meggie shook her head and said, "I didn't break in. One of the doors was open and I came in."
Jason demanded, "Why were you hiding in the pantry?"
"I wasn't hiding," Meggie said, but her voice trembled at the lie. She'd never been a very convincing liar and she wondered now if Jason remembered that or if he'd even known it.
He looked at her with narrowed eyes, "You're lying." The words came out in a flat, accusatory tone.
Meggie didn't answer, intuiting that arguing with Jason would be futile. She sat down on the floor and rubbed her chest when Jason had kicked her.
"What did you see?" he demanded.
Meggie hesitated, not knowing whether to admit she'd seen him carrying Kate. She knew she was in deep trouble with her brother, and she was well and truly frightened. She'd been so close to escaping.
*
Jason reached down and grabbed Meggie's arm, then yanked her to a standing position. "I asked you what you saw."
The pain in her arm where he had grabbed her and the pain in her chest brought tears to her eyes. She quickly blinked them back, not wanting to give Jason the satisfaction of seeing her cry.
She bowed her head, said a quick prayer asking for the ability to lie, and said, "Jason, I don't know what you're asking. The door was open. I came in here to look around. I don't know what I was supposed to have seen." She thought her answer sounded plausible but with Jason, you never knew how he'd react or what he was thinking.
"Hmmm, well, that's interesting. I'll tell you what. Why don't you come with me? I have something to show you." Meggie shook her head, saying, "No, I have to get back home. Mom is expecting me."
"Oh, really?" Jason responded. "That's odd. I talked with her awhile ago and she said you'd stormed out of the house, saying you refused to stay there. So why would she be expecting you?"
Meggie sighed in defeat, and said, "Jason, let go of my arm. I'm not interested in whatever it is you want to show me. I'm leaving."
"Well, dear Sister Meggie, no, you're not. You're coming with me. You can do it the easy way or the hard way - it's your choice."
Meggie wrenched herself away from Jason's grasp and headed toward the door she'd used to come in the lodge. It took her a moment to slide it open. By the time she'd opened it far enough to slip through, Jason had run over to grab her once again.

She felt his grasp on her arm and reached out to scratch his hand. He yelped at the pain, then swung a fist at her face, and that was the last thing she remembered.
Later, how much later she had no idea, she opened her eyes to find herself in a dimly lit, damp-smelling area. She tried to move her arms and then her legs and found they were tightly bound with what she thought might be duct tape. She seemed to be secured to a cot but couldn't tell for sure. Fortunately, her mouth wasn't taped shut. She shouted out a loud, "Help! Help!" She listened to hear if anyone answered and was shocked to hear a faint, tentative voice from across the area respond. "Who's there?"
Meggie was silent for a moment, then answered, "My name is Meggie Angelo. Who are you?"
"Oh my God, Meggie?" came the instant response.
"Who is it?" Meggie asked frantically, knowing the voice was familiar but not able to recognize it.
"It's me, Kate."
"Kate? You're in the hospital. You can't be here."
For moment there's was no response, then Kate let out a muted sob and said, "God, I wish I weren't here. How did you get here?"
Meggie said, "Like a stupid fool, I did some exploring and came upon the family's old hunting lodge. Evidently my evil brother Jason is using it and he's up to no good, that's for sure."
"You can say that again," Kate said. "He kidnapped me from St. Stephen's. I was on my way to have some tests done. The transport personnel had taken me down to the basement and were about to take me to the lab when Jason came along and took me away. At the time, I didn't know it was Jason. He had on a surgical mask and a surgical cap so he wasn't recognizable. He got me out of the hospital and here to the caves."
-"Caves?" Meggie asked. "Is that where we are? In some caves?"
"Yes," Kate replied. "It turns out that there's a whole complex of hidden caves that stretch from St. Sebastian all the way to the Angelo hunting lodge. It's really weird because on Saturday, right before the incident with the patient, one of the St. Sebastian janitors brought me down here to the caves to give me a private tour. He swore me to secrecy, telling me no one knew about them. But evidently, evil Jason knows about them. And here's the worst part. I think Jason is the one who murdered that cocktail waitress, Sami Wade. Had you heard about that?"
"Yes, Meggie said."It was on some newscast Iwatched."
"Well, the janitor left a voice mail for me warning me about an evil man who might be coming after me because of the red shoe I saw in the caves. It turns out that it was Sami Wade's shoe."
There was a moment of silence, then Meggie said, "Kate, we're in real trouble here. Jason is going to kill us unless we figure out a way to escape."
Again, there was silence, then Kate said softly, "I guess I was just tooling myself to think that Jason wouldn't kill me." Kate halted, then asked in a faint voice, "Do you have any ideas about what we should do?"
"I assume you're duct taped to something also, like me?" Meggie said.
"Yes," Kate answered, her voice a little stronger. "My arms are taped to my sides and my ankles are taped to whatever it is that I'm lying on."
"Hmmm," Meggie murmured, thinking. "Do you have anything with you, in your pockets?" she asked. "No, I just have on this hospital gown so I have nothing with me."
19.
Nick
Monday afternoon
November 1,2010
On the drive out to St. Sebastian, Nick sat in the back seat of Travis' unmarked police car. Another plainclothes detective occupied the front passenger seat. Nick could barely contain himself at what he thought was the extremely slow speed Travis was driving. It was all he could do to keep his mouth shut.
He could hear the low murmur of conversation coming from the front seat but was unable to understand most of what the two men were saying. Travis had the scanner on and the crackle and hiss and occasional calls made it difficult to hear any of their murmured conversation.
As they'd been driving out the highway, he'd realized that St Sebastian was in the same vicinity as his grandfather's hunting lodge. Nick hadn't visited the lodge since childhood and he wondered what had happened to it. No one in the family had mentioned it for years. He could remember vaguely that Jason had been much more enamored of the lodge than him. And Meggie had detested the place. She couldn't bear the idea of shooting animals for sport.
After what seemed to Nick an impossibly long drive from St. Stephens to St. Sebastian, they finally arrived at the long asphalt driveway leading up to the mental institution. Nick looked around in curiosity, realizing that in all the time Kate had worked at St. Sebastian, he'd never been here. The building was much larger than he'd anticipated an extensive, multi-storied stone complex that resembled a medieval castle. All that was missing was the moat.
Nick remembered Kate telling him how a hundred or so years ago, the beer baron family had imported the castle from Europe, stone by stone, and reassembled it here on the outskirts of the St. Louis metropolitan area. The area was surrounded by trees and he could see a dense wooded area off to one side. He was surprised that Kate had never talked about what a beautiful complex this was. Travis parked the police car in the porte cochere in front of the building, despite the "No Parking" signs posted every few yards.
Travis and the other detective emerged from the car and Travis opened the rear door for Nick. It was then that Nick noticed there was no door handle in the back seat of the car. Good thing he hadn't wanted to get out on his own. He assumed the lack of door handles had to do with criminals being transported in the car.
As he got out of the back seat of the car, he thought he could probably use that little fact about no door handles in the back seat of a police car in an upcoming column.
Then he felt as though he had been punched in the stomach. For one brief moment, he'd forgotten about Kate's kidnapping. How could he have done that? He shook his head at how the human mind sometimes worked. In the midst of the most horrific tragedies, people could still have the most prosaic, mundane thoughts.
He followed Detective Travis and the two other plain-clothes detectives into St. Sebastian, wondering if he'd ever be able to write a column again. Kate was his life and if anything happened to her, that would mark the end of life as he knew it.
In the main entrance lobby, Travis halted and drew Nick off to one side, away from the other two detectives. He said, "I'm going to let you accompany me, against my better judgment. But you're press, and you'd manage to get around any opposition I might put up."
Although the words sounded harsh, Nick saw the compassion in the man's eyes and knew Travis was saying what he was saying because he had to.
"But here's the deal," Travis continued. "Like I said, you can accompany me, but you have to keep your mouth shut. And I mean really shut. No comments, no questions, nothing. This is my gig and I'm running it. We contacted Hopkins, the hospital administrator, when we were still at St. Stephens and then heard back from him on the drive out here. No one has been able to locate this janitor, this Harry Smith. So, first, we're going to talk to the administrator and then we're going to launch an all-out search for Smith."
Travis turned away and rejoined his two detectives. The three of them walked to the guard's desk, and Nick trailed behind.
The three detectives showed the guards their credentials and gained his instant attention. The guard stood up, and picked up the phone, punching in a one-digit speed dial code. "Mr. Hopkins is expecting you, sir," the guard said after a brief conversation. "He'll be right out." The guard stood there, looking from one detective to another.
A moment later, a short, heavy set man came into the lobby from one of the corridors. He walked toward the guard desk and stretched out a hand to Travis, intuitively knowing who was in charge, saying, "I'm Charles Hopkins, chief administrator of St. Sebastian."

 Travis shook the man's hand and introduced himself, "I'm Tom Travis, chief of detectives for St. Louis County Police. then introduced his two detectives. He pointedly did not introduce Nick, which Nick thought was probably a good idea. Mr. Hopkins would have recognized the Angelo name and that would have made for an awkward conversation and situation.
Hopkins led them back down the corridor from which he'd emerged and into a glass-windowed conference room. The room was huge, accommodating what Nick estimated as 50 chairs. The four men took seats next to each other at one end of the room. Nick noticed Hopkins darting curious looks at him but he and Travis both ignored the man, and Hopkins didn't ask about Nick.

"We appreciate your time, Mr. Hopkins, " Travis said. "We here about the abduction of Kate Angelo. We think one of your other employees has information that may help us find her."

At those words, Charles Hopkins cocked his head quizzically at the detective, and said, "I don't understand. Kate was kidnapped at St. Stephens. How could anyone at St. Sebastian know anything that would help."

Travis proceeded to explain. "One of your employees, Harry Smith, a night janitor, I believe, left a voice mail message on Kate Angelo's cell phone. In the message, he warned her about a dangerous man who might do harm to her. It was all about some caves around here and a red shoe that Harry Smith found in the caves. Evidently, the red shoe was connected to the murder of Sami Wade."

Charles Hopkins exclaimed, "Murder? Oh, my God, this is unbelievable."

"So we need to speak with Harry Smith as soon as possible. We need your help in locating him. Time is of the essence, as you can imagine." Travis looked at Hopkins expectantly.

"Yes, of course, I understand." Hopkins stood up and went over to a land line phone on the credenza in front of a wall of windows that overlooked the wooded area at the back of St. Sebastian.

He punched in some numbers and had low-voice conversation with the person on the other end of the line. He put his hand over the receiver and said to Travis, "Harry's supervisor is checking around to see if he's reported for work yet."

The three men waited in silence. After several minutes, Hopkins turned his attention back to the phone. "I see, I see. Well, give me his home phone number and address." Hopkins took a small black leather notebook from his inside jacket pocket. A small gold pen was clipped to the spine of the notebook. He put the notebook down on the credenza and held the phone between his head and left shoulder to free his hands to rite down the information about Harry Smith. After a few more words, Hopkins hung up the phone and walked back over to where Travis and Nick sat.

His face was serious as he said, "Smith was scheduled to work the 3 to 11 shift tonight but he hasn't shown up for work." Hopkins looked down at the expensive-looking gold watch he wore on his right wrist. "It's past four now. His supervisor says Harry is never late. In fact he usually gets to work an hour before his shift is due to start."

"May I have his address?" Travis asked. 

Hopkins tore the piece of paper out of the black leather notebook and handed it to Travis, who said, "We'll send a patrol over to see if he's there. Just give me a minute..." Travis' voice trailed off as he speed-dialed a number on his cell phone. He read the address into the phone and asked the person on the other end of the line to have a car check it out ASAP. "This is an emergency so give it the highest priority. Have the officer call me back as soon he checks out this address."

"Now, Mr. Hopkins, I need to know about some caves that are around here somewhere," Travis said as he put his phone back in his jacket pocket.

20.
Harry
Monday afternoon
November 1,2010
Harry went down the stairway that led to hidden entrance to the caves. The leather pouch hanging from his belt swung heavily against his leg, reminding him of what was inside. He'd never shot a gun before in his life. He hoped he'd be able to do it. He had to do it to save Dr. Angelo. 

It was all his fault that she was in so much trouble. He had to get her out of trouble, no matter what he had to do.

Once inside the caves, he used his penlight to find his way, rather than his usual bright flashlight. He walked as quietly as he could, afraid that if the man were down here in the caves, he would hear Harry coming.

Harry could feel his heart pounding, and he was sweating, despite the cool temperature of the caves. As he neared the area where he'd seen the man, he slowed his steps, being even more careful to make no noise, to not dislodge any of the loose rocks on the floor of the cave. 

He stood at the corner of the corridor that led to the man's place. He thought he could hear the murmur of voices. That meant the man was there. Harry took a deep breath, then another, something that he did when he was upset. He'd heard somewhere that taking deep breaths could help calm a person down and he certainly needed calming.

He listened closely to the sound of voices, trying to see if one of them was Dr. Angelo's. As he listened, he was surprised to realize that both of the voices were women's voices. So it didn't sound as if the man was there. He took a step into the corridor that led to the man's place, then another one, then another one. as quietly as he could. Finally he reached the area just outside the man's place. He stood there listening and thought that one of the voices he could hear belonged to Dr. Angelo. But he didn't know who the other voice belonged to.

He crept along the side of the cave, edging his way to the sound of the voices. Finally, he reached the man's place. There were dim lights inside the area and Harry could see two things that looked like beds inside. And it looked like there was a woman laying on top of each of the beds.

The man was nowhere in sight, which made Harry happy.

He walked into the area and was startled when one of the women screamed. 

He said in a soft voice, "Ma'am, I promise I won't hurt you. I'm here to help you."

Then the other woman said questioningly, "Harry? Harry, is that you?"

"Yes, Dr. Angelo, it's me, Harry, Harry Smith. I've come to get you.   Harry spoke the words as he walked toward the cot where Kate was tied down.
"Oh, thank God," Kate cried.
"I can echo that." Harry heard the woman on the other cot say.
Harry stood over Kate, looking down at the duct tape that secured her to the bed. From his toolbelt, he took his Swiss Army knife and began to carefully cut the strips of tape that bound Dr. Angelo.
21
Kate
Monday Afternoon
November 1,2010
Kate felt as though she would burst into tears as Harry cut through the duct tape. What a miracle it was that he had found them. Harry first cut through the tape binding her arms to the table, then the tape at her ankles. Once she was free, Kate tried to sit up but dropped back to the cot, overcome by weakness and dizziness. But thank god, it wasn't that awful vertigo dizziness again. This was just a lightheadedness that quickly went away as soon as she lay back down.
"Are you okay, Dr. Angelo?" Harry asked with concern.
"I'll be okay in a minute, Harry. It was just a little lightheadedness. Thank you so much for being here. You're a lifesaver. Could you please cut my sister-in-law loose also?"
Harry stood there at Kate's side, a puzzled look on his face, as if trying to understand what she was asking him to do.
"The lady over there on the other cot?" Kate said slowly and gently. "She's taped down also. Can you please cut her loose?"
Harry nodded and walked over to the cot where Meggie lay. She looked up at him, tears brimming in her eyes, and said, "Hello, Harry, it's certainly good to see you. I'm Sister Margaret Mary, and I'm Dr. Angelo's husband's sister."
Harry had started cutting the tape on Meggie's arms, and he stopped for a moment to think about what she'd just said.
"You're a nun?" he asked.
'
"Yes," Meggie answered. "I teach fourth grade girls at a convent school a hundred miles away from here."
Harry was silent as he worked, seeming to think about what Meggie had said, "and you're Dr. Angelo's husband's" -here Harry paused for a moment, trying to remember. Then he continued, "You're Dr. Angelo's husband's sister?"
"Yes, Harry, I am." By this time, he had cut through the duct tape on Meggie's arms and she was rubbing the places where the tape had stuck to her skin. When the tape was loose from her ankles, Meggie slowly sat up, not wanting to experience the same kind of dizziness or light headedness that Kate had gone through. She swung her legs over the side of the cot and carefully stood up, discovering that somewhere along the line, she'd lost one of her shoes.
"You can call me One Shoe," Meggie announced as she walked over to where Kate still lay back on the cot. "Let me trj to help you sit up," she said to Kate. "We have to get out of here as fast as we can. Jason might come back any minute."
Meggie got Kate on her teet, and helped her sister-in-law walk a tew steps.  Can you do this ? Meggie asked m a concerned voice.
"Yes, just give me a minute, please." Kate stood there, leaning against Meggie, her heart pounding from fear and exertion. Finally, Kate said, "Okay, let's try to get out of here."
Harry came over to Kate's other side and put his arm around her shoulders to help guide her. He shone his penlight ahead of htem into the darkness of the cave's corridor. Between the two of them, Harry and Meggie managed to get Kate into the corridor of the cave that led back to St. Sebastian.
As they headed away from the man's area, Meggie thought she heard a sound off in the distance. Had Jason returned? Probably.
She whispered to Harry, "I think the man is on his way back. I think I heard him. We have to be as quiet as we can so he can't find us."
Just then, they heard an enraged shout. Then, a scream, and then their names, "Kate! Meggie! You can't get away from me."
i
Kate began to tremble and Meggie held her closer. Meggie whispered to Harry, "How far are we from the entrance to St. Sebastian."
Harry thought about the question, then answered slowly, "Pretty far, I think. It's going to take some time." "We don't have time," Meggie said. "He's going to kill us. We have to get away."
Harry said, "Well, I know this part of the cave pretty well. I don't know if the man does." He paused, then continued, "The other day, the man caught me here but I got away. I went to my hiding place and he never found me. Maybe that's what we should do, at least for awhile. If we hide, then maybe he'll go away."
Meggie started to tell Harry that Jason was never going to give up, never going to go away, then thought better of it. She'd realized that Harry was a little slow, and she didn't want to confuse him or upset him even more than he already was. Instead, she said, "It might be a good idea to hide. It might be easier for Kate. She's not doing so well." That's an understatement, Meggie thought. She and Harry were practically carrying Kate. Meggie doubted that Kate would be able to walk much farther.
"How close are we to your hiding place?" Meggie asked.
Harry said, "It's not far. It's just down that hall over there. It's a pretty tricky place. I don't think the man will find us there. He didn't find me the other day. I guess he doesn't know much about this part of the caves."
"Just a little farther," Meggie murmured to Kate. "We'll get you there and you can lie down and everything will be fine."
Kate said softly, "Thanks, Meggie. I don't know what I'd do without you."
Meggie gave Kate a squeeze as they shuffled down the corridor, with Harry on one side of Kate and Meggie on the other.
Meggie thought the entrance to Harry's hiding place was farther than Harry had indicated. By the time they reached the hidden break in the cave wall, Kate was practically out on her feet. She only remained upright because Meggie held her up one side, and Harry held her up on the other side. 

"Here's where it is," Harry whispered in Meggie's direction. 

Harry showed the almost invisible entrance to his hiding place to Meggie. The ridges and outcroppings along the wall of the cave camouflaged an opening that was just wide enough to allow a full-grown man to slip inside. 

Harry gently helped Kate through the opening, and then Meggie followed them inside. Pointing his penlight ahead of him, Harry led Kate over to a makeshift bed and helped her to lie down. He drew a blanket up over her. Satisfied that she was comfortable, Harry went over to a small table and clicked on what looked like a battery-run lantern. There were two chairs in his small hiding space, and Harry said to Meggie, "Please, Sister, sit down." He pointed to one of the chairs. Meggie sat down and Harry sat on the other chair. They sat in silence for a few moments, listening to Kate's deep, regular breathing a few feet away, an indication that she'd fallen asleep.

Harry started to speak, in a soft, hesitant voice. "I found this place a long time ago, when I was just a little boy, when St. Sebastian was an orphanage, the Sisters of Immaculata Orphanage."

Meggie let out a surprised gasp, then asked, "Did you say the Sisters of Immaculata?"

Harry said, "Yes, the Sisters of Immaculata ran the orphanage where I grew up. 

Harry stopped talking, and sat there waiting. Meggie realized he was expecting her to say something. "The Sisters of Immaculata are my order. The convent school where I teach is run by the Sisters of Immaculata.

"Wow," Harry said in a surprised tone. "That's something."

Meggie waited for Harry to say what a coincidence that was. When he didn't, she thought maybe he didn't know the word or if he did, wasn't sure how to pronounce it. She felt a pang of sympathy for the man. He seemed to be a good, giving, gentle person, and she felt badly for him, for the circumstances of his life.

"Tell me about the orphanage. I never knew about it," Meggie said. "I never knew that my order ran the orphanage here. 

"The orphanage is what St Sebastian used to be, Harry said. "When the orphanage closed, I hid down here in the caves. I didn't have any place to go. I turned 18 around the time the orphanage closed and that's the age when you can't stay at the orphanage any more. So I came down to my hiding place in the caves. I managed to find odd jobs so I could get stuff to ear. When they started St. Sebastian, I would come up at night to look around." Harry stopped here and looked down at his hands. Meggie thought he was blushing but she couldn't be sure because the lantern light wasn't very bright.

Harry continued, "I guess sometimes I took food, but not much. And I always did work in return for the food so it wasn't really stealing. I'd sweep or mop or something. And sometimes I'd even repair things. I'm pretty good at fixing furniture.

"So anyway, there was this guy who was a janitor here at St. Sebastian. His name was Jake. And one day he caught me taking some cookies from the room where the guys ate. He made me tell him all about myself. And he made me tell about how when I took food or something, I did work in return so that it wouldn't be stealing. 

"Jake was good to me. He was my friend, and he got me a job as a night janitor here at St. Sebastian. He did all kinds of things so I could have a job, like helping me get a copy of my birth certificate so I could get a Social Security card. After I'd been working for awhile, he helped me get a room to stay in at the place near where he lived. He said he didn't want me living in the caves anymore."

Harry stopped talking, and Meggie was afraid she knew what was coming next. She waited, patient, willing to listen to whatever Harry wanted to say to her.

Finally he started talking again. "Last year Jake got sick and died."

Meggie thought she could see tears in Harry's eyes. She reached out a hand and placed it on Harry's arm, giving it a gentle squeeze.

"He was the best person I ever knew. He was so good to me. I miss him so much."

They sat there in silence for a few minutes. Then Meggie stood up and walked over to check on Kate. She pulled the blanket up over Kate's shoulders but felt relieved to see that her sister-in-law was sleeping peacefully.

Taking a deep breath, Meggie walked back over to where Harry sat. "Harry, can you tell me how to get into St. Sebastian? I have to get help to get Kate back to the hospital. And I have to let the police know about Jason -- the man who kidnapped Kate."

"You know his name?" Harry asked in a puzzled tone.

Meggie hesitated, then answered honestly, 'Yes, unfortunately, I know his name. Harry, that man is my brother Jason."

"That can't be right," Harry answered, even more puzzlement in his voice.

"I'm afraid it is, Harry. And here's the worst part. His twin brother is Kate's husband, Nick."

Harry shook his head back and forth several times, then said, "I don't understand. That doesn't make sense to me."

"Believe me, it doesn't make sense to me either. It's horrible and I have to somehow get the police here to take care of Jason. So, Harry, can you tell me how to get into St. Sebastian."

Harry nodded his head, then got up and walked over to a wooden box near the bed where Kate lay sleeping. He reached in and brought out a pad of paper and a pencil. He came back over to the little table where he'd been sitting. He sat back down and started drawing on the pad of paper.

Meggie watched as Harry concentrated on the map he was drawing. She noticed that he printed rather writing in cursive, and used all capital letters rather than upper and lower case. Her fourth grade students at the convent school were much more advanced that Harry in their penmanship. She felt sympathy for this man who'd experienced such a difficult life – growing up in an orphanage, being learning-challenged, living a mostly solitary life. It was amazing that he'd turned out so well, with his mostly positive attitude and his ability to care about others. Meggie wasn't sure she would have had a similarly good attitude if she'd gone through what he'd gone through.

Harry paused to look at his handiwork, then added a few more strokes of the pencil. Finished, he handed the piece of paper to Meggie and said, "The X is the place where we are right now. I did little arrows that show you the direction to go in the tunnels. It's not real far but it is tricky with all the turns. Do you think you can follow my map?"

Meggie held the map in her hands, her eyes carefully following the path Harry had laid out for her. It looked fairly straightforward. But she'd always been somewhat directionally challenged so she thought she'd better have Harry show her step-by-step exactly how to get from his hiding place to the stairway that led up into the St. Sebastian basement.

For the next few minutes, Harry walked her through each twist and turn on her path, giving her landmarks to remember about each turn. Meggie scribbled notes on the map, in addition to trying to memorize what Harry was telling her.

"So do you think you can find it?" Harry asked. "I could go—" his voice broke off, then he continued, "No, you have to go. No one would pay any attention to me. They'd say it was just that crazy Harry with another one of his crazy stories."

"Yes, that’s right,” Meggie said. “I have to be the one to go so I can convince the police to go after Jason and so I can get the paramedics for Kate." Meggie continued to study the map, then asked, "Do you have a flashlight I can use?"

Harry took a large flashlight from his tool belt and handed it over to Meggie. She asked, "Do you have another flashlight that you can use if you need it?"

Harry showed her the penlight on his tool belt and she said, "Thanks for giving me the big one. The more light I have, the better, so I don't take a wrong turn and get lost."

Meggie stood up and went over to Kate. She leaned down and kissed the sleeping woman on the forehead, then turned back to Harry. "Well, I guess I'll be off. Thank you for everything – for rescuing us and bringing us to a safe place and for the map and the directions. You've been a lifesaver, you know."

Harry gave her a gentle, sweet smile as he said, "Dr. Angelo has been nice to me so I'd do anything for her. And for you, too. You're nice like her."

Meggie smiled back at Harry and then went to the entrance of his hiding place and eased herself through the half-hidden opening. Out in the tunnel, she shone the flashlight on the map to make sure she knew where her first turn was. As she walked down the corridor, she was grateful for Harry’s detailed description of landmarks to look for. Without those, she wasn’t sure she could find the way to St. Sebastian.

The rocks strewn on the floor of the tunnel made for slow-going. Meggie placed her feet carefully, trying to avoid tripping over the rocks. Harry had said it wasn’t all that far to St. Sebastian but it seem to her as though she’d been walking for a long while. Fearing that she might be lost, Meggie stopped to check the map to make sure she was still going the correct way. From the landmarks, it seemed that she was heading in the right direction.

As she stood there studying the map, she thought she heard a sound. It sounded like rocks on the floor of the cave. She wondered if Harry had come after her. Maybe there was a problem with Kate. She started to call out to him, then restrained herself. What if it wasn’t Harry? What if it was Jason, searching for them? She turned off the flashlight, then stood motionless, barely breathing, listening intently for another sound. But there was nothing.

Just as she’d decided that the sound she’d heard was harmless and that it was time to get going again, she heard another rock tumble around. This time the sound was much closer to where she stood. 

She saw a faint glimmer of light down the tunnel and frantically tried to think what to do. Just behind her she’d noticed an alcove and now she silently made her way there, feeling her way along the walls of the cave, in the pitch-blackness. From her hiding place, she could hear rocks being displaced but she was afraid to try to look out to see anything, for fear Jason would catch sight of her. And she was sure it was Jason out there, searching for them. He must have been furious when he returned to his work area and found that both Kate and Meggie had disappeared.

She leaned against the cold, damp wall of the cave, her heart pounding and her hands trembling. Then to her shock, she heard the sound of a gunshot, followed by a scream of pain. There was a rush of motion and the sound of running feet. She leaned out and saw a light down the tunnel. She could only surmised what had happened. Jason must have located Harry’s hiding place. When he’d tried to get in, Harry must have shot him. Jason had probably realized he couldn’t get anywhere without a gun and so he’d taken off at high speed, either to get a gun or if his gunshot wound was serious, to get the wound treated.

As much as she hated the idea, Meggie knew she had to go back to Harry’s hiding place to make sure Kate was okay. She would have much rather continued on to St. Sebastian to get help.

She edged her way out into the corridor and turning on the flashlight but covering part of the beam with her hand and pointing it down to the floor of the cave, continued back the way she’d come. 

Back at the entrance to the hiding place, she’d whispered, “Harry, are you and Kate okay? It’s me, Sister Meggie.”

There was no answer. Meggie moved a little closer and whispered a little louder. She didn’t want to try to enter the space without letting Harry know it was her, for fear he’d shoot first and ask questions later.

Finally, she heard a whispered response. “Sister Meggie, is that you?”

“Yes, Harry, it’s Sister Meggie. I’m coming in to make sure you and Kate are okay. Please don’t shoot me.”

She edged her way inside, and was relieved to see Harry on his feet and evidently unharmed and Kate still asleep on the bed.

“What happened?” she asked in a whisper.

“That man, that Jason, tried to get in here. I took out old Jake’s gun and I shot at him. I hit him somewhere, maybe the arm. I know I didn’t kill him ‘cause I heard him yell.”

“After the gunshot and the yell, I saw a light going the opposite way down the tunnel so I guess we was heading back to get a gun to take care of his wound. I was worried that you or Kate or both of you might be hurt, so I had to come back and check. I probably should have kept on to St. Sebastian but I was too worried.”

“We’re okay,” Harry said. “Thank you for checking.” He sounded surprised that she’d done that.

“Well, I’m so glad you’re both okay. But I’m surprised all the noise didn’t wake Kate.” Meggie walked over to where Kate lay and tried to awaken her sister-in-law but Kate didn’t open her eyes. “I think she might be in a coma,” Meggie told Harry, concern and fear evident in her voice. “I’d better go get help in a hurry.” Meggie said a quick good-bye to Harry and went back out into the corridor. This time, she was more certain of her direction and made better time.

She hurried along, once again careful not to rip over the sharp rocks that lined the floor of the cave. Finally, she came to the end of the corridor. There was a rickety set of steep wooden stairs leading up. Carefully, she climbed the stairs. At the top was an equally rickety wooden door that opened with a loud creak when she turned the doorknob. She found herself in a short dead-end hallway that led to a small open area with a freight elevator on one side. She pressed the up button on the elevator and waited for what seemed like an inordinately long time for the elevator to arrive.

When the freight elevator finally did arrive, the door opened with a painful slowness. The inside of the elevator was huge. From the outside, it had looked like a regular-sized elevator. But once the door was open, Meggie saw that there was enough space inside to accommodate three hospital beds at least. She tentatively stepped inside, concerned at the safety of the ancient elevator. But then she realized that her safety wasn't what was most important here. Kate was the one in danger and it was up to Meggie to get help for her sister-in-law as quickly as possible.
The freight elevator had only one button that said BSMT - which Meggie interpreted to mean basement, although she felt as if she were already in the basement. No wonder no one had discovered the caves -the roundabout way that you got to the caves probably was so confusing that few people other than Harry Smith had taken the time to explore.
Meggie pressed the BSMT button, noting that it didn't light up. Either it didn't work or the light was out. Since the elevator had already made one trip down, Meggie assumed it was a problem with the light bulb. And sure enough, slowly but surely, the elevator doors creaked shut, and the freight elevator rumbled its way up.
After what seemed to Meggie an inordinately long time, the elevator crunched to a stop. Meggie realized she'd been so scared about the safety of this antiquated elevator that shed; been gripping the railing in the elevator with a death grip. As the doors eased open, Meggie saw that she was finally back in civilization/
She realized that she hadn't thought her next steps through and as she exited the elevator, she paused for a moment to think about what she should do next. She looked around for someone to ask directions of, but the basement of St. Sebastian appeared to be deserted. Across the expanse of a wide-open area, Meggie saw what looked like two elevator doors, probably leading up into the hospital itself.
She practically ran across the concrete floor to the elevators and punched the up button several times. Again, she had an excruciatingly long wait for the elevator to arrive. When it finally announced its arrival with a ding and whooshing open of the door, Meggie could have cried in relief.
She got in and pressed L for lobby. She'd worked it out in her mind that she would contact the security area and get their help in getting the police and paramedics here as soon as possible.
This elevator was faster than the freight elevator but still it seemed to move so slowly. The door opened on a bright lobby area and Meggie felt so glad to be out of the dark basement in a sunny, open space. She stood for a moment in front of the elevator, looking around to get her bearings. Across the lobby, she could see a broad, semi-circular reception desk, behind which sat a man in a navy blue uniform. The security guard, she assumed.
She started to make her way across the lobby to the security desk when she thought she heard someone call out her name.

Meggie looKea around, trying to see wno naa canea out ner name, /vi iirsi, sne aiun i see anyone sne knew, anyone who looked familiar.
Then to her surprise, she saw her brother Nick heading toward her. She ran to meeting him, trying to keep tears from spilling down her face.
She grabbed Nick's arm and said, "Oh Nick, thank God you're here. I found Kate, and so far she's in a safe place. But we have to get her back to the hospital. And we have to get the police to capture Jason."
"Sis, what on earth are you talking about? Where's Kate? Take me there right now!"
"Slow down, Nick. We have to get the police and the paramedics." Meg looked around the lobby and spotted a uniformed St. Louis County policeman. She was still holding on to Nick's arm and she started to drag him in the direction of the policeman. "Let's get the police and the paramedics and then I'll tell you everything."
Nick followed behind her. When they reach the uniformed policeman, Nick saw that Detective Travis had joined him. Nick introduced his sister to Travis and said that she had information about Kate.
Meggie took a deep breath and began," Kate is hiding out down in the caves between St. Sebastian and the hunting lodge. Our brother Jason is the killer. He killed Sami Wade, and he was going to kill Kate and me. He held us prisoner until that man Harry came and rescued us." Meggie stopped and took another deep breath. Nick put his arm around her and said, "Take it easy, Sis. Everything is going to be all right."
Nick turned to Travis and said, "We need paramedics for my wife and police officers to capture Jason."
Travis stood there, speechless, not sure what was going on with Nick and Meggie. Finally, he said, "Where exactly is Mrs. Angelo?"
Meggie handed him the piece of paper she had clutched in her hand, the map Harry had drawn for her. "] can show you. We have to go down to the basement of St. Sebastian and then down a flight of stairs that lead to this huge collection of caves. But we have to hurry. Kate was unconscious or in a coma when I left her. I don't know what's wrong."
Travis took his radio from his waistband and began barking orders into it., asking for a SWAT team and paramedics.
Within a few minutes, a team had assembled there in the lobby of St. Sebastian. Meggie counted almost 20 people clustered together. Travis told the group what was going on and where they were going. He introduced Nick and Meggie to the group and explained that they would be going along.
"We'll have to take two elevators to get all of us down to the basement," Travis told them.
Meggie spoke up then, saying, "When we get down to the basement, there's a freight elevator that will take us down to the bottom level. There's only one freight elevator but it's large enough to hold all of us."
By then, the first elevator had arrived and half of the group got on, including Travis, Nick and Meggie. They rode down to the basement in silence. Nick and Meggie were standing next to each other, and Nick had his arm around Meggie's shoulders. She was trembling and he kept patting her arm, trying to comfort her.
In the basement, the group got out of the elevator and stood m the open area waiting tor the next group to arrive. When they were all assembled, Meggie led them across the basement to the freight elevator.
She turned to Detective Travis and asked, "Do your men have flashlights? It's pitch dark down there in the caves."
"Yes," Travis responded, "they all have flashlights. Except for the paramedics, and they'll be able to see with our lights."
There were three paramedics with the group, their navy blue uniforms distinguishing them from the uniformed County police officers in their beige shirts and brown pants.
Once everyone was situated inside the freight elevator, Travis pressed the down button, and the elevatoi began a slow, creaky descent.
Meggie was still trembling, and Nick bent down to whisper in her ear, "You're a real hero, Sis."
She smiled up at him, and he saw that tears were threatening to spill out of her eyes. Nick whispered, "Trust me, everything is going to be all right."
At last, the elevator reached the sub-basement and the doors slowly opened. The group got out of the elevator and turned to Meggie for directions. She pointed toward the small alcove that led to the obscun doorway. With a small smile, she said, "Follow me, men. The stairway that leads down into the caves is this way, down this hall."
Nick gave her a squeeze and took his arm from around her shoulders so she could lead them to the stairway. At the door, Meggie reached out and pulled it open.
"Do you want me to go first, Miss Angelo?" Travis offered.
"No, I can go first and lead the way. But you'll have to give me a flashlight and the map."
h
Travis handed Meggie the map and then turned to one of the officers and asked for a flashlight.
Meggie took a tentative step down the stairway, then paused to take a couple of deep breaths. Feeling a little calmer and more sure of herself, she made her way down the rest of the stairs, followed by the group of 20 or so men.
Nick was right behind Meggie, closely followed by Travis and the three paramedics. At the foot of the stairs, Meggie paused to look at the map and get her bearings. Reassured that she remembered how to get back to Harry's hiding place, she set off down one of the tunnels. The men followed behind, surprisingly quiet for such a large group.
Meggie referred again to the map to make sure she was making the correct turns. It took several minute; to reach the tunnel where Harry's hiding place was located. Meggie pointed out to Nick the clever way the opening was concealed. Then she called out, "Harry, it's Sister Meggie. I'm back with help."
She waited a moment, then called again, "Harry? Did you hear me? It's sister Meggie."

A whispered, "Sister Meggie? Is that you?" came from inside the hiding place. 

Meggie turned to Detective Travis and said, "Is it all right if I go into Harry's hiding place?"

Travis considered for a moment, then answered "Yes."

Meggie slipped into the hiding place with Nick close behind her, followed in turn by Travis.

Inside the space, Nick looked around and located Kate lying on the bed. In a few strides, he quickly reached her side and knelt down next to the bed. He took her limp hand in both of his and whispered, "Katie, please wake up."

Two of the paramedics were now inside the space and had come over to examine Kate. Nick reluctantly let go of Kate's hand moved aside to give them more room to work. He stood as close as he could to where Kate lay, trying not to get in the way of the paramedics. Within just a few minutes, the paramedics had attached Kate to a  portable IV, then loaded her onto a lightweight gurney. Nick said good-bye to Meggie and then left to accompany Kate and the paramedics.

Meggie had introduced Harry to Travis and the detective was getting details about Jason Angelo. Meggie stood beside Harry, a reassuring hand on his arm. 

Detective Travis said, "Mr. Smith, will you be able to lead us to this area where Jason Angelo was holding Mrs. Angelo and Ms. Angelo?"

Harry looked at Meggie, and she nodded her head at him. "I can take you there," Harry answered. "But I want to be sure that man isn't there." Harry paused, then reached in his pocket and pulled out Jake's gun. 

Travis let out a gasp and said, "Hand over that gun. I can't have you armed."

Harry shook his head and said, "No, this was my friend's gun and I'm not giving it to anyone."

Travis said, "Give me the gun, now." There was no hesitation in his demand.

Harry looked at Meggie and asked, "Do I have to give him Jake's gun?"

Meggie looked first at Travis who nodded yes, then at Harry. "Yes, Harry, you have to give your gun to the detective. It's against the law to have a firearm without a permit."

Harry nodded and gingerly held the gun out to Travis. The detective took the gun and said thank you. He removed the bullets and put the gun in one of his jacket pockets and the bullets in another pocket. Then he said, "Are you ready to go, Mr. Smith?"

Harry said yes, and looked to Meggie. "Can Sister Meggie come with us?" 

Travis shook his head and said, "No, Mr. Smith, I'm sorry. It wouldn't be safe for her. I'm going to have one of my men escort her back to St. Sebastian. And we're just going to have you show us where Jason Angelo was holding the women and then we'll have someone take you back also. This is not a safe place for civilians. We appreciate your help and we want to make sure you and Ms. Angelo are safe. Do you understand?" 

Harry looked at Meggie who gave him nod, and then he said a soft "Yes sir, I understand."

As Travis led Harry to the entrance of the hiding place, Meggie's voice stopped Harry as she said, "Harry?" 

Harry stopped and turned back to where Meggie stood. "Yes, Sister Meggie?"

"I'll be waiting for you upstairs in the main lobby of St. Sebastian. I'll be sitting by that big reception desk. Okay? Will you come see when you've shown Detective Travis where Jason's place is?"

Harry nodded as he said, "Yes, Sister Meggie. I'll be there. And thank you for everything. Thank you for helping Dr. Angelo."

Meggie patted Harry on the arm, then said, "Now, you go with Detective Travis and I'll see you in awhile."

Half an hour later, Meggie was sitting in the lobby waiting for Harry, debating whether to call her father. She assumed that Nick had called him to let him know they'd found Kate and about Jason. But that might be a false assumption.

Deciding to call Parker, she went over to the security guard at the desk and asked if she might use the phone to call her father. "I don't have a cell phone and I don't have any money to use the pay phone."

"Yes, ma'am, of course. One of the policeman asked me to keep an eye on you and to help you with whatever you might need." He moved one of the cordless phones toward her and said, "Here you go. Let me know if there's anything else I can do."

Meggie picked up the phone and went back to her chair. She dialed Parker's cell number and waited, ring after ring, thinking he wasn't going to answer. Then she heard his deep voice in her ear saying, "Parker Angelo." 

She thought she'd never been so glad to hear anything in her life. "Daddy? Daddy, it's Meggie."

"Meggie? Meggie, sweetheart, are you all right? Nick called to tell me about Kate and about –" here Parker's voice broke but then he continued, "Nick told me about Jason. I can't believe it. I absolutely can't believe it. I tried to call you mother but I wasn't able to reach her, either at home on her cell phone."

"Daddy, where are you?" Meggie asked.

"I'm at St. Stephen's with Nick and Kate. She's fine, conscious now. The doctors think it was stress and fear that caused her to faint or lose consciousness. Do you want me to come out to St. Sebastian to get you, sweetheart?" 

"Yes, Daddy, if you would please. I'm here in the lobby waiting for Harry Smith to return from helping the police. I want you to meet him. He saved Kate's and my lives. He's quite a hero."

"I'll be there as soon as I can. And I certainly can't wait to meet your rescuer."

"Daddy, just to let you know, Harry is the best person in the world, but he's just a bit slow. I just thought you should know."

"Of course, dear, I understand. Now, you sit tight and I'll be there as soon as I can."

Meggie clicked off the phone. She debated whether to try calling her mother. The news about Jason was going to destroy the woman. She idolized him and would not be able to accept that he was a cold-blooded serial killer.

She wondered where Jason was now. Had he come back to the placed where he'd imprisoned her and Kate? What had been his reaction on seeing them both gone? She could only imagine the rage that must have consumed him. She'd known there was something seriously wrong with Jason but had never dreamt that he was a murderer. 

Biting the bullet, she keyed in the home number at the Angelo estate. The phone rang four times before it went to the answering machine. Meggie wondered where the housekeeper was and why she wasn't answering the phone. Her mother hated the answering machine and always insisted that the housekeeper answer the phone, no matter what. Meggie left a brief message for Victoria, giving her the phone number here and saying that if she was no longer here, she could be reached on her father's cell phone.

Meggie then tried her mother's cell number, with the same result. After several rings, the call went to voice mail. This wasn't like Victoria. She was always accessible, actually obsessively so. Since the advent of cell phones years ago, Victoria hadn't known her mother to be unreachable. 

Meggie leaned back in the chair, closing her eyes and trying to calm her nerves. She smiled to herself as she eased into a prayer of thanksgiving for Kate's and her good fortune. Things could have so easily turned out differently, turned out tragically.

"Dear Heavenly Father," Meggie prayed silently. "Thank you so much for keeping Kate and me safe from harm. Please watch over her and make her well and strong. Ease my brother Nick's worry and let him feel Your peace. Hold my dear father in your hands and ease his worry and sorrow. Heal his heart and give him the joy and happiness he deserves."

Meggie thought back over her words of prayer, somewhat surprised at what she'd prayed for her father. She supposed she'd never really thought about how unhappy he must be married to her mother. She'd tried to block that from her mind. Victoria was a cold, unloving woman and she had made a mockery of her and Parker's marriage. Meggie wondered how her father could have stayed in such a loveless, unfulfilling marriage for so many years. She assumed it was because of his allegiance to his faith, his unwavering belief in the sanctity of his marriage vows. The poor man. He'd certainly been dealt a losing hand with his marriage to Victoria.

She sat there, head back, eyes closed, for a few more minutes, not praying, not thinking, just letting her mind float aimlessly. She felt a touch on her shoulder and looked up to see Harry Smith and a uniformed County police officer standing next to her chair.

"Harry?" Are you okay?" Meggie stood up and looked into Harry's eyes.

"Yes, Sister Meggie, I'm okay."

"Did the police find -- find the man?" Meggie asked, unable to say her brother's name.

"No, ma'am," Harry said shaking his head but not giving her any more information.

Meggie turned to the uniformed policeman standing next to Harry and asked, "What happened, officer? Were you there?'

"Yes, ma'am," the young officer said, making Meggie feel like an ancient old crone. He couldn't be more than a few years younger than her.

"Mr. Smith led us to the area where you and Dr. Angelo were held captive. But it was deserted. So Detective Travis had me escort Mr. Smith back here to St. Sebastian."

"So what is Detective Travis doing now?" Meggie asked.

"He's taking the men to the hunting lodge. The problem is no one knows how to get to the hunting lodge through the caves so they have to come back here to St. Sebastian and then drive over there. He called in for a SWAT team to meet them at the hunting lodge. If  you'll excuse me, ma'am, that's where I'm heading now."

"Certatinly. And thank you for bringing Harry back. I'll make sure he's taken care of."

The officer told them good-bye and gave them a mock salute as he left the lobby and headed toward the parking lot. 

Meggie gestured at the two chairs by where she and Harry were standing, and said, "Let's have a seat. I 'm waiting here for my father to come. I told him everything that's going on, especially what you did, and I want to introduce you to him. And he's eager to meet you and thank you for all you did."

"Sister Meggie, I didn't do anything special. I just wanted to make sure Dr. Angelo was okay. Do you think you could call someone to see how she's doing?"

"Oh, Harry, I'm so sorry. I should have told you right away. She's doing fine. She's conscious and the doctor says she'll be find. I talked to my father a few minutes ago, before you got here, and he was at St. Stephens with Dr. Angelo and her husband. I think you know he's my brother, too?"

"Yes, ma'am, you told me. And the bad man is your brother, too, you said?"

"Yes, Harry, unfortunately, that's true. Unbelievable, but true."

The two of them sat together in silence for a few minutes, Harry trying his best to understand all that had happened that day, and Meggie giving thanks that everyone she loved was okay.

Finally, Meggie saw her father heading their way and gave him a small wave. She and Harry stood up, and Meggie said, "Daddy, this is the man I told you about -- the man who rescued Kate and me. His name is Harry Smith and I'm very grateful to him."

Parker Angelo reached out to shake Harry's hand, saying, "It's certainly a pleasure to meet you, Mr. Smith. And I can't thank you enough for rescuing my girls."

"Well, I don't know about that," Harry answered slowly. "I just wanted to make sure Dr. Angelo was okay. She's been good to me. And Sister Meggie has been good to me, too. I don't want anything to happen to them."

"I'm very grateful to you for that," Parker said, his deep voice cracking a bit at the end from emotion.  ] there's ever anything I can do for you, please let me know. You have my undying, lifelong gratitude."
"All I want is for Dr. Angelo to be okay," Harry answered in a serious tone.
"I feel the same way," Parker answered. "And the doctors say she's going to be fine. Now, can we give you a lift anywhere? My daughter and I are getting ready to leave."
Meggie looked questioningly at her father but didn't say anything. She wondered what Parker had in mind. They hadn't talked about what to do next or what their plans were. Parker evidently saw her look and gave her a small smile.
"No, thank you, sir," Harry answered Parker. "It's getting close to the time that I go to work. So I'll just go clock in. Please tell Dr. Angelo I'm glad she's okay."
Parker and Meggie answered, "We will," in unison and then laughed at themselves.
The father and daughter said good-bye to Harry, with Meggie telling him that she'd come back here to see him sometime soon.
Harry smiled at that, then said good-bye again and headed toward the elevator to take him down to the basement of St. Sebastian.
When they were alone again, Meggie eyed her father and said, "So, Dad, what did you have in mind?" "Are you up for something that could be either crazy or dangerous or both?" Parker asked. "You're planning to go to the hunting lodge, aren't you?" Meggie asked.
"Yep, that's exactly what I'm planning to do. I certainly don't intend to sit around here and wait for someone to tell me what's going on. I'm going to find out for myself. Are you in?"
"Yes, Dad, you know I'm in. Besides, somehow I have to retrieve my rental car. I left it in the parking lot of the park and woods that are adjacent to the hunting lodge. That's how I got myself into all of this. I got the bright idea to explore, to see if I could find Grandpa Angelo's old hunting lodge we'd visited when I was a girl. [ had no idea what I was getting myself into."
Father and daughter headed toward the exit door in the lobby. Meggie continued to tell her father how she'd discovered Jason in the hunting lodge and had been captured by him and then kept tied up until Harry came to rescue her and Kate.
"It was a miracle, Daddy. I thought for sure that Jason was going to kill both of us. I don't think I've ever veen so frightened in my life."
"Isn't there something we can do for Harry?" Parker asked. "I want to reward him for what he did."
"I don't think he would take any kind of a reward, Daddy. He's not that kind of person. He's very straightforward and I think he meant it when he said all he wanted was for Kate to be okay. I think that's pretty much it. I do promise to come back to see him. I get the impression that he doesn't have a lot of friends so he might be lonely. That could be something we do for him. To be his friend, to stay in touch with him."
'Well, we certainly can do that. And I'll make sure to continue to stay in touch witn him alter you ve returneu to the convent."
Meggie didn't respond to that, not knowing what to say. In her current state of mind, she didn't know whether she would be able to return to the convent. But she would postpone that conversation with her father to another time.
Parker led the way out through parking lot to battered old Jeep, red in places except where it was covered with mud.
"Daddy! You still have the red Jeep. I can't believe it. I thought it must have died and gone to heaven long ago."
"Well, I've managed to keep it on life support for years. Sometimes there's nothing like a beat-up old rough and rugged Jeep."
Parker and Meggie got in the Jeep and Parker put the key in the ignition. The Jeep whined a protest but then capitulated and started up. It was an open air Jeep but despite the chill, Meggie enjoyed the autumn air.
It took 20 minutes to get to the hunting lodge over the back roads. There was no direct way from St. Sebasitan to the lodge, just a round-about, indirect route.
As they approached the lodge, Parker and Meggie weren't surprised to see the are cordoned off with police tape. Parker slowed the Jeep and before anyone saw them, he turned into a gravel road that led into a densely wooded area.
"Where are you going, Daddy?" Meggie asked in a puzzled voice. "I thought we were going to the lodge."
"We are," Parker answered, "but we're going in the back way. If we'd continued on that road, I'm sure the police would have made us turn back. No way were they going to let us get with 100 yards or more of the lodge."
"So where are we going to end up?" Meggie asked.
"This back road goes through the woods between St. Sebastian and the lodge and ends up at the far rear of the lodge. I'm sure the police are unaware of the road so that won't have it blocked off. Interestingly enough, there's a shack in the woods that has an entrance to a tunnel that leads into the lodge. Now that I know about the labyrinth of caves around here, I assume the tunnel is somehow part of that cave system. I never thought about where the tunnel came from but that must be it."
"What do you have in mind?" Meggie asked her father in a wary voice.
*
"Well, I thought we should do some exploring on our own. This is family property, after all." Here Parker stopped talking, then continued in a slow voice. "And this whole thing most certainly involves family. You know, Meggie, I absolutely cannot wrap my mind around the fact that Jason could be a serial killer. How could that be?"
"I know what you mean," Meggie said. "I've always had a difficult time with Jason but no way could I have every imagined him as a serial killer."
Meggie paused, then began again. "But Daddy, he was absolutely crazy when he was holding Kate and me prisoner. I can't begin to tell you how scared I was. I've never seen anyone like that. He was raging and screaming and carrying on, then he'd get quiet and sinister. It was just beyond belief."
Parker looked over at his daughter and asked, "And you've never seen anything like that from Jason before?"
Meggie considered, then answered slowly. "Not as bad as that. I've seen Jason in a rage but not to that extent. And it's been years and years since I spent any time around him. You know how Nick and I just sort of erased him from our lives."
Parker said, "I have to admit that I did the same thing, probably to a greater degree than you and Nick. I pretty much abandoned Jason to his mother's care. She was the only one he even pretended to listen to. I'd been worried about his mental state for years and at first I tried my best to get him into counseling. But neither his mother nor Jason would hear of it. They both vehemently denied there was a problem. They went so far to suggest that I was the one who needed counseling."
To her surprise, Meggie giggled at that. "Sorry, Dad. I know this isn't a laughing matter. But you're the most normal, level-headed, well-adjusted person I've ever known. And for someone to suggest that you need counseling is ludicrous."
They drove along in relative silence for a few minutes. Complete silence was an impossibility because the Jeep had no muffler and its engine created a loud accompaniment to their ride.
"Daddy, I've never asked you about you and Mother. But I've always wondered why you stayed with her all these years."
At first Parker didn't answer, just kept his eyes and attention on the road. Then, as if making an inner decision, he began to talk.
"I wondered why you and Nick never asked. You both just seemed to accept the fact of our bizarre relationship. I hesitate to even call it a marriage. It ceased being a marriage in any sense of the word right after Jason's near-drowning episode. Your mother became obsessed with Jason, to the exclusion of you and Nick and me. I guess I should have called her on it but at first I felt so sorry for her. She'd nearly lost a child and that was a tragic thing to try to live with. I guess I thought she'd revert back to her old self eventually. Not that we ever had that great a marriage. We'd drifted into a relationship, then into an engagement and finally into a marriage. There never was a great passion or a great love between us. Just a level of comfort and acceptance. After Jason's accident, that comfort and acceptance disappeared. We became almost strangers."
Parker stopped talking as he manipulated the Jeep onto a rutted gravel road. The bouncing and jostling made conversation difficult.

Meggie felt a sting of tears in her eyes as she thought about what her lather had just confided in her. Alter Jason's accident, she'd begun to realize that her parents' marriage was broken. But neither parker nor Victoria had ever voiced the problem. Tt had been one of those "elephant in the living room" situation that the family had ignored.
She didn't know what to say. She loved her father more than anyone in the world and yet she had no words of comfort or consolation for him. He must have been lonely but he'd never let anyone know that.
After a few minutes, the silence became deafening and Meggie felt she had to say something. "Daddy, I love you more than anything in the world."
Parker turned his head to look at his daughter and saw the tears in her eyes. He reached out a hand to her and she took his hand in both of hers. "Sweetheart, please don't feel bad for me. You and Nick have been my life. 1 don't feel deprived or sad or lonely. I have the two of you and I have Dynatron, a company I love with my whole heart. Please, please understand that I'm okay."
Meggie squeezed his hand and said, "Okay, I won't cry for you, Poppa." He laughed when he heard her use the name she'd called him when she was a little girl. When she entered her teens, she'd stopped calling him Poppa, supplanting that name with a dignified "Father." That had morphed into "Dad." Nowadays, he was mostly "Daddy," and Parker thought he liked that best of all. He smiled as he thought about what Nick called him - to Nick he'd always been Pop and that name still remained today. He tried to remember what Jason had ever called him and realized Jason had never called him anything. Then he thought about what his children called their mother. As far as he could remember, both Nick and Meggie called her "Mother." And Jason, good old Jason, called her Victoria. What a family this was.
Parker retrieved his hand from Meggie's grasp and planted it firmly back on the steering wheel of the Jeep. The ruts were getting worse, and he hoped they didn't have a flat or break an axle.
"How much farther is this place?" Meggie asked.
"Hmmrn," Parker said, a puzzled note in his voice. "We should be there any minute now. It's taken longer than I thought it would. Must be the ruts and this all-over rotten road we're on." Just as he finished speaking, a ramshackle building came into view ahead of them. It was the shack Parker had mentioned, that led to a tunnel that led to the hunting lodge.
Parker pulled the Jeep into a clearing next to the shack. The woods surrounded the area and blocked out most of the late afternoon sunlight. Parker reached into the Jeep's console and took out a large flashlight. He turned to Meggie and asked, "Ready?" She said yes but then Parker told her she could stay there and wait for him.

Meggie's response was a resounding, "No way!" Her answer brought a broad grin to her father's face.
They both got out of the Jeep and headed toward the shack. At the door, Parker reached out and pushed. The door fell inward, rather than opening, eliciting a small laugh from each of them.

Parker stepped gingerly over the shattered door, shining the flashlight back and forth across the small shack. "It's empty," Parker said to Meggie. "Come on it."

Meggie stepped over the door, then suddenly grabbed her father's arm to keep from tripping, 

"Sorry!" she said. "You know what a klutz I am."

"I seem to remember that now," Parker answered. He shone the flashlight on the center of the shack's floor and pointed down. "There's a trap door there, in the middle of the floor. We just have to figure out how to get it open."

They both knelt down on the splintered wooden floor, Parker more slowly than Meggie. "I think I'm getting too old for these kind of shenanigans."

Meggie snorted, and said, "I don't know about your body but I know your choice of words certainly dates you."

Parker ignored Meggie's comment, intent on trying to find the way to open the trap door. Meggie too was feeling around on the boards, trying to move them or lift them. 

"I can't remember if it's a trick thing or if it's just dumb luck that lets you find the opening. I was just a little boy when my grandfather showed it to me," Parker said. "You think your grandfather was a character? You should have known your great-grandfather. In my mind he wins the prize for eccentricity."

Suddenly, Meggie gave a shriek as one of the floorboards popped up and almost hit her in the face.

"Good girl!" Parker exclaimed. "You found it." He carefully took hold of the plank and pulled it towards him. As he did so, he saw that if he moved several other planks, a stairway was exposed. He shone the flashlight down the opening, and he and Meggie both leaned in for a look.

"I don't much like the looks of that, Dad," Meggie said slowly.

"Well, me neither, but that's not going to stop me from exploring," Parker said. "But I want you to stay here or in the Jeep and wait for me to come back. I don't think exploring this tunnel is a good thing for you to do."

Meggie hesitated for a moment, then said, "Dad, if you're doing it, then I'm doing it. But you can go first."

Parker chuckled at that and started to descend the staircase. After moving down a couple of steps, he looked up at Meggie and said, "It's a really steep set of stairs so be careful. And there's no railing so you're going to have to com down backwards and hold on to the step above you to steady yourself." He turned around to move down a couple more steps to make room for Meggie to descend. 

Carefully, she put a foot on the first step as Parker shone the flashlight up to the step so she could see.

"Easy does it, baby girl," Parker said in a gently voice. "I certainly don't want you taking a tumble down these rickety old steps."

It took longer than Meggie expected to reach the bottom of the steep set of stairs. At the bottom, Parker was shining the flashlight around the walls of the tunnel. 

"Do you remember this?" Meggie asked.

"I think so," Parker answered slowly. I was just a little kid when my grandpa showed this to me. We never let anyone else know that he'd brought me down here. My parents would have had a conniption fit."

Meggie snorted and said "Dad, stop using those old-fashioned words. You could have said the rents would have freaked out."

Parker groaned and said, "Give me a break. When have you ever known me to talk like that? And how is it that nun knows how to talk like that?"

"I teach very with it fourth graders, remember?"

"Okay, it's time to make our way to the hunting lodge. We follow the tunnel to our left. If my sense of direction is correct, if we went to the right, we'd end up in that big conglomeration of caves."

Parker shone the flashlight ahead of them and led the way, with Meggie following closely behind her father.

The tunnel felt damp and musty and Meggie wondered if there were bugs or snakes or something down here, but then put the thought out of her mind.

After a couple of minutes, Parker said, "I think we're there. I think the tunnel continues on to the bluffs over the river but this place here is where there's some steps and door that lead up into the hunting lodge."

Parker shone the flashlight on the wall of the tunnel and found a place where there was a narrow entrance leading to a small area. It was similar to the entrance to Harry Smith's hiding place, Meggie thought. 

Parker eased himself through, then pointed the flashlight out toward Meggie so she could see to come in also.

At one side of the open space was another steep, rickety set of steps. Parker led the way, with Meggiec oming right behind him. Going up these steps was easier than descending the first set of steps.

At the top of the steps was a wooden door. Parker whispered, "Hold on a minute and let me see if I hear anything." He put his ear up next to the door and listened intently for a few moments. Still whispering, he said, "I don't hear anything, anything at all. I expected the police to be here by now."

He reached out a tentative hand and wrapped it around the doorknob. To their surprise, the door opened easily, swinging noiselessly inward. Parker took a step out in the basement of the hunting lodge and motioned back to Meggie for her to follow. He put his finger to his lips to incidate that they needed to be quiet and not talk.

Meggie followed Parker through the door and shut it quietly behind her. They were standing in the small, dirt-floor basement of the hunting lodge. The only things down here were the furnace and a hot water heater. Other than that the space was entirely empty.

"Now what?" Meggie said in a frightened whisper, beginning to feel that this was a really bad idea.

"Now we're going upstairs, hopefully to find Jason and finish this once and for all," Parker answered.

"Finish what, Dad? The police probably have him in custody. I don't know why we're here and I certainly don't know why I agreed to come. It's just a really bad idea." Meggie spoke in a hissing whisper and felt bad to for talking to her father that way but this whole situation was beyond belief. She didn't want to be here. She didn't want to be involved in this.

Parker reached out a hand to his daughter and whispered, "I know, sweetheart. I should have insisted you stay behind."

Those words brought Meggie back to the reality that she'd insisted on accompanying her father, despite the fact that he encouraged her to stay behind and wait for him. She understood why her father felt he had to do this. All these years, Parker had blamed himself for much of Jason's personality disorder, even though most people knew that it was more Victoria's fault than anything. But Parker was unable to not blame himself. He'd always thought there should have been something he could have done.

Parker reached back and patted Meggie's hand and she gave his hand a tight squeeze, saying, "I'm sorry, Daddy. I know you told me to stay behind and I was the one who insisted on coming. Please forgive me for what I said. I'm just a big wuss."

"Not at all, sweetie. You're my precious baby girl, and don't you ever forget it. Now let's go."

Parker opened the door to the stairway leading form the basement up to the first floor of the hunting lodge. They crept noiselessly up the steps. At the top Parker paused and Meggie did also. He leaned his ear again the door, listening for any sounds.

He turned to Meggie and whispered, "I don't hear anything. I'm going to open the door very slowly and see what I can see."

Slowly, Parker opened the door. It creaked as it opened, causing both Parker and Meggie to jump. Once the door was open a few inches, Parker leaned in to look through the opening. A moment later, he whispered, "I don't see anything." 

He pushed the door open far enough to go through. Meggie followed closely behind, not wanting to be left behind on the steps.

They were standing in a dark hallway. Around them, the doorways leading to various rooms were dimly lit, indicating that at least some form of light was on in the rooms.

"The great room is down this hallway," Parker whispered. Let's try that first."

They tiptoed down the hallway, to their dismay making the floorboards creak. At the entrance to the great room, Parker paused. Meggie drew up beside him, and they both peered into the room. A lamp was lit across the room, but that was the only light. The room was deserted. Meggie could smell wood smoke but the fireplace was dark.

"Now what," Meggie asked in a whisper.

"Let's try the kitchen now," Parker whispered in response, turning around to go back the way they'd come.'
Parker halted at the entrance to the kitchen and Meggie almost ran into him. He turned to her with his finger to his lips, indicating silence and then touched his ear, indicating that she should listed closely to what was going on there. She heard the murmur of voices and at first, couldn't understand what was being said.
Then she thought she heard a woman and a man talking in hushed tones. Closing her eyes and concentrating on listening to the voices, she recognized first Jason and then her mother. What in the world was Victoria doing here? And where were the police? she wanted to scream.

Parker shook his head and silently edged his way back down the hall, dragging Meggie with him. At the end of the hall were two double doors with ornate brass doorknobs and hinges. Parker reached out and quietly turned one of the knobs and opened the door. He hustled Meggie inside and quickly followed her.

"Daddy, she hissed, "What is Mother doing here? And where are the police?"
"I don't have any answers but I'm going to get one now." Parker took his cell phone out of his pocket and scrolled through the numbers to find Detective Travis' number. He called Travis and whispered into the phone. "Travis, this is Parker Angelo. I/m at the hunting lodge and my son Jason is here with his mother. I'm concerned about her safety and I'm wondering where you and your men are. You should have been here by now."

Meggie heard Detective Travis' response to her father but ignored the profanity with which he prefaced his answer. From what she could her the detective saying to her father, evidently, the bridge over the road leading to the hunting lodge had collapsed, and the police caravan was stuck a couple of miles away. Travis had called in to the county police helicopters and they should be landing momentarily. 

Meggie could hear Travis berating her father for being there at the hunting lodge. She could just imagine what he'd say if he knew she was here also.

Travis told Parker to stay out of the way and to find some place safe to hide from any gunfire. Meggie went cold when she heard those words. Then any further conversation was drowned out by the loud thrump-thrump of the approaching helicopters.

Parker led Meggie further into the bedroom and headed her toward a walk-in closet. "Stay here," he told her. "I think you'll be safe here."

He started to close the door with himself on the other side when Meggie grabbed his arm and pulled him inside the closet with her. With the door shut, it was pitch black inside the closet. Parker switched on the flashlight and shone it directly in Meggie's face. "What's the idea?" he hissed. "I have to go out there and make sure your mother is all right."

"No, Dad," Meggie whispered. "Mother can handle Jason. She's the only one who can. If you go out there, he'll go into a rage and who knows what will happen then. Stay here and let the police handle things."
Inside the closet, they could still hear the sound of the helicopters approaching. Then all was silent, and they assumed the helicopters had landed and the pilots had shut down the engines. 

All of a sudden a cacophony of sound erupted – screaming voices filled the air. Inside the closet, Parker put his arm around Meggie and squeezed. They heard the shouting of police officers and then the slamming of doors.
"What do you think is happening?" Meggie whispered in her father's ear.

"I don't know but it sounds like someone ran out of the house," came Parker 's whispered response. He reached out and noiselessly opened the closet door, then tentatively stepped out into the bedroom.

The house was utterly silent. Pulling Meggie behind him, Parker walked out of the bedroom and down the hall. Still there were no sounds except the soft patter of their footfalls.

Stepping inside the great room, Parker looked around and saw nothing. He edged his way over to the wall of windows that stretched across one side of the room. Out in the clearing in the front of the hunting lodge, he saw two helicopters with police markings. Two uniformed officers stood guard over th helicopters but that was all that Parker saw. 

Off in the distance, Parker spotted a group of strategic-response-garbed men heading in the direction of the bluffs overlooking the Mississippi River.
Realizing that the two uniformed policeman guarding the helicopters would prevent them from following the action, Parker whispered, "Let's go out the side door and ease ourselves to the bluffs through the woods.

"Dad, do you really think that's a good idea? It could be dangerous. Those men have guns."

"We'll stay out of the way. Besides, I need to make sure nothing happens to your mother."

Meggie realized that she and her father were not concerned about Jason's safety, just Victoria's. What a sad commentary on their feelings for Jason,

Following her father, Meggie felt a sting of tears in her eyes when she thought about Jason before his accident. He and Nick had been identical bundles of boy. She'd loved her two younger brothers and had spent hours and days entertaining them and being entertained by them. After Jason's accident, she'd been unable to understand what was wrong with him. Her mother had cut off all contact for Jason with the rest of the family. It had been as if there were two separate families. Eventually, they'd all accepted the chasm that lay between the two families and managed to get on with their separate lives.
A part of Meggie still mourned the loss of that sweet, innocent little boy. But the other part knew that something had gone dreadfully wrong with him, and he needed to be stopped. 

As she and Parker hurried through the woods, Meggie tripped over a tree root and almost tumbled to the ground. Only Parker's quick thinking and strong arms kept her from a nasty spill. 

"Thank you, Daddy," she said, no longer feeling the need to whisper. "I hope you're always there to catch me, no matter what."

"Happy to be of service, my lady," Parker said, stepping up his pace. "We're almost there. In a minute we'll be right at the edge of woods, just next to the bluffs. We should be able to see what's going on there."
Parker and Meggie stood at the edge of the woods, still hidden from view by the cedar trees. 100 yards or so off in the distance, at the bluffs overlooking the river, stood Jason and Victoria,. They were ebaged in a violent argument, seemingly oblivious to the group of  strategic-response-garbed men heading their direction.
They were too far away to hear any of the argument, but from Victoria's body language, Parker could tell that she was pleading with Jason. He started to walk out into the clearing but Meggie grabbed his arm to stop him.
"Dad, please don't go out there. You don’t know if Jason has a gun or anything. And we certainly do know those policemen have guns. I don't want anything to happen to you."

"Meggie, I can't just stand here watching. I have to do something." With that, Parker broke away from Meggie's grasp and quickly walked toward his wife and son.
At first, neither Jason nor Victoria noticed Parker's approach. Then when he was just a few yards away from where they stood at the edge of the bluffs, Victoria caught sight of her husband.

"Parker, what on earth are you doing here?" she shouted at him.

Parker shouted back, "Don’t you see the SWAT team back there? They're here to take Jason into custody."

At his words, Jason and Victoria both turned to look at the SWAT team headed their way.

"Oh my God!" Victoria exclaimed. "Jason, you have to get out of here. They'll hurt you."

Jason turned toward the edge of the bluff, and Victoria followed closely behind, shouting, "Where are you going? You're going to fall if you're not careful."

As Jason knelt down to edge his way over the side of the cliffs, Victoria reached out to grab him. But she moved too quickly and fell into him.

To Meggie's and Parker's shock, Jason and Victoria tumbled together over the side of the cliff, their screams reverberating around them.

Meggie ran over to where Parker stood, leaning over the edge of the cliff, looking down into the Mississippi. She reached out a head to her father. He took her hand and squeezed it, then wrapped his arms around her.
"Oh, Daddy, I'm so sorry." Meggie could hear her father crying, and she patted him on the arm, trying to comfort him but knowing it was useless. 
The SWAT team had gone to the edge of the cliff to look down into the river. One of the men, the team leader probably, Meggie thought, came over to where she and Parker stood.

The policeman cleared his throat, then said, "Sir? Could you tell me who you are and what just happened?"

Parker quickly took out a handkerchief to wipe his eyes and blow his nose before turning to answer the young man.

Parker surprised the man by reaching out a hand for a handshake. Disconcerted, the policeman took Parker's hand and shook it firmly. "My name is Parker Angelo, and this is my daughter Meggie. The two people who just went over the side of the cliff were my wife Victoria and my son Jason."
The policeman cleared his throat again and said, "I'm sorry for your loss, sir."
They stood there in silence, as the SWAT team members swirled around them. It seemed that all of them were leaning in one area or another over the side of the cliff to see what happened.

Meggie heard a shout behind them and turned around to see who it was. Detective Travis and the other County detectives had finally arrived. 

Then, coming behind him, to her surprise, she saw Nick running to where she and their father  stood. He must have gone with Kate to the hospital, then come back out here.

"What happened?" Nick said, breathless from his run.

Meggie reached out a hand and said, "Mother and Jason were here at the edge of the cliff and somehow they both fell over."

"Are they all right?" Nick asked and then shook his head. "That was stupid of me. Of course, they're not all right. It's a hundred foot drop."

Detective Travis came over to where the three of them stood, and said to Parker, "Mr. Angelo, t\he SWAT team leader told me what happened. I'm sorry for your loss."

Meggie stood back while the detective and her father discussed what had just happened. She went over to the edge of the cliff, careful to not get too close. There was no sign of her mother or Jason down there. She'd overheard one of the SWAT men saying that divers were on their way to retrieve the bodies. She hated thinking of her mother and brother as "the bodies."
After a few minutes, her father and Nick came over to where she stood. The three of them were silent for awhile, then Parker said, "Well, children, let's go visit Kate and make sure she's all right."

With that, the three of them walked off, arm in arm, toward the hunting lodge.

Epilogue 

Jenny and Parker

Two weeks later

When Parker called, asking her if she would meet him for a cup of coffee, Jenny had hesitated, not knowing what that meant or what she wanted it to mean. She'd finally agreed to meet him at the coffee shop near her condo.
She'd seen Parker at the hospital during Kate's convalescence and then at the closed casket, double funeral for Victoria and Jason Angelo. It had been a private funeral, family only. Following a brief service, both bodies had been cremated, with the remains being deposited in the mausoleum at the cemetery where the Angelo family had always been buried. Meggie and Parker had decided against traditional graves.

Now, at the coffee shop, Jenny looked around for a good place to sit. She was few minutes early and assumed that Parker wasn't there yet. But she saw him at one end of the room was a couch surround by several chairs and end tables. The law enforcement folks were nowhere to be seen and Jenny and Parker had the room all to themselves.

Jenny turned toward Parker and said, "Let's go sit down over there." She pointed toward the sofa area.

"Good idea," Parker agreed. "I'll get us some coffee and Danish from the food table and meet you there."

Jenny sat down on the couch and watched as Parker got the coffee and Danish. Tears began to stream down her cheeks, and she quickly dug in her handbag for a handkerchief or tissue. But she wasn't quick enough. 

Parker saw the tears and quickly set the coffee and Danish down on one of the end tables then said in a concerned voice, "Jenny, everything will be okay. They'll find Kate safe and sound and she'll be back safe with us very soon."

Jenny began to sob in earnest. Parker sat down on the couch and tentatively put his hand on Jenny's arm. "Please don't cry," he said in a low voice. "Let me know what I can do. I can't bear to see you like this."

His words only made Jenny cry harder. She buried her face in her hands, trying to hide her tears from the other people in the room. 

Parker put his arm around Jenny's shoulders and she leaned in to him, still crying but not sobbing. They sat there for a few minutes, and finally, Jenny's tears ended. She bent over to pick up her handbag, pulling out a handkerchief an her make-up bag. 

Parker chuckled, and leaned back to watch Jenny make repairs to her face. "I can tell that you're better," he said with a wide smile.

Jenny blushed but continued to apply powder, lipstick, eyeliner and mascara. She took a deep breath, then picked up one of the cups of coffee and took a long drink. "There," she said, with satisfaction. "I'm better. But Parker, I'm so sorry for my tears. Please forgive me."

Parker reached out and took her hand in both of his, then said softly so, "Jenny, there's no need for any of that. And if anyone should be asking for forgiveness, it should be me. Can you ever forgive me for my stupidity all those years ago? Jenny, I've loved you almost from the first day I met you. But I allowed my religion to keep me from you. I thought I was being a good Catholic for staying with my wife. But inside I've messed up my life, and Victoria's also. And I know I've caused harm to you."

Jenny began to cry again, and this time she buried her face in Parker's shoulder. He once again encircled her with his arm and pulled her toward him.

After a few minutes, Jenny once again sat up and did the face repair thing again.

She smiled at Parker and said, "I've wanted you to say those words for years. I've loved you from the beginning also. Walking away from you was the hardest thing I've ever done. But I knew you couldn't leaver your wife, and I knew that I couldn't have an affair with you. But now, I don't care. I'll do anything you want. I don’t want to spend another minute of my life without you."

Parker kissed her, glad that there still wasn't anyone else in the room. But he knew he would have kissed Jenny anyway and wouldn't have cared what they might think. Jenny kissed him back, eyes closed and heart pounding.

They sat there, arms entwined for a few minutes, then Parker stood up and reached out a hand to Jenny. "Let's go outside and take a walk around the park across from the hospital.

Jenny smiled up at Parker and nodded her head, smiling as she said, "You're still a walker aren't you?"

He looked at her quizzically, not understanding her comment.

She explained. "When I worked for you, way back when, you always walked around when you wanted to do some thinking or talk to someone about something. I could always tell when you were troubled because you'd either be pacing up and down the halls of the executive suite or out on the floor of the factory or even out on the tarmac where the planes were."

"Hmm," Parker said thoughtfully. "I never knew that about myself. I guess you know me pretty well, little lady."

Jenny stood up and took Parker's proffered arm. "Yes, I do. And I'm ready to go for that walk."

A few minutes later, they were crossing the road in front of the hospital and entering what was called a "pocket park." Perhaps three acres in size, pocket parks had trees, benches, sometimes a fountain, sometimes a playground. Pocket parks were scattered throughout the area and provided a small oasis in a crowded urban area or even in suburban areas.

They walked in silence for several minutes, holding hands and smiling at each other. At one end of the park, near the playground, Parker pointed out a bench and suggested they sit for awhile.

"All right, my dear Jenny, here's what I'm going to do. As soon as we have Kate back where she belongs, I'll tell Victoria that I'm filing for divorce. She'll put up a fuss because that's what she does but eventually she'll be fine with it. Our marriage ended a long time ago, right after Jason's near-drowning. In fact, we were never particularly compatible. I t was one of those marriages that looked like a good idea from the outside. But inside the marriage, we had little in common. We had different interests and goals and couldn't find a way to get along. Then when Jason almost drowned, she abandoned any attempt to make the marriage work. She concentrated all her time and effort and energy and love on Jason, pretty much deserted me, Nick and Meggie."

Jenny reached out a hand to Parker and he took it and kissed it. "I didn't know all that," Jenny said. "I knew from Kate that there was a rift in the family but she never went into the nitty-gritty details. She's very discreet and thoughtful that way." Talking about Kate brought tears to Jenny's eyes again, and she quickly dabbed them away, saying, "Sorry about the waterworks. This is so not like me."

Jenny's mother had been a New Age / New thought minister and Jenny had grown believing in an alternative religion. She'd never been able to understand the Catholic religion or Parker's obsession with his marriage vows. She'd fretted for years over something that had made no sense to her.

But to each his own, she now thought.

The End

